
  

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Monday, 28 October 2019 at 6.30 p.m., Room C1, 1st Floor, Town Hall, 
Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG 

 

This meeting is open to the public to attend.  

Members:   
Chair: Councillor James King  
Vice Chair: Councillor Sufia Alam Scrutiny Lead for Children & Education 
  
Councillor Kahar Chowdhury Scrutiny Lead for Health & Adults 

Councillor Dipa Das Scrutiny Lead for Housing & Regeneration 

Councillor Marc Francis  

Councillor Tarik Khan Scrutiny Lead for Resources & Finance 

Councillor Eve McQuillan Bethnal Green Ward 

Councillor Bex White Scrutiny Lead for Community Safety & 
Environment 

Councillor Andrew Wood  

  
Co-opted Members:   
  
  
Deputies:  
Councillor Peter Golds, Councillor Zenith Rahman, Councillor Mohammed Pappu and Councillor 
John Pierce 
 

[The quorum for this body is 3 voting Members] 
 

Contact for further enquiries: 
David Knight, Democratic Services 
1st Floor, Town Hall, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, 
London, E14 2BG 
Tel: 020 7364 4878 
E-mail: david.knight@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
Web: http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee 

Scan this code for 
the electronic 
agenda: 

 
 

Page 1



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Public Information 

Attendance at meetings. 
The public are welcome to attend meetings of the Committee. However seating is limited and 
offered on a first come first served basis.  
 
Audio/Visual recording of meetings. 
Should you wish to film the meeting, please contact the Committee Officer shown on the 
agenda front page. 

 
Mobile telephones 
Please switch your mobile telephone on to silent mode whilst in the meeting.  

 
Access information for the Town Hall, Mulberry Place.      

 
Bus: Routes: D3, D6, D7, D8, 15, 108, and115 all stop 
near the Town Hall.  
Docklands Light Railway: Nearest stations are East 
India: Head across the bridge and then through 
complex to the Town Hall, Mulberry Place  
Blackwall station. Across the bus station then turn 
right to the back of the Town Hall complex, through 
the gates and archway to the Town Hall.  
Tube: The closest tube stations are Canning Town 
and Canary Wharf  
Car Parking: There is limited visitor pay and display 
parking at the Town Hall (free from 6pm) 

If you are viewing this on line:(http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/content_pages/contact_us.aspx)  

Meeting access/special requirements.  
The Town Hall is accessible to people with special needs. There are accessible toilets, lifts to 
venues. Disabled parking bays and an induction loop system for people with hearing difficulties 
are available.  Documents can be made available in large print, Braille or audio version. For 
further information, contact the Officer shown on the front of the agenda  

     
Fire alarm 
If the fire alarm sounds please leave the building immediately by the nearest available fire exit 
without deviating to collect belongings. Fire wardens will direct you to the exits and to the fire 
assembly point. If you are unable to use the stairs, a member of staff will direct you to a safe 
area. The meeting will reconvene if it is safe to do so, otherwise it will stand adjourned. 

Electronic agendas reports and minutes. 
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be 
found on our website from day of publication.   
 
To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for 
the relevant committee and meeting date. 
Agendas are available at the Town Hall, Libraries, Idea Centres and One 
Stop Shops and on the Mod.Gov, iPad and Android apps.   

 
QR code for 
smart phone 
users. 

Page 2



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

SECTION ONE WARD PAGE 
NUMBER(S) 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     

 To receive any apologies for absence.   

 

2. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTEREST  

 7 - 10 

 To note any declarations of interest made by Members, 
including those restricting Members from voting on the 
questions detailed in Section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act, 1992.  See attached note from the Monitoring 
Officer. 

  

3. UNRESTRICTED MINUTES    

 To confirm as a correct record of the proceedings the 
unrestricted minutes of the following meetings of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

  

3 .1 Monday, 23rd September, 2019     

 The Committee is asked to confirm the unrestricted 
minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on September 23rd 2019 as a correct 
record – To follow. 

  

3 .2 Tuesday 1st October, 2019     

 The Committee is asked to confirm the unrestricted 
minutes of the extraordinary meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held on October 1st 2019 as a correct 
record – To follow 

  

4. REQUESTS TO SUBMIT PETITIONS    

 To receive any petitions (to be notified at the meeting).   

5. FORTHCOMING DECISIONS  All Wards 11 - 42 

 To note the current Forthcoming Decisions Plan (or 
'Forward Plan'). 
 
 

  

Page 3



 
 
 
 
 
 

6. UNRESTRICTED MATTERS FOR 
CONSIDERATION  

  

6 .1 Strengthening our Consultation Process - Presentation   All Wards  

 A copy of the presentation will be provided prior to the 
meeting. 

  

6 .2 Transport Strategy and Parking Services  - 
Presentation   

All Wards  

 A copy of the presentation will be provided prior to the 
meeting. 

  

6 .3 Gambling policy post consultation   All Wards 43 - 198 

 As a Licensing Authority the Council must review the 
existing Gambling Policy and adopt a new policy in 
November 2019, as one of the responsibilities it has to 
regulate ‘high street’ premises under the Gambling Act 
2005. The purpose of the policy is to define how the 
responsibilities under the Act are going to be exercised 
and administered.  
 
The Act requires licensing authorities to aim to permit the 
use of premises for gambling in so far as it is in 
accordance with the regulatory framework (any codes of 
practice and Gambling Commission guidance) This means 
that the council can only refuse gambling that is not in 
accordance with the codes of practice and guidance and 
cannot for example ban gambling or specific forms of 
gambling.  
 
Subject to agreement the Policy will be presented to Full 
Council for adoption under the provisions set out by the 
Council’s Constitution. 

  

7. PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF UNRESTRICTED 
CABINET PAPERS  

  

 To consider and agree pre-decision scrutiny 
questions/comments to be presented to Cabinet.  
 
 (Time allocated – 30 minutes). 

  

8. VERBAL UPDATES FROM SCRUTINY LEADS    

 To receive verbal updates from each of the Scrutiny Leads. 
 
(Time allocated per update – 5 minutes) 

  

Page 4



 
 
 
 
 
 

9. ANY OTHER UNRESTRICTED BUSINESS 
WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS TO BE 
URGENT  

  

 To consider any other unrestricted business that the Chair 
considers to be urgent. 

  

 

10. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC     

 In view of the contents of the remaining items on the 
agenda the Committee is recommended to adopt the 
following motion: 
 

“That, under the provisions of Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, the press 
and public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting 
for the consideration of the Section Two business on the 
grounds that it contains information defined as Exempt in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act, 
1972.” 
 

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL SECTION (Pink Papers) 
 

The exempt committee papers in the agenda will contain 
information, which is commercially, legally or personally 
sensitive and should not be divulged to third parties.  If you 
do not wish to retain these papers after the meeting, please 
hand them to the Committee Officer present. 

  

 

SECTION TWO   

11. EXEMPT/ CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES    

 Nil items   

12. EXEMPT/ CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS 'CALLED 
IN'  

  

 Nil items   

13. PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF EXEMPT/ 
CONFIDENTIAL) CABINET PAPERS  

  

 To consider and agree pre-decision scrutiny 
questions/comments to be presented to Cabinet. 
  
(Time allocated 15 minutes). 

  

Page 5



 
 
 
 
 
 

14. ANY OTHER EXEMPT/ CONFIDENTIAL 
BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR CONSIDERS 
URGENT  

  

 To consider any other exempt/ confidential business that 
the Chair considers to be urgent. 

  

 
 

Next Meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Monday, 25 November 2019 at 6.30 p.m. to be held in Room C1, 1st Floor, Town Hall, 
Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG 

 

Page 6



DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE MONITORING OFFICER 
 

This note is for guidance only.  For further details please consult the Members’ Code of Conduct 
at Part 5.1 of the Council’s Constitution.    
 
Please note that the question of whether a Member has an interest in any matter, and whether or 
not that interest is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, is for that Member to decide.  Advice is 
available from officers as listed below but they cannot make the decision for the Member.  If in 
doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to attending a meeting.   
 
Interests and Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) 
 
You have an interest in any business of the authority where that business relates to or is likely to 
affect any of the persons, bodies or matters listed in section 4.1 (a) of the Code of Conduct; and 
might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or financial position of yourself, a 
member of your family or a person with whom you have a close association, to a greater extent 
than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward affected. 
 
You must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any such interest, for inclusion in the Register 
of Members’ Interests which is available for public inspection and on the Council’s Website. 
 
Once you have recorded an interest in the Register, you are not then required to declare that 
interest at each meeting where the business is discussed, unless the interest is a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI). 
 
A DPI is defined in Regulations as a pecuniary interest of any of the descriptions listed at 
Appendix A overleaf.  Please note that a Member’s DPIs include his/her own relevant interests 
and also those of his/her spouse or civil partner; or a person with whom the Member is living as 
husband and wife; or a person with whom the Member is living as if they were civil partners; if the 
Member is aware that that other person has the interest.    
 
Effect of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest on participation at meetings 
 
Where you have a DPI in any business of the Council you must, unless you have obtained a 
dispensation from the authority's Monitoring Officer following consideration by the Dispensations 
Sub-Committee of the Standards Advisory Committee:- 

- not seek to improperly influence a decision about that business; and 
- not exercise executive functions in relation to that business. 

 
If you are present at a meeting where that business is discussed, you must:- 

- Disclose to the meeting  the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting 
or when the interest becomes apparent, if later; and  

- Leave the room (including any public viewing area) for the duration of consideration and 
decision on the item and not seek to influence the debate or decision  

 
When declaring a DPI, Members should specify the nature of the interest and the agenda item to 
which the interest relates.  This procedure is designed to assist the public’s understanding of the 
meeting and to enable a full record to be made in the minutes of the meeting.   
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



Where you have a DPI in any business of the authority which is not included in the Member’s 
register of interests and you attend a meeting of the authority at which the business is 
considered, in addition to disclosing the interest to that meeting, you must also within 28 days 
notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest for inclusion in the Register.  
 
Further advice 
 
For further advice please contact:- 
 
Asmat Hussain, Corporate Director, Governance and Monitoring Officer. Tel 020 7364 4800 
 

Page 8



APPENDIX A:  Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
 
(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule) 
 

Subject Prescribed description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
for profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by the 
Member in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the 
election expenses of the Member. 

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 
body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority— 

(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works 
are to be executed; and 

(b) which has not been fully discharged. 
 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority. 
 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)— 

(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 

(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest. 
 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 

(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and 

(b) either— 
 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 
 

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the 
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth 
of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

1 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

THE FORWARD PLAN 
 
 

Published: 1 October 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

The Forward Plan is published 28 days before each Cabinet meeting.     
 

In addition, new issues and changes to existing issues will be published on the website as soon 
as they are known. 

 
The web pages also contain past Forward Plans and publication deadlines for future Plans. To 
visit the web pages go to http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1. 

 

 
Contact 
Officer: 
Email: 
Telephone: 
Fax No: 

 
Matthew Mannion 
Democratic Services 
matthew.mannion@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
020 7364 4651 
020 7364 3232 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5

http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:matthew.mannion@towerhamlets.gov.uk


Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 
2 
 

Tower Hamlets Council  
Forthcoming Decisions Plan 

 
What is this document? 
The Forthcoming Decisions Plan (or ‘Forward Plan’) contains information on significant 
decisions that the Council expects to take over the next few months.  
 
As a minimum this will include notice of: 

 All Key Decisions to be taken by the Mayor, Cabinet or Cabinet Sub-Committees 
o This could include decisions taken at public meetings or taken individually at 

other times. 

 Budget and Policy Framework Decisions (for example the Budget Report itself and 
major policies to be agreed by Council as set out in the Constitution) 

 
 
Key Decisions 
The Council is required to publish notice of all key decisions at least 28 days before they are 
taken by the Executive or Commissioners. Key decisions are all those decisions which involve 
major spending, or savings, or which have a significant impact on the local community. The 
precise definition of a key decision adopted by Tower Hamlets is contained in Article 13.03 of 
the Constitution.  Key Decisions can be taken by the Mayor outside of meetings, the Mayor in 
Cabinet or by a Cabinet Sub-Committee. 
 
Publication of Forthcoming Decisions 
Individual notices of new Key Decisions will be published on the website as they are known on 
the ‘Forthcoming Decisions’ page, whilst this ‘Forward Plan’ collating these decisions will be 
published regularly, as a minimum at least, 28 days before each Cabinet meeting. The Plan will 
be published on the Council’s website and will also be available to view at the Town Hall and 
Libraries, Ideas Centres and One Stop Shops if required. 
 
Urgency 
If, due to reasons of urgency, a Key Decision has to be taken where 28 days’ notice have not 
been given. Notice will be published (on the website) as early as possible and Urgency 
Procedures as set out in the Constitution have to be followed. 
 
Make your views known 
The most effective way for the public to make their views known about a Forthcoming 
Decisions is to contact the lead officer, or Cabinet Member (where stated), listed. You can also 
view the Council’s Consultation Calendar, which lists all the issues on which the Council and its 
partners are consulting. 
 
Information about the Decision Makers 
Further information on the Mayor and Members of the Cabinet can be found on the Council 
website.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12

http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=663&Year=0&info=1&MD=Constitution
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/council_and_democracy/consultations/consultations.aspx
http://moderngov.towerhamlets.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=320


Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 
3 
 

Notice of Intention to Conduct Business in Private 
The Council is also required to give at least 28 days’ notice if it wishes to consider any of the 
reports on the agenda of an Executive meeting (such as Cabinet) in private session. The last 
row of each item below will indicate any proposal to consider that item in private session. 
Should you wish to make any representations in relation to item being considered in private 
please contact Democratic Services on the contact details listed on the front page. 
 
The notice may reference a paragraph of Section 12A of the 1972 Local Government Act. In 
summary those paragraphs refer to the following types of exempt information (more 
information is available in the Constitution): 
 
1. Information relating to any individual  
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority 

handling the information)  
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in 

connection with any labour relations matters arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and 
employees of, or office holders under, the authority. 

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal 
proceedings.  

6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes:- 
a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a 

person; or 
b) to make an order or direction under any enactment.  

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or 
prosecution of crime.  

 
 
Contact Details for this Plan 

 
Contact 
Officer: 
Email: 
Telephone: 
Fax No: 

Matthew Mannion 
Democratic Services 
matthew.mannion@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
020 7364 4651 
020 7364 3232 

Page 13

mailto:matthew.mannion@towerhamlets.gov.uk


Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 
4 
 

Contents: 
 

Decision Title Due Date Page No. 

Aldgate Business Improvement District 25/09/19 7 

Capital Schemes and exception records seeking adoption 
into the current capital programme 

25/09/19 8 

Contracts Forward Plan 2019/20 – Quarter three 18/12/19 26 

Contracts Forward Plan 2019/20 – Quarter two 25/09/19 9 

Disposal of Land at Mantus Road E1 Not before 27/03/19 5 

*Draft Scrutiny Report - Improving health, environmental 
quality, economic and social outcomes through Housing 
Open Spaces 

27/11/19 22 

Gambling Policy 2019- 2022 13/11/19 21 

*Hostels Commissioning Plan (HCP) 2019-2022 
Contracting Arrangements 

27/11/19 23 

*Integrated Information and Advice Service 30/10/19 11 

*Liveable Streets programme report 30/10/19 13 

*Local Community Fund 30/10/19 13 

*Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2018-
19 

30/10/19 14 

*Physical Activity & Sport Strategy 18/12/19 27 

*Planning for School Places 2019/20 Review and 
Recommendations 

30/10/19 15 

Quarterly Performance & Improvement Monitoring – Q1 
2019/20.. 

25/09/19 10 

Quarterly Performance & Improvement Monitoring – Q2 
2019/20 

27/11/19 24 

Refresh of Tower Hamlets Substance Misuse Strategy 
2019-2025 

27/11/19 24 

Report on the outcome of the public consultation on the 
closure of Raine’s School and the expansion of Oaklands 
School 

30/10/19 16 

Response to Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s 
recommendations on Safety, Aspiration and Inclusion 
(2019 Trilogy Report) 

30/10/19 17 

Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Q2 2019-20 27/11/19 25 

*Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018-19 30/10/19 18 

Section 75 Partnership Agreement for the provision of 
Mental Health and Learning Disabilities Services in Tower 
Hamlets 

25/09/19 10 

Tower Hamlets Annual Equality Report 2019 30/10/19 19 

*Tower Hamlets Brexit Preparations Update 30/10/19 19 

*Tower Hamlets Education Partnership Financial 
Statements and Annual Review 2018-19 

30/10/19 20 

Tower Hamlets Transport Strategy 2019-2041 18/12/19 28 

Urgent  Structural Works-Brewster House and Malting 
House 

26/06/19 5 

 
* New Issues published since the last Forward Plan 

Page 14



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 
5 
 

 

Title of Report 
 

Disposal of Land at Mantus 
Road E1 
 

Ward 
Bethnal Green 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision Cabinet members are asked to approve the disposal of the land at Mantus Road 
to Tower Hamlets Community Housing. Receive 6 housing units from THCH in 
exchange for the land at Mantus Road. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
Not before 27/03/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

A borough that our residents are proud of and love to live in 

Cabinet Member Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Air Quality 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

Planning consultation is over several weeks 
 
The project is part if the Councils initiative to establish a pipeline development 
programme including estate regeneration scheme and infill sites. The pipe line 
programme is to be established in consultation with the Mayor and Cabinet and 
the programme has been discussed with Cabinet members. 
THCH has obtained planning permission and would have undertaken 
consultation as part of that process. 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

No 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Jane Abraham, Ralph Million 
(Housing Project Manager)  jane.abraham@towerhamlets.gov.uk, (Senior 
Strategic Asset Manager, Place) 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

N/A 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

Partly Exempt  (Part of the report will be exempt) 
The appendices as will contain commercially sensitive information 

Title of Report 
 

Urgent  Structural Works-
Brewster House and Malting 
House 
 

Ward 
Limehouse 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision This report recommends allocating resources and awarding a contract to 
undertake works needed to address the structural integrity at Brewster House 
and Malting House, two Large Panel System blocks.  
 
The Government advised further checks of the structural integrity of these 

Page 15



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 
6 
 

buildings in 2018. As a result, consulting structural engineers Wilde Carter Clack 
conducted a comprehensive structural investigation and concluded that the 
blocks required intrusive structural strengthening. Therefore, the Mayor is 
recommended to:  
 
1. Agree to the allocation of capital resources to fund the works and the services 
associated with delivering the works.  
 
2. Agree to the award of the works contract via the Council’s Better 
Neighbourhoods Framework. 
 
3. Agree to formally consult leaseholders and to recharge them for their portion 
of the cost of the works.  
 
4. Agree options for recharging leaseholders for the cost of any temporary 
rehousing of dwelling occupants, their furniture and belongings, and for the 
reinstatement of the same upon the completion of the works. 
 
5. Agree to officers exploring the possible voluntary buy back of leasehold 
properties in the two blocks.  
 
6. Agree to the introduction of two additional borough wide payment options for 
leaseholders. 
 
This matter was considered by the Mayor in Cabinet on 26 June 2019, where 
some aspects of the decision were deferred as explained in the decision notice 
http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=102046. 
 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
26/06/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

A borough that our residents are proud of and love to live in 

Cabinet Member Statutory Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Housing 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

Residents have been kept informed via; monthly newsletters and issue of FAQs, 
weekly TRA drop in meetings, a public drop in event and access to the on-site 
Project Team  
 
Cabinet Lead member 
Corporate Finance 
Legal Services 
 
There will be further consultation meetings held and for leaseholders the 
statutory S20 consultation process will be undertaken. 
 
One-to-one meetings 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

No 

Page 16

http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=102046


Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 
7 
 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Mark Baigent 
(Interim Divisional Director, Housing and Regeneration)  
mark.baigent@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

Available 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

Partly Exempt  (Part of the report will be exempt) 
One or more of the appendices to the report may be exempt as they are 
expected to  contain sensitive commercial/financial information 

Title of Report 
 

Aldgate Business Improvement 
District 
 

Ward 
Spitalfields & 
Banglatown; 
Whitechapel 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision The Aldgate Partnership (TAP) submitted a request to Tower Hamlets Council, 
in accordance with Business Improvement District (BID) Regulations, to hold a 
ballot in January 2020 to establish a BID. Should the ballot for this BID be 
successful it will be the first BID in Tower Hamlets. 
A Business Improvement District is a defined area in which a levy is charged on 
all business rate payers over a certain rateable value in addition to the business 
rates bill. The levy is used to develop projects which will benefit businesses in 
the BID boundary area over and above existing Council Services. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
25/09/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

All Priorities 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Work and Economic Growth 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

Consultees are internal teams including: Electoral services, Business Rates, 
Public Realm as the projects will be based around waste and maintenance of 
the Highway 

 
In 2018 TAP undertook a perception survey of businesses in the proposed BID 
boundary to identify priorities and propose projects 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

No 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Vicky Clark 
(Divisional Director for Growth and Economic Development)  
vicky.clark@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting Aldgate BID Business plan 

Page 17



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 
8 
 

documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

List of hereditaments and BID map area 
Business perception survey  
 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Title of Report 
 

Capital Schemes and exception 
records seeking adoption into 
the current capital programme 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision Outputs from separate housing and non-housing reviews have led to a 
coordinated approach to capital programme delivery in support of the Council’s 
strategic priorities and new Capital Programme Governance Arrangements. 
 
This report seeks approval for schemes having advanced through the Capital 
Strategy Board for adoption into the Capital Programme and to proceed through 
CABINET for formal approval to proceed to procurement ahead of the scheduled 
quarterly monitoring process in order to maintain pace of delivery as instructed 
by the Mayor. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
25/09/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

All Priorities 

Cabinet Member Mayor 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

See above 
 
Targeted consultation has been or will be undertaken in accordance with 
information approved in Project Initiation Documents (PIDs) See above. 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

Initial EIAs form part of the PID approval process 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Alan McCarthy 
(Asset Strategy Capital Delivery & Property Services)  
alan.mccarthy@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

None 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Page 18



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 
9 
 

Title of Report 
 

Contracts Forward Plan 2019/20 
– Quarter two 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision This report presents the contracts being procured during quarter 2. The report 
also sets out the Contracts Forward Plan at Appendix 1 to the report. 
The report asks for confirmation that all contracts can proceed to contract award 
after tender. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
25/09/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

All Priorities 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Resources and the Voluntary Sector 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

Necessary consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the council’s 
policies and procedures. 
 
Where required, consultation with service users and stakeholders will be 
undertaken as part of the project and budget approval process 

 
Necessary consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the council’s 
policies and procedures. 
 
Where required, consultation with service users and stakeholders will be 
undertaken as part of the project and budget approval process 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

No 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Kevin Bartle 
(Divisional Director of Finance, Procurement and Audit)  
Kevin.Bartle@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

Report and appendices include details of all contracts to be awarded. 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 
 
 
 
 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Page 19



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

10 
 

Title of Report 
 

Quarterly Performance & 
Improvement Monitoring – Q1 
2019/20.. 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
No 

Summary of Decision This report provides the Mayor in Cabinet with an update on the delivery and 
implementation of the council’s Strategic Plan. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
25/09/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

All Priorities 

Cabinet Member Mayor 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

  
 
None – this is a performance and delivery update 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

No 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Sharon Godman 
(Divisional Director, Strategy, Policy and Performance)  
sharon.godman@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

None 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Title of Report 
 

Section 75 Partnership 
Agreement for the provision of 
Mental Health and Learning 
Disabilities Services in Tower 
Hamlets 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision There are long standing arrangements for the delivery of integrated Mental 
Health and Learning Disabilities Services by the Council and the East London 
(NHS) Foundation Trust within Tower Hamlets.  
 
In line with good practice, the report proposes the arrangements are formalised 
through a Section 75 Partnership Agreement (National Health Service Act 
2006). This details the respective responsibilities of both organisations and the 

Page 20



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

11 
 

current funding they are committing to discharging these functions.  

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
25/09/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

People are aspirational, independent and have equal access to 
opportunities 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and Wellbeing 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

The recent work has been on developing the schedules and consulting on the 
content. These are on:  
• Workforce  
• Delegated functions  
• KPIs – (cross cutting and existing high priorities 
• Governance – (information, incidents, complaints; shared responsibilities 
including safeguarding)  
• Budgets / Finance  
• Estates & IT  

 
The Agreement formalises the current arrangements and is no proposing any 
significant changes.  
 
It has been developed over an 18 period and consultation has been extensive 
but also included in ongoing work to strengthen integrated working which is 
supported by Tower Hamlets Together  

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

NA 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Claudia Brown 
(Divisional Director of Adults Social Care)  Claudia.Brown@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

Draft S75 Partnership Agreement 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
NA 

Title of Report 
 

Integrated Information and 
Advice Service 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision This report recommends a model and commissioning approach to join up 
services across health and social care in order to provide an integrated 
information, advice and advocacy offer that is accessible for all residents at the 
right time. 

Page 21



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

12 
 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
30/10/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

A borough that our residents are proud of and love to live in 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and Wellbeing 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

General public and service users. 
Existing service providers. 
Third sector / charities. 
Internal teams / stakeholders. 
Public Health 
Clinical Commissioning Group 

 
2.1 In February, the division commissioned an appraisal of the sector. The 
research was based on multiple rounds of engagement with service users, 
providers, council officers and existing published research. The research 
collected data from over 200 residents regarding needs, current experiences 
and preferences of access to information and advice. 
 
2.2 The research included interviews with service providers, an online service 
user survey, semi-structured service user interviews, focus groups with 
providers and service users, and service user surveys carried out by peer 
researchers at a range of locations including leisure centres, schools, housing 
estates, Idea Stores and at various community centres. 
 
2.3 In addition, the commissioning team held a series of co-production 
workshops with service providers and service users to help develop a future 
model. 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

A full EIA will be carried out between Sep and October 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Warwick Tomsett 
Joint Director, Integrated Commissioning  
warwick.tomsett@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

Social Finance research findings report. 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 
 
 
 

No, Unrestricted 
NA 

Page 22



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

13 
 

Title of Report 
 

Liveable Streets programme 
report 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision This item sets out the vision and objectives of the Liveable Streets programme.  
 
The improvements in these areas will make fundamental changes to the 
infrastructure on the street as well as the travel behaviour of residents, 
businesses and visitors to Tower Hamlets. This item seeks to inform the cabinet 
of the Liveable Streets programme, the area it covers and the governance 
procedure that has been put in place 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
30/10/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

All Priorities 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Environment 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

None 
 
None 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

N/A 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Dan Jones 
(Divisional Director, Public Realm)  dan.jones@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

None 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Title of Report 
 

Local Community Fund 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
No 

Summary of Decision This report describes the actions taken in relation to mitigating the negative 
impact identified in the Equality Analysis of the voluntary and community sector 
(VCS) funding programme, the Local Community Fund agreed at Cabinet on 
31st July 2019, including the extension of mainstream grants (MSG) funding to a 
number of services from 1 October 2019 to 31 March 2020 and establishing new 
themes for the council’s small grants programme. 
 
The report also provides details of the other MSG transitional arrangements 

Page 23



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

14 
 

agreed in principle at Cabinet on 31st July 2019. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
30/10/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

A borough that our residents are proud of and love to live in 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Resources and the Voluntary Sector, Mayor 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

All Directorates and the VCS. 
 
The LCF programme has been co-produced with the VCS. This is summarised 
in the main report . 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

This report sets out the actions taken relating to the Equality Analysis of the 
report to cabinet on 31st July 2019, ‘Local Community Fund’ . 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

David Freeman, Sharon Godman 
(Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) Strategy Manager)  
david.freeman@towerhamlets.gov.uk, (Divisional Director, Strategy, Policy and 
Performance)  sharon.godman@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

None 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Title of Report 
 

Local Safeguarding Children 
Board Annual Report 2018-19 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
No 

Summary of Decision The annual report outlines key safeguarding performance information and 
achievements of the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board partnership over the 
period 2018-2019. 
 
We are statutorily required to publish an annual report every year. 
 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
30/10/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

People are aspirational, independent and have equal access to 
opportunities 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Children, Schools and Young People 
 

Page 24



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

15 
 

 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

Independent LSCB Chair 
LSCB Executive Board Members (LA, Met Police, TH CCG) have been 
consulted 
 
Independent LSCB Chair 
LSCB Executive Board Members (LA, Met Police, TH CCG) have been 
consulted 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

NA 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Layla Richards 
(Service Manager, Policy Programmes and Community Insight)  
layla.richards@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

NA 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
NA 

Title of Report 
 

Planning for School Places 
2019/20 Review and 
Recommendations 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision This report is the annual review of planning for school places. It explains the 
current position, projected demand, and proposals to increase and reorganise 
school provision to ensure the right provision is in the right place at the right 
time. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
30/10/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

TH Plan 1: A better deal for children and young people: aspiration, 
education and skills 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Children, Schools and Young People 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

See above 
 
A number of public pre-consultations for individual schools (or groups of 
schools) for proposed changes to school organisation, will be undertaken during 
the early Autumn of 2019 and prior to decisions being taken on whether the LA 
decides to issue statutory public notices (formal consultations) on school 
organisation changes.  

Page 25



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

16 
 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

Yes – Specifically in relation to school organisation changes 
 
These will be completed during December 2019. 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Christine McInnes 
(Divisional Director, Education and Partnership, Children's)  
christine.mcinnes@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

tbc 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
NA 

Title of Report 
 

Report on the outcome of the 
public consultation on the 
closure of Raine’s School and 
the expansion of Oaklands 
School 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision This report informs the council of the outcome of the public consultation and 
recommends for cabinet to consider whether to issue a statutory notice and 
proposals to close Raine’s Foundation School and expand Oaklands School. 
The report includes an analysis of all responses to the public consultation; 
options for the decision making process; and consideration of the financial 
implications 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
30/10/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

TH Plan 1: A better deal for children and young people: aspiration, 
education and skills 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Children, Schools and Young People 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

The following stakeholders have been invited to respond to the pre-publication 
consultation: 
Parents and carers, students, Trustees, Church of England and Roman Catholic 
Diocese, Head Teachers, school staff, school governors, community groups, 
neighbouring Local Authorities, the National Education Union, local Members of 
Parliament. 

 
A public pre-publication consultation was held between 10th June and 31st July 
2019. The consultation deadline was extended from 24th July to 31st of July as 
a result of changes to the consultation document and following legal advice. If a 
decision to publish a statutory notice and proposal is taken by Cabinet there is a 
statutory requirement for a further four week period of representation. This 

Page 26



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

17 
 

would run from 4th November to 2nd December 2019. During this statutory 
consultation period all interested stakeholders will have the chance to send 
objections or comments to the Council. 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

No. This will only be required if the decision is taken by Cabinet to issue a 
statutory notice and proposals to close Raines Foundation School and expand 
Oaklands School. 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Terry Bryan, Christine McInnes 
(Head of Pupil Services and School Sufficiency)  
terry.bryan@towerhamlets.gov.uk, (Divisional Director, Education and 
Partnership, Children's)  christine.mcinnes@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

• Draft Statutory Notice 
• Public consultation paper, further information and response form 
• Summary report on alternative options to the closure of Raine’s School 
• Copies of all responses to the public consultation  
• Notes from the public meetings on the consultation proposals 
• Analysis of the consultation responses 
• LA Pupil Projections 2018-2028 
• Summary analysis on the current financial position of Raine’s School 
 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Title of Report 
 

Response to Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee’s 
recommendations on Safety, 
Aspiration and Inclusion (2019 
Trilogy Report) 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision To respond to Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s recommendations on 
community safety, educational aspiration, and employment aspiration. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
30/10/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

People are aspirational, independent and have equal access to 
opportunities 

Cabinet Member Mayor 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

As above 
 
Internal discussion across three Directorates: 
1. HAC 
2. C&C 
3. Place 

Has an Equality Impact No - existing services 

Page 27



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

18 
 

Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Sharon Godman 
(Divisional Director, Strategy, Policy and Performance)  
sharon.godman@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

OSC Report: Safety, Aspiration and Inclusion 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Title of Report 
 

Safeguarding Adults Board 
Annual Report 2018-19 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
No 

Summary of Decision The annual report outlines the achievements of the Safeguarding Adults Board, 
its subgroups and partner agencies over the period 2018 to 2019. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
30/10/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

A borough that our residents are proud of and love to live in 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and Wellbeing 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

Members of the Board mentioned above 

 
The Safeguarding Adults Board and the Health, Adults and Communities 
Directorate Management Team have reviewed and agreed this report. The 
report will also be presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

NA 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Denise Radley 
(Corporate Director, Health, Adults & Community)  
denise.radley@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

NA 

Page 28



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

19 
 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
NA 

Title of Report 
 

Tower Hamlets Annual Equality 
Report 2019 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
No 

Summary of Decision This item will provide an update to Cabinet on the work the council and its 
partners have undertaken to address inequality in the Tower Hamlets which 
supports its meeting of the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) as set out within 
the Equality Act 2010. It will also set out the future plan to further reduce 
inequality in the borough. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
30/10/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

A borough that our residents are proud of and love to live in 

Cabinet Member Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Planning, Air Quality and Tackling 
Poverty 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

None 
 
None 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

N/A 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Sharon Godman 
(Divisional Director, Strategy, Policy and Performance)  
sharon.godman@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

N/A 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Title of Report 
 

Tower Hamlets Brexit 
Preparations Update 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
No 

Summary of Decision This report will set out key activities the Council has delivered on preparing for 
Brexit and on-going risk management and planning to mitigate any impact on 
the Council and local residents 

Page 29



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

20 
 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
30/10/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

All Priorities 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Culture, Arts and Brexit 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

None 
 
Consutlation undertaken with range of stakeholders as part of Brexit 
Commission 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

No 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Sharon Godman 
(Divisional Director, Strategy, Policy and Performance)  
sharon.godman@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

Brexit Commission Report 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Title of Report 
 

Tower Hamlets Education 
Partnership Financial 
Statements and Annual Review 
2018-19 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
No 

Summary of Decision This report provides the Council, as the supervising authority for Tower Hamlets 
Education Partnership (THEP), with THEP’s audited accounts, in the form of the 
THEP Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ending 31 March 
2019, and with the annual report to THEP members, in the form of the THEP 
Annual Review 2018-19. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
30/10/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

TH Plan 1: A better deal for children and young people: aspiration, 
education and skills 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Children, Schools and Young People 
 
 

Who will be consulted NA 

Page 30



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

21 
 

before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

 
NA 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

NA 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Christine McInnes 
(Divisional Director, Education and Partnership, Children's)  
christine.mcinnes@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

THEP Annual Report and Financial Statements for year ending 31 March 2019 
THEP Annual Review 2018-19 
 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
NA 

Title of Report 
 

Gambling Policy 2019- 2022 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision The Council to agree and adopt the statutory Gambling Policy 2019 -2022 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Council 
13/11/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

All Priorities 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Environment 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

Businesses, Residents, Partners, Council departments – as detailed in the 
report 
 
Consultation on the Policy has taken place with businesses and other key 
stakeholders. Relevant considerations have been taken into account. 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

Yes, Included in the report. 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Dan Jones, David Tolley 
(Divisional Director, Public Realm)  dan.jones@towerhamlets.gov.uk, (Head of 
Environmental Health and Trading Standards)  
david.tolley@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 

All documents are included in the report. 

Page 31



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

22 
 

available? 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Title of Report 
 

Draft Scrutiny Report - 
Improving health, 
environmental quality, 
economic and social outcomes 
through Housing Open Spaces 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision This report submits the report and recommendations of the Housing Open 
Spaces scrutiny review, and the action plan for implementation. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
27/11/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

All Priorities 

Cabinet Member Statutory Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Housing 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

None – all relevant stakeholders have already been consulted / engaged. 
 
The joint scrutiny panel during the evidence collection process engaged with a 
number of key stakeholders (residents, registered providers, and voluntary and 
community organisations. 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

N/A 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Mark Baigent, Abidah Kamali 
(Interim Divisional Director, Housing and Regeneration)  
mark.baigent@towerhamlets.gov.uk, Policy Officer Housing  
Abidah.Kamali@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

Appendix 1 – Housing open spaces scrutiny review report 
Appendix A – Housing open spaces action plan 
 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 
 
 
 
 
 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Page 32



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

23 
 

Title of Report 
 

Hostels Commissioning Plan 
(HCP) 2019-2022 Contracting 
Arrangements 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision Future contractual arrangements for the provision of support for residents of four 
hostels in the borough who: 
• have been rough sleeping or are otherwise homeless; 
• often have complex support needs including mental health and substance 
misuse;  
• often become physically frail at a much younger age than the general 
population, necessitating increasing levels of care and support over time. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
27/11/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

TH Plan 3: Strong, resilient and safe communities 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and Wellbeing 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

Service Users; 
Key internal stakeholders across Social Care, Housing and Community Safety 
Services; 
Support providers; 
NHS partners 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with a range of key stakeholders. An external 
independent review of provision has been commissioned and completed to 
inform planning of future service delivery models 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

A QA checklist has been completed, which confirms that the proposals have due 
regard to any equalities impacts for the population cohort concerned. 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Warwick Tomsett 
Joint Director, Integrated Commissioning  
warwick.tomsett@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

Hostels Commissioning Plan 2019-2022 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 
 
 
 

No, Unrestricted 
NA 

Page 33



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

24 
 

Title of Report 
 

Quarterly Performance & 
Improvement Monitoring – Q2 
2019/20 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
No 

Summary of Decision This report provides the Mayor in Cabinet with an update on the delivery and 
implementation of the council’s Strategic Plan 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
27/11/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

A borough that our residents are proud of and love to live in 

Cabinet Member Mayor 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

Not Applicable 
 
None - this is a performance and delivery update 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

No 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Thorsten Dreyer, Sharon Godman, Juanita Haynes 
(Head of Intelligence and Performance)  thorsten.dreyer@towerhamlets.gov.uk, 
(Divisional Director, Strategy, Policy and Performance)  
sharon.godman@towerhamlets.gov.uk, (Senior Research Officer, Strategy & 
Performance)  juanita.haynes@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

None 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Title of Report 
 

Refresh of Tower Hamlets 
Substance Misuse Strategy 
2019-2025 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision Tower Hamlets 2016-2019 Substance Misuse Strategy expired in March 2019. A 
refreshed high level, resident facing strategy will enable us to articulate our local 
approach to tackling substance misuse, considering any recent local and 
national developments.  
 
The strategy itself will be supported by annual delivery plans. 

Page 34



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

25 
 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
27/11/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

People are aspirational, independent and have equal access to 
opportunities 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and Wellbeing, Deputy Mayor and Cabinet 
Member for Community Safety and Equalities 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

Consultation is currently underway with key stakeholders across: Health 
Adults and Community Services 
Children’s services  
THT 
Workpath 
Poplar Harca 
Police 
Probation 
Substance misuse service users 
Residents 

 
Semi-structured interviews with key stakeholders 
Focus Groups  
Service user forum consultation 
MAB workshop  
Ward Panels  
On line consultation 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

At this stage of the strategy refresh it is difficult to gauge the equality impacts. 
This will be kept under review and equality considerations taken into account as 
the strategy develops. 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Ann Corbett 
(Divisional Director, Community Safety)  ann.corbett@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

NA 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
NA 

Title of Report 
 

Revenue and Capital Budget 
Monitoring Q2 2019-20 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision This report details the Quarter 2 (September 2019) monitoring position against 
the approved budget for revenue and capital spend for the 2019-20 financial 
year. 
It also includes information on the council’s progress against its saving targets, 

Page 35



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

26 
 

strategies for reducing overspends and a number of general financial health 
indicators.  

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
27/11/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

All Priorities 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Resources and the Voluntary Sector 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

N/A 
 
N/A 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

N/A 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Kevin Bartle 
(Divisional Director of Finance, Procurement and Audit)  
Kevin.Bartle@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

N/A 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Title of Report 
 

Contracts Forward Plan 2019/20 
– Quarter three 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision This report presents the contracts being procured during quarter 3. The report 
also sets out the Contracts Forward Plan at Appendix 1 to the report. The report 
asks for confirmation that all contracts can proceed to contract award after 
tender. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
18/12/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

All Priorities 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Resources and the Voluntary Sector 
 
 

Page 36



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

27 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

Necessary consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the council’s 
policies and procedures. 
 
Where required, consultation with service users and stakeholders will be 
undertaken as part of the project and budget approval process.  

 
Necessary consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the council’s 
policies and procedures. 
 
Where required, consultation with service users and stakeholders will be 
undertaken as part of the project and budget approval process.  

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

No. Contact specific EQIA is expected to be completed by respective contract 
owners as part of the Directorate approval. 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Pam Cummins 
Directorate Support Manager, Resources  pam.cummins@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

Report and appendices include details of all contracts to be awarded. 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Title of Report 
 

Physical Activity & Sport 
Strategy 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision The Physical Activity & Sport Strategy aims to provide the strategic direction for 
delivery of sport & physical activity in Tower Hamlets, in alignment with 
directorate, council and partner priorities. The strategy sets out how we can 
increase levels of physical activity in the borough, make the most of the local 
environment, harness the community engagement opportunities and ensure 
children and young people develop a positive relationship with being active. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
18/12/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

A borough that our residents are proud of and love to live in 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Culture, Arts and Brexit 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

The consultation activities that took place in 2017 (as summarised above) 
involved engagement with a large number of consultees from all sectors and 
residents. 
 
Initial interviews in 2019 were conducted with: 

Page 37



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

28 
 

• John Biggs, Executive Mayor 
• Sabina Akhtar, Cabinet Member for Art, Culture & Brexit 
• Danny Hassell, Cabinet Member for Children and Young People 
• Katy Scammell, Associate Director of Public Health 
• Sandjea Green, Head of Youth Service  
• Steve Murray Head of Arts and Events  
• Rob Morton, Active Travel Officer  
• Paul Buckenham, Development Manager  
• Hanif Osmani, Poplar HARCA  
• Peter Okali, CEO THCVS  
• Keiko Okawa – Senior Strategy and Policy Manager (Place) 
 
Over 35 stakeholders took part in the online consultation during May 2019 
including representatives from a range of perspectives within the council, private 
sector and voluntary and community sector.  

 
The following consultation activities have been undertaken, or are planned:  
• Series of themed workshops (Health & Wellbeing and Sports Focused) with the 
voluntary and community sector - Oct 2017 
• Workshop with council officers – Oct 2017 
• Focus groups with REAL Disability Forum, Create Day Centre, Carers Forum, 
Inter Faith Forum, LGBT Community Forum and Caxton Hall Older People’s 
Health & Wellbeing Day - Sep & Oct 2019 
• Online survey for stakeholders from all sectors – Oct 2017 
• Initial interviews with key stakeholders – during Mar & Apr 2019 
• Workshop with Members – 10th Jul 2019 
• Inter-active online consultation with stakeholders from a wide range of sectors 
– 14th to 23rd May 2019  
• Further consultation activities are planned to seek feedback on the final draft 
strategy. – to take place in Oct & Nov 2019 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

No. The Equality Checklist (and further analysis if required) will be completed as 
part of the strategy development process. Date of completion – end of 
September 2019. 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Lisa Pottinger 
(Head of Sport & Physical Activity)  lisa.pottinger@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

Draft Physical Activity & Sport Strategy and Physical Activity & Sport Strategy 
Policy Context Appendix 

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
NA 

Title of Report 
 

Tower Hamlets Transport 
Strategy 2019-2041 
 

Ward 
All Wards 

Key Decision? 
Yes 

Summary of Decision This report presents the council’s draft Transport Strategy 2019-2041. The 
strategy sets out the council’s plan for travel in the borough over the next 20 

Page 38



Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

29 
 

years in line with the Mayor of London’s Transport Strategy 2018. It includes 
priorities to deliver a healthier, safer and more environmentally friendly transport 
system in the borough, which will improve transport options and reduce the 
impacts of traffic on the residents. 

 

Decision maker 
Date of decision 

Cabinet 
18/12/19 

Community Plan 
Theme 

A borough that our residents are proud of and love to live in 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Environment 
 
 

Who will be consulted 
before decision is made 
and how will this 
consultation take place 

Internal Transport Workshop (January 2019) 
• Engagement event for internal staff,  
• Participants came from a range of relevant departments across the council, 
including Public Health, Public Realm, Adult Social Care and Planning 
Health and Wellbeing Board (March 2019) 
Air Quality Board (March 2019) 
Growth and Economic Development Board (March 2019) 
Travel Focus Group (March 2019) 
• 3 groups, 8 participants each.  
• Participants consisted of a cross section of the public (e.g. age, gender and 
ethnicity), representing drivers, cyclist and walkers 
Transport Strategy Summit (April 2019) 
• 72 participants from external organisations including residents 
 
Following the Transport Summit, the council received further input into the draft 
strategy from a range of groups, including Real (working with people with a 
disability in the borough), East London Business Alliance and Toynbee Hall 
(working with older people).  
 
On-line public consultation (July - August 2019) 
 
The engagement activities held from January till May 2019 were all face to face 
(e.g. meetings and workshops).  
 
Public consultation held in July/August will be on-line. Roadshow will be held 
across the borough to publicise the consultation and a draft strategy. 

Has an Equality Impact 
Assessment been 
carried out and if so the 
result of this 
Assessment? 

An Equality Analysis will be developed after the public consultation held in July 
and August 2019. 

Contact details for 
comments or additional 
information 

Dan Jones, Mehmet Mazhar 
(Divisional Director, Public Realm)  dan.jones@towerhamlets.gov.uk, (Business 
Manager, Highways & Traffic Management)  
mehmet.mazhar@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

What supporting 
documents or other 
information will be 
available? 

Strategic Plan 2018-2021;  
http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/documents/s130890/6.1b%20TH%20Stra
tegic%20Plan%2007-18.pdf  
Strategic Plan 2019-2022 
 

Page 39

http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/documents/s130890/6.1b%20TH%20Strategic%20Plan%2007-18.pdf
http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/documents/s130890/6.1b%20TH%20Strategic%20Plan%2007-18.pdf


Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

30 
 

Strategic Plan 2019-2022 
 
Mayor of London Transport Strategy 2018 
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors-transport-strategy-2018.pdf  

Is there an intention to 
consider this report in 
private session and if so 
why? 

No, Unrestricted 
 

Page 40

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors-transport-strategy-2018.pdf


Forward Plan October 2019  

 
 

31 
 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet 

 
 

30th October 2019 

 
Report of: Ann Sutcliffe, Corporate Director Place  

Classification: 
[Unrestricted or Exempt] 

Gambling Policy  2019 - 2022 

 
Proposed Decision Path (indicate) – Delete Section Before Publication: 

 Step [Delete as applicable] Date 

DLT Level (Tier One) DLT / CD  2/9/19 

CLT Level (Tier Two) CLT / CE 10/9/19 

Member Level (Tier Three) MAB / 121 9/10/19 

Decision (Tier Four) Cabinet / IMD 30/10/19 

Proposed Decision Path (indicate) – Delete Section Before Publication: 
 
 
 

Lead Member Councillor David Edgar, Cabinet Member for 
Environment 

Originating Officer(s) David Tolley, Head of Environmental Health and 
Trading Standards 

Wards affected All wards  

Key Decision? Yes   

Forward Plan Notice 
Published 

[Insert date notice was published] 

Reason for Key Decision Impact on Wards 

Strategic Plan Priority / 
Outcome 

A Borough that our residents are proud of and love to 
live in. 

 

Executive Summary 

 
As a Licensing Authority the Council must review the existing Gambling Policy and 
adopt a new policy in November 2019, as one of the responsibilities it has to 
regulate ‘high street’ premises under the Gambling Act 2005. The purpose of the 
policy is to define how the responsibilities under the Act are going to be exercised 
and administered.  
 
The Act requires licensing authorities to aim to permit the use of premises for 
gambling in so far as it is in accordance with the regulatory framework (any codes of 
practice and Gambling Commission guidance) This means that the council can only 
refuse gambling that is not in accordance with the codes of practice and guidance 
and cannot for example ban gambling or specific forms of gambling.  
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6.3



Subject to agreement the Policy will be presented to Full Council for adoption under 
the provisions set out by the Council’s Constitution 
 

 
THIS SECTION TO BE DELETED BEFORE PUBLICATION 
 
Decision Type 

Key 
Decision? 

 Urgent 
Decision? 

 Exempt from 
Call-In? 

 Restricted Report or 
Partially Restricted (e.g. 
appendix)? 

Yes/No  Yes/No?*  Yes/No?*  Yes/No?* 

 
*If the answer is yes make sure the forthcoming decision on the website states this 
or else the decision cannot be taken. 
 
Guidance Documents 
Further details on the procedure for Urgent Decisions can be found in the Intranet 
Library and the Guide to Report Writing guidance note. 
 
Specific Issues for Pre-Decision Meetings 
(Officers may use the following table to add points of note for internal meetings such 
as CLT, MAB or DMTs. Content can be deleted at any stage and, in any case, will be 
before publication for the decision making meeting.) 
 

Directorate Leadership Team 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Corporate Leadership Team 

 
 
 
 
 

Mayor’s Advisory Board 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Communications 

 
 
 

Page 44

http://edemoc2ksrv:8070/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=FP3%20-%20Executive%20Decisions%20Urgency%20Procedures&ID=4604&RPID=2147812&sch=doc&cat=13011&path=13011
http://edemoc2ksrv:8070/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=FP3%20-%20Executive%20Decisions%20Urgency%20Procedures&ID=4604&RPID=2147812&sch=doc&cat=13011&path=13011
http://edemoc2ksrv:8070/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD4687&ID=4687&RPID=2147819&sch=doc&cat=13048&path=13048


 
 
 

 
THIS SECTION TO BE DELETED BEFORE PUBLICATION 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
The Mayor in Cabinet is recommended to:  
 

1. To recommend to Full Council the adoption of the revised Gambling Policy 
 

 
1 REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 All relevant local authorities are required under the Gambling Act to review 

their gambling policy. 
 
1.2 The purpose of the policy is to define how the responsibilities under the Act 

are going to be exercised and administered. 
 
1.3 A statutory consultation process must take place prior to the adoption of the 

revised Gambling Policy by Full Council. 
 
 
2 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
2.1 Pursuant to the Gambling Act 2005, the Council is a responsible authority for 

the licensing of premises used for gambling. If the Council did not have a 
policy it would be acting ultra vires with regards to any decisions it makes 
determining gambling premises licences.  

 
2.2 The Gambling Commission has laid down guidance which the Council must 

have regards to in carrying out their functions under the Act, including setting 
their Gambling Policy.  Departure from the guidance without good reason 
could leave the council at risk of judicial challenge. The Gambling 
Commission guidance has been followed in drafting the revised Gambling 
Policy. The policy focuses on the elements covered by the licensing 
objectives. 

 
 
3 DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 
3.1 The Gambling Act 2005 gives local authorities a range of responsibilities 

relating to gambling. The Gambling Policy states how the Licensing Authority 
will exercise this responsibility and authority.  

 
3.2 This policy covers the following: 
 

Page 45



 How the Licensing Authority will use its regulatory powers in relation to 
applications and reviews of the activities it regulates, to the extent it is 
allowed by statute.  

 The main licensing objective for the authority is protecting the vulnerable. 

 The Licensing Authority approach to regulation 

 The scheme of delegation 
 
3.3 The Gambling Policy complies with guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission. 
 

3.4 Members should note that some of the major issues and concerns about 
gambling are not addressed in the policy or by the approach of the 
consultation. For example, gambling addiction is outside the remit of the 
consultation, as are arguments about the public benefits, or otherwise, of a 
more liberal gambling regime. 

 
3.5 The responsibilities the Council has under the Gambling Act 2005 have not 

been controversial. To date, 80 licences have been issued.  These have 
primarily been to betting shops and adult amusement arcades. These 
businesses are nearly all national companies that have conducted their 
business within the legal requirements. The number of premises in a 
particular area is not a ground for objection.  

 
3.6 The Council does not have the powers within its Gambling Policy to regulate 

on-line gambling sites. All gambling websites trading with, or advertising to, 
consumers in Britain must have a Gambling Commission licence issued by 
the Gambling Commission. 

 
3.7  Betting shops were removed from their previous A2 use class and made a ‘sui 

generis’ use. As such planning permission is now required to change the use 
from any other use to a betting shop. This has meant that there is slightly 
more control under planning legislation to control the growth of Betting Shops. 

 
3.8 Planning powers cannot control existing betting shops if they have already 

opened up under a permitted change of use (i.e. before the recent changes to 
the use class order moving betting shops from A2 to ‘sui generis’), however 
any further change of use applications for a betting shop would be subject to a 
planning application. As part of the determination of the application, issues 
such as the number of betting shops in the surrounding area could be a 
consideration if the area was becoming saturated with betting shops. 

 
3.9 There have been several concerns raised though London Councils 

concerning the fixed odds betting terminals (FOBT’s) that have been installed 
within betting shops. These B2 gambling machines play games of chance 
such as roulette. With a betting shop licence, the operator can install up to 
four machines, which have a maximum stake of £100 and a maximum prize of 
£500. London Councils along with others have successfully lobbied 
Government to reduce the maximum £100 stake on B2 machines to £2 which 
will assist with the prevention of the clustering of betting shops due to the 
profitability of such gambling machines. The reduction in the maximum stake 

Page 46



to £2 commences in April 2019. Tower Hamlets was a signatory to this 
campaign. 

 
3.10 We have not experienced the same volume of applications in gambling as we 

have in other areas of licensing. There has been one application since 2014, 
this was for a Paddy Power Shop in Roman Road. This application was 
objected to by the community, but after consideration by the Licensing Sub 
Committee and legal advice the licence was issued.   

 
3.11 The issues of betting shop clustering and concern over fixed odd betting 

terminals (FOBT) have shown that gambling generates extremely strong 
feelings. Whilst licensing authorities do not have the powers to refuse new 
applications or limit FOBT machines, the requirement for operators to prepare 
local risk assessments in relation to their premises from April 2016 means that 
licensing authorities need to set out their expectations within their statements 
of Gambling Policy. 

 
3.12 The only controversial applications have been where betting shops have 

applied to open in close proximity to schools or places of worship. The powers 
the Council have are limited and it is not possible to make either policy or 
decisions regarding this issue under the Gambling Policy. 

 
 
3.13 The consultation period took place from the 4th April to the 27th June 2019 and 

was publicised on line with letters being sent to the organisations detailed in 
Appendix One. 

 
3.14 The changes made to the Gambling Policy are detailed within Appendix Two 

and have been made subject to regulatory change and updates from the 
Gambling Commission guidance. The changes covered the following areas: 

 
•  Updates in relation to the Councils functions 
• Further details on responsibilities with regards to child protection, 

interested parties, exchange of information and inspection/enforcement 
procedures 

• Further explanation and detail on the licensing objectives that need to be 
maintained  

• Additional consideration of the type of gaming premises – Betting Shops, 
Adult Gaming centres, Family Entertainment Centres, etc. 

• Updated requirements for business risk assessments and profile in 
relation to gaming 

• Additional information on Hearings and reviews  
 
 
3.15 During the consultation process a number of representations were made, 

these are detailed in Appendix Three. We have reviewed the comments made 
therein and have made changes to the original consulted document in 
relation: 

 

 Location and Local Risk assessments (Public Health) 

Page 47



 Additional details on voluntary exclusion schemes to protect children and 
vulnerable adults (GamCare) 

 Sharing of local area risk assessments – to be in consultation with the 
Operators and the Gambling Commission (William Hill and Paddy Power) 

 
 
3.16 It is proposed that the current ‘no casino’ resolution that is currently in the 

existing policy remains.  
 
3.17 The revised Gambling Policy that is due to take effect from December 2019 is 

detailed within Appendix Four. 
 
3.18 An Equalities checklist has been undertaken as is at Appendix Five. 
 
3.19 Five of the UK’s biggest bookmakers – Bet 365, Flutter, GVC, Sky Betting and 

Gaming, and William Hill – have pledged to spend 1% of gross gambling 
yields on promoting safer gambling. Once fully scaled up, the pledge will see 
around £60m a year spent on preventing problem gambling, including around 
£6m a year for UK charity Gamble Aware. The announcement comes after the 
Gambling Commission revealed it had fined gaming companies nearly £20m 
last year for failing to protect the UK’s 460,000 problem gamblers. 
Conservative peer Lord Chadlington, who champions safer gambling, said it 
was important that the programmes that receive funding are evaluated 
“independent of the contributing companies and the gambling industry as a 
whole. 

 
3.20 The Licensing Committee have reviewed the Policy and have raised concerns 

about the local area profiles not identifying vulnerable groups. This will be 
considered during the review of the profiles. 

 
4 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The Equalities Impact Assessment has been reviewed in respect of this policy 

and no adverse issues have been identified. 
 
5 OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 This section of the report is used to highlight further specific statutory 

implications that are either not covered in the main body of the report or are 
required to be highlighted to ensure decision makers give them proper 
consideration.  

 
5.2 Best Value: The Gambling policy details the regulatory approach to gambling 

establishments with the Borough. The fees imposed for the licence are set by 
government and have been adopted by the Licensing Committee. The fees 
cover the cost of regulating and administrating the Gambling Policy. 

 
5.3 Crime Reduction: One of the key licensing objectives is to prevent gambling 

from being a source of crime and disorder. The policy supports and assists 
with crime and disorder reduction by controlling those who are able to offer 

Page 48



gambling to members of the public and imposing conditions on relevant 
premises licences. 

 
5.4 Safeguarding: A statutory licensing objective of the Gambling Policy concerns 

the protection of children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling. The Policy details how regulation through licensing 
promotes this objective. 

 
5.5 Risk Management: There are no risk management issues with the revised 

policy or the consultation process. 
 
5.6 Environmental and consultation implications: There are no negative 

environmental impacts with regard to this policy or the consultation process 
 
6 COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 There are no financial implications emanating from this report which updates 

the Council’s policy on issuing gambling licenses.  The Council generates a 
small income stream from issuing licenses which covers the cost of 
inspections.  This forms part of the existing licensing revenue budget and is 
not impacted on by this report. 

 
7 COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1 Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 (‘the Act’) requires the Council to 

prepare a statement of the principles that it proposes to apply in exercising its 
functions under the Act and to determine and then publish this statement. This 
statement is more commonly known as a ‘Gambling Policy’ . The legal 
requirement is for the preparation of the statement of principles to be 
undertaken every 3 years. The current statement of policy was published on 
5th December 2016, and therefore any revised statement should be adopted 
before 5 December 2019  

 
 
7.2    The Council has undertaken the statutory consultation as provided by section 

349(3) of the Act as referred to in paragraph 3.13 of the report Appendix 3 to 
the report states the responses received in respect of the consultation, which 
have been taken into account when updating the report.  

 
7.3     The Gambling Act 2005 (Licensing Authority Policy Statement) (England and 

Wales) Regulations 2006 states that a minimum of 4 weeks is required 
between publication and the statement coming into effect. 

 
7.5      Pursuant to the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 

Regulations 2000 the adoption of the Gambling Policy is a Council function.   
This is reflected in the Constitution, under which it is a policy framework 
document, and must follow the procedure set out in the Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules  prior to adoption by Council. This requires pre-
decision scrutiny by the Overview & Scrutiny Committee and recommendation 

Page 49



to Council by Cabinet. If Council wishes to change the recommendation, then 
the matter is referred back to Cabinet and in due course back to Council. 

 
7.6 In carrying out its functions, the Council must have due regard to the need to 

eliminate unlawful conduct under the Equality Act 2010, the need to advance 
equality of opportunity and the need to foster good relations between persons 
who share a protected characteristic and those who do not (the public sector 
equality duty). An equality analysis quality assurance checklist has been 
completed which specifically considers the licensing objectives in relation to 
protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.    

 
 

____________________________________ 
 
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

NONE  
 
Appendices 

 Appendix One: List of Consultees 

 Appendix Two: Statement of Gambling Policy review – Proposed 
Changes 2019-2022  

 Appendix Three: Responses to the Gambling Policy Consultation 2019 

 Appendix Four: Gambling Policy 2019-2022 

 Appendix Five: Equalities Impact Checklist 
 
Background Documents – Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)(Access 
to Information)(England) Regulations 2012 

 
NONE  

 
Officer contact details for documents: 
 
N/A 
 
 

Page 50



Appendix 1 
 

List of consultees:  

Authorities/Bodies 

  The Gambling Commission  

 Metropolitan Police Service 

 HMRC 

 The London Fire Brigade 

 Mayor’s office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) 

 The Institute of Licensing (IoL) 

 Adult Care Service, London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

 Council of Mosques 

 NSPCC 

 Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group (THCCG), NHS 

 The Young Mayor, London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

 Planning and Building Control Service, London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

 Maritime and Coastguard Agency (MCGA) 

 The Environment Agency 

 The Canal and River Trust 

 Health and Safety, Environmental Health and Trading Standards Service 

 Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Trading Standards Service 

 Public Health Service, London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

 Child Protection, London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

 Environmental Health, Environmental Health and Trading Standards 
Service 

 Community Safety, London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

 

Gambling Operators/Businesses: 

 Carousel Amusements 

 Merkur Cashino 

 Gala Coral Group 

 Joe Jennings 

 William Hill 

 Paddy Power 

Page 51



 Roar Betting 

 Tote Betting 

 Two Way Media 

 
Gambling Support Services 

 

 GamCare 

 Responsible Gambling Trust 

 
Businesses 

 

 All Gambling Premises Licence Holders (Gambling Act 2005) in the Borough 

 All Premises Licence Holders (Licensing Act 2005) that are permitted to 
sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the premises. 

 Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL) 

 
Licensing Committee Members 
 

 Councillor Zenith Rahman 

 Councillor Dan Tomlinson 

 Councillor Ehtasham Haque 

 Councillor Eve McQuillan 

 Councillor Faroque Mahfuz Ahmed 

 Councillor Leema Omar Qureshi 

 Councillor Puru Miah 

 Councillor Sabina Akhtar 

 Councillor Shad Uddin Chowdhury 

 Councillor Shah Suhel Ameen 

 Councillor Tarik Ahmed Khan 

 Councillor Victoria Ngozi Obaze 

 Councillor Mohammed Ahbab Hossain 

 Councillor Rajib Ahmed 

 Councillor Peter Golds 

 
Councillors 
 

 Members Bulletin 

 

Page 52



1 
 

Appendix Two 
 
Statement of Gambling Policy Review – Proposed Changes 2019 - 2022 
 
Please note those changes below which are highlighted are ones changed following the consultation. 
 

Section/Page Addition/Deletion Rationale 

All  Paragraph numbering to changes as per the new changes to the documents Formatting as part 
of the review and 
update. 

Page 1 Add: Front page with LBTH Logo and “Effective 5th December 2019” then “The London 
Borough of Tower Hamlets, Gambling Policy 2019 – 2022” 
 
 

Current policy has 
now front page. 

Page 3 New Contents Page  To reflect changes, 
note the numbers 
are added as if the 
deletions have been 
removed. 

Page 2 Summary to Page to page 3 before Contents page  

Page 4 After “PART A” add – Introduction, Statements, and Licensing Objectives 
 

Improve layout and 
format 

Page 4 
 

Delete paras contained from para 2 “Introductions” through to para 8 “Licensing Authority 
Functions on page 10, including the last para on this page – 8.3. 
 
Replace with the following paras/headings 
 

Improve clarity, and 
updated from 
Gambling 
Commission 
Guidance and 

P
age 53



2 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This Policy sets out the principals the London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

(Licensing Authority) will apply in exercising our function under the Gambling Act 
2005 (the 2005 Act). 

 
1.2 The term ‘Licensing Authority’ will be used in all future references to ‘the London 

Borough of Tower Hamlets’ in this Policy. 
 

1.1 This Policy replaces the previous one published on 5th December 2016 and covers 
the period from 5th December 2019 to 4th December 2022. 

 
1.2 The Licensing Authority will formally review this Policy every three years, as 

required by the 2005 Act.  However during this period we will keep it under review 
which will allow us to make any revisions we consider appropriate. 

 
1.3 This Policy is written with the view to promoting the three licensing objectives of the 

2005 Act: 
 

i. Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 

ii. Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and 
iii. Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling. 
 

1.4 As part of this licensing authority’s approach to reduce gambling-related harm we 
support the Government proposals to reduce the maximum stakes for Fixed Odds 
Betting Terminals (FOBTs) to £2 and other measures regarding allocations of 
gaming machines and social responsibility measures to minimise the risk of 

current changes in 
legislation etc. 
 
Post consultations 
add (highlighted) 
which were added 
following comments 
from GamCare and 
Public Health.  Also 
to mirror CSE 
approach take in the 
recently revised 
Statement of 
Licensing Policy. 

P
age 54



3 
 

gambling-related harm. 
 
 

Tower Hamlets Geographical Area 
 

1.5 This Policy applies to the whole of the London Borough of Tower Hamlets.  The 
borough is a single tier authority on the East side of inner London covering an area 
of approximately 19 kilometers squared.  It extends from Victoria park in the north 
down to the Isle of Dogs in the South, and extends from the A12 in the east to 
Brick Lane and the Tower of London in the west.  A map of the geographical area 
of the borough can be found in Annex 1 and this shows where Gambling premises 
licences have been issued within the borough. 

 
1.6 The Licensing Authority has consulted widely upon its policy statement before 

finalising and publishing it.  A list of the persons and organisations consulted is 
provided in Annex 2 of the Policy adopted by the Licensing Authority. We have 
consulted businesses, elected representatives, community and third sector 
organisations and responsible authorities. 

 
1.7 The 2005 Act requires that the following parties are consulted by Licensing 

Authorities: 

 

 The Chief Officer of Police 

 One or more persons who appear to the authority represent the interests of 
persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area 

 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 
persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s functions 
under the Gambling Act 2005. 

 

P
age 55



4 
 

1.8 The consultation took place between 4th April 2019 and 27th June 2019. The results 
of the consultation are summarised in Annex  3 

 
1.9 The policy has to be approved at a meeting of the Full Council published via our 

website as well as being available in the Town Hall and Idea Stores. 

 
1.10 It should be noted that this policy statement will not override the right of any person 

to make an application, make representations about an application, or apply for a 
review of a licence. Each will be considered on its own merits and according to the 
statutory requirements of the 2005 Act. 

 
1.11 We would like to encourage the highest standards within premises that hold a 

licence under the 2005 Act. To assist with this we have produced a ‘Gambling Best 
Practice Guide’ to assist both new applicants and existing operators. 

 
1.12 The list of recommended measures listed in Annex 4 is not exhaustive but gives 

an indication of some of the suitable measures and procedures that are expected 
in well managed premises. 

 
2 Policy Statement 

 
2.1 In producing this licensing policy the Licensing Authority has had regard to the 

2005 Act and the guidance and codes of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission and responses to the consultation on this policy. 
 

2.2 In accordance with our legal duty under the 2005 Act when exercising our licensing 
functions we shall aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as we 
consider it to be: 

a) in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

P
age 56



5 
 

Commission, 
b) in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission, 
c) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives 
d) in accordance with this Policy and with reference to our Local Area Profile. 

 
2.3 This means that where possible we will aim to moderate the impact of gambling on 

the Borough for example by attaching conditions to licences, rather than aiming to 
prevent it all together. Nonetheless, we retain the discretion not to grant a premises 
licence where we consider that the application is not in keeping with the matters 
listed in paragraph 2.2 above. 

 
3 Licensing Authority Functions 

 
3.1 This Licensing Authority functions under the 2005 Act is limited to the following: 

 
a) Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to 

take place by issuing Premises Licences; 

b) Issue Provisional Statements ("in principle" licences where premises are not 
yet developed); 

c) Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to undertake 
certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine 
Permits; 

d) Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs (Commercial Clubs are 
member clubs that operate on a “for profit” basis); 

e) Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at 
unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres (Premises where low level gambling 
is permitted for children); 

f) Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 

P
age 57



6 
 

2003) for the use of two or fewer gaming machines; 

g) Grant Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to 
sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the 
Licensing Act 2003, where more than two machines are required; 

h) Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds; 

i) Issue Prize Gaming Permits; 

j) Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices; 

k) Receive Occasional Use Notices; 

l) Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences 
issued (see section above on ‘information exchange); 

m) Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these 
functions; 

 
This list may be added to on the advice of the Gambling Commission. 
 

3.2 This licensing authority does not have powers to deal with any of the following as 

these fall within the remit of the Gambling Commission: 
 

a) remote gambling (Remote gambling is via the internet or interactive 
television), 

b) the National Lottery, 

c) operating licences, 

d) personal functional licences , 

e) personal management licences, 

f) gambling software, 

g) football pools, 

h) gaming machine manufacturers, 

i) gaming machine suppliers, 

j) gambling advertisements on television or other media, 

P
age 58



7 
 

k) the number of gaming machines that can be used on premises, 

l) the value of the stakes or prizes allowed on gaming machines. 
 
 

Tower Hamlets Plan 
 

3.3 This policy has also takes into consideration the Tower Hamlets Plan 2018 -23, 
which sets out the Tower Hamlets Partnership’s five year vision for the borough, 
articulating local aspirations, needs and priorities. It informs all other strategies 

and delivery plans of the partnership, including the council’s Strategic Plan. 
 

3.4 The key objective for Tower Hamlets Plan are:  

 tackling inequality by building a strong,  

 inclusive and fair borough. 
 

3.5 From this it has created four themes that it will focus on: 

 a better deal for children and young people: aspiration, education and skills 

 good jobs and employment 

 strong, resilient and safe communities 

 better health and wellbeing. 
 

To view the Tower Hamlets Plan please see the link below: 
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/community_and_living/community_plan/tower
_hamlets_plan.aspx 

 
4 Competent body for the protection of children from harm 

 
4.1 The Licensing Authority is required to designate, in writing, a body which is 

competent to advise the Licensing Authority about the protection of children from 

P
age 59

https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/community_and_living/community_plan/tower_hamlets_plan.aspx
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/community_and_living/community_plan/tower_hamlets_plan.aspx


8 
 

harm.  When making this decision we have also had regard to Part 6 of the 

Gambling Commission Guidance issued under section 25 of the 2005 Act. 
 

4.2 In making our decision we have decided the body must be: 

 
a) responsible for child protection matters for an area covering the whole of the 

licensing authority’s area (the whole of the Tower Hamlets); 

b) the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, 
rather than any particular vested interest group. 

 
4.3 The Licensing Authority is satisfied that the Local Safeguarding Children Board 

fulfils these requirements and have therefore designated Board as the competent 

body to advise on matters concerning the protection of children from harm or 
exploitation. 

 
4.4 The contact details of all the responsible authorities are found on the Council's 

website at www.towerhamlets.gov.uk 

 

5 Interested parties 

 
5.1 This essential means those parties who can make representations relating to licence 

applications, or apply for a review of an existing licence. 
 

5.2 The 2005 Act defines Interested Parties as persons who, in the opinion of the 

licensing authority: 

 
a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 

authorised activities, 

 

P
age 60

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/


9 
 

b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, 

 
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b) 

 
5.3 Licensing authorities are required to state in their policies the principles to be 

applied to determine whether a person is an interested party in relation to 5.1 
above. 

 
5.4 This Licensing Authority when determining whether a person is an interested party 

will consider each case upon its merits.  In doing so we may consider taking relevant 
factors into account such as: 
 

a) the size of the premises, and nature of the activities taking place (as a larger 
premises may be considered to affect people over a broader geographical 
area compared with smaller premises offering similar facilities). 

b) the distance of the premises from the usual residence or workplace of the 
person making the representation.  

c) the potential impact of the premises (numbers of customers, routes likely to 
taken by those visiting the premises).  

d) the circumstances of the person and nature of their interests, which may be 
relevant to the distance from the premises.  

 
5.5 The Licensing Authority will not apply a rigid rule to its decision making in regards to 

determining what constitutes an interested party, and will consider the examples of 
considerations provided in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local 
authorities.  For instance when deciding whether a person or organisation "has 
business interests" we will adopt a broad interpretation to include for example 
partnerships, charities, faith groups, and medical practices. 

 

P
age 61



10 
 

5.6 We will follow the Gambling Commission’s Guidance and regard such bodies as 

trade associations and trade unions, and residents’ and tenants’ associations as 
interested parties.  However these bodies must be able demonstrate that they 
have a member who can be classed as an interested party under the 2005 Act 

i.e. paragraph 5.2 (a) above. 

 

 
5.7 We will consider democratically elected persons such as Councillors and MP’s as 

Interested parties on the condition that they provide written evidence that such 
elected persons ‘represents’ someone who falls under the description in 

paragraph 5.2 above.  A letter from one of these persons, requesting the 
representation will be sufficient. 

 
5.8 Individuals may wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their views. If 

Councillors take on a representative role they will not be able to be part of the 

decision making process. If they are a member of the Committee they must 
withdraw from any hearing relating to the application. 

 

6 Exchange of Information 

 
6.1 Licensing Authorities are required to set out their approach to the exchange of 

information with the Gambling Commission and other persons.  As such this section 

details how this Licensing Authority’s will exchange information that has been 
collected in carrying out its duties and responsibilities under the 2005 Act. 

 
6.2 The Gambling Commission can require licensing authorities to provide specific 

information where it forms part of a register maintained under the 2005 Act, or is in 

the possession of the Licensing Authority in connection with the provision of the 
2005 Act.  As part of this exchange of information this licensing authority like all 

P
age 62



11 
 

others are required to submit a return to the Gambling Commission at the end of 

each financial year.  The information we submit as part of this return is as follows: 

 

 permits issued, 

 temporary use notices issued, 

 occasional use notices issued, 

 premises inspections conducted, 

 reasons for and outcomes of reviews. 

 
This data is is subsequently included in the Department for Communities and Local 
Government Single Data List. 

 
6.3 This policy covers the years 2019 to 2022, and we appreciate that the Gambling 

Commission within this period could change its requirements.  Therefore this 
licensing authority will provide any other information requested to the Gambling 
Commission, provided it falls within the parameters detailed in paragraph 6.1 above. 

 
6.4 The principle that this licensing authority applies when exchanging information with 

the Gambling Commission or other persons in respect of our functions under the 
2005 Act is that we will act in accordance with the provisions under this legislation 
and the provisions of the Data Protection Act1998 and any other associated 

legislation. 

 
6.5 The licensing authority will have regard to any guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission and the Information Commissioner to Local Authorities on this matter, 
as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the 
powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
6.6 The Licensing Authority may exchange information with other persons listed below 

P
age 63



12 
 

for the use of exercising our functions under the 2005 Act: 
 

a) constable or police force 
b) an enforcement officer 
c) a licensing authority 
d) HMRC 
e) the First Tier Tribunal 
f) the Secretary of State 

 
We do not currently have any protocols with these persons however if we do 
adopted an information exchange protocol with any persons it will be made 
available if requested. 

 
7 Inspection, compliance and enforcement 

 
7.1 The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority will be to 

ensure compliance with the Premises Licences and other permissions which we 
authorise, e.g. Granting Gaming Machine Permits in alcohol Licensed Premises.  

The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for the Operator and 
Personal Licences.  Concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming 

machines will not be dealt with by this licensing authority but will be notified to the 
Gambling Commission. 

 
7.2 As per the 2005 Act and Gambling Commission Guidance this section details this 

licensing authority’s principles that will apply in exercising our functions concerning 

inspection, compliance and enforcement functions, and instigating criminal 
proceedings. 

 
7.3 This Licensing Authority’s general principles of enforcement are set out in our 

P
age 64



13 
 

Enforcement Policy, which follows the principals of the Enforcement Concordat.  In 

addition we will be guided by the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local 
authorities and will have regard for the Regulators Code.  Therefore we will 
endeavour to be: 
 
a) Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary: Remedies 

should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified  and minimised; 

b) Accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to 

public scrutiny; 

c) Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly; 
d) Transparent: regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and user 

friendly; and 

 
e) Targeted: regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side 

effects 

f) Avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as possible. 

 
7.4 The licensing authority expects premises licence holders to be fully aware of, and 

keep to, the terms of their licence.  Where Licence holders fail to adhere to the terms 
of their licence we will take appropriate enforcement action to ensure compliance.  
We will pay particular attention in this respect where there are concerned that the 

licensing objective relating to children is not being met in full. 

 
7.5 This licensing authority also intends to monitor non-licensed gambling, a n d  is 

especially concerned to stop non-destination gambling by children and young 
adults.  Non destination gambling is where the destination is not primarily a 
gambling premises and is mainly visited for a different purpose. This typically (but 
not exclusively) involves gaming machines in premisesopen to the public such as 
public houses 

P
age 65



14 
 

 
7.6 This Licensing Authority will continue to keep informed of developments with the 

work from Central Government and sister organisations on the principles of Better 
Regulation Executive in its consideration of the regulatory functions.  Bearing in 
mind the principle of transparency, this licensing authority’s enforcement/compliance 

protocols/written agreements will be available upon request to the licensing service 
and on the Council’s web site. Our risk methodology will also be available upon 
request. (A charge may be made for hard copies). 

 
7.7 We recognise that bookmakers and other operators may have a number of 

premises within Tower Hamlets. In order to ensure that compliance issues are 
recognised and dealt with at the earliest possible stage, operators are requested to 

give This licensing authority a single named contact., who should be a senior 
individual, and whom we will contact first should any compliance queries or issues 

arise.  We will however, reserves the right to institute proceedings, or take other 
action as necessary and consistent with our general policies. 

 
7.8 We will base our inspections and enforcement activity on the principles of risk 

assessment, a graduated response and the targeting of problem premises. We will 
not routinely carry out full premises inspections and the frequency of inspections will 

be determined on risk-based criteria with high- risk operations receiving more 
attention than premises deemed to be of low risks.  

 
7.9 We use the templates inspection forms produced by the Leicester, Rutland and 

Leicestershire Licensing Forum and Leicestershire Local Economic Partnership. 

 
7.10 During visits/inspections the Council may request that operators / premises share:- 

 

 Local area risk assessments 

P
age 66



15 
 

 
This information will help the Council to get a clearer picture of which premises may 
be experiencing issues, meaning that the inspection and enforcement activity is 
appropriately structured, and targeted.  In some circumstances and where 
proportionate to do so the Council may also request premises share: 

 test purchasing results (subject to the terms of primary authority agreements) ; 

 incidents in premises, which managers are likely to be required to report to 
head office; 

 information about numbers of self-excluded gamblers to help it develop its 
understanding about the risk of problem gambling in its area. 

 
Such request to share such data will be in consultation with the Operators, and the 
Gambling Commission.  
 

7.11 As per Gambling Commission Guidance and Codes of Practice, Operators are 
required to share their risk assessments with licensing authority when they are 

applying for a new premises licence or applying to vary an existing premises 
licence, and at the request of this licensing authority, such as when we are 
inspecting a premises. 
 

7.12 Additionally, responsible authorities and interested parties under the 2005 Act 

may seek a review of a premises licence if they feel the premises are not properly 
upholding the licensing objectives.  

 
8 The Licensing Objectives 

 
8.1 The 2005 Act sets out three licensing objectives, and in exercising its functions 

under the 2005 Act this licensing authority must have regard to these licensing 

P
age 67



16 
 

objectives, which are: 

 
1) Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 

with crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 
2) Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; 

3) Protecting children and other vulnerable people from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling. 

 
8.2 This licensing authority expects operators to implement measures to mitigate risks 

to the licensing objectives and to consider and address measures contained in this 
section when preparing their risk assessments.  Operators should also have regard 
to our local area profile, which will identify possible existing or emerging risks 

within Tower Hamlets. 

 
8.3 The Gambling Commission’s guidance emphasises that moral objections to 

gambling, or a view that it is generally undesirable are not licensing objectives 
and cannot inform any decisions by the licensing authority.  Moreover neither 
public safety nor public nuisance are licensing objectives and so cannot be 
considered when determining applications.  These issues will largely be dealt with 

by the Council’s Environmental Health Service via other primary legislation. 

 
8.4 This licensing authority recognises that in making decisions about premises 

licences and temporary use notices it should aim to permit the use of premises for 
gambling in so far as it thinks it is:- 

 
 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission, 

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, 

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives in accordance with the 

P
age 68



17 
 

authorities statement of licensing policy. 

 
8.5 We will not consider whether the applicant is suitable to apply for a premises 

licence because the Gambling Commission would have already addressed this 
issue when granting the operator’s licence. However, if any issues arise during the 

application process or after we have granted a licence that causes us to question 
the suitability of the applicant or licence holder, we will bring this to the attention of 
the Commission.  

 
8.6 The Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice (LCCP) 

(Social Responsibility Code) require gambling premises to undertake a local risk 
assessment taking into consideration their local information. Specific information 
about localities is provided in this policy at Annex 6. 

 
8.7 The risk assessment is required to be shared with the Council where there is a 

new application and or a variation to an existing premises licence. 

 
Objective 1:  Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 

associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 
 
8.8 When considering applications we will always take the location of the premises 

into account with regard to the crime and disorder objective.  We will have 
particular regard to premises situated in areas of Tower Hamlets that represent a 

higher risk of potential vulnerability to gambling‐related harm as where indicated  
in our local area profile.  

 
8.9 When preparing their risk assessments we expect applicants to consider the 

following measures:  

 

P
age 69



18 
 

a) measures or actions to address crime and disorder issues around the design, 

layout or the look and feel of the premises. This may include steps to ‘design 
out crime’ such as changing layout, positioning of registers, CCTV, lighting and 
so on, 

b) measures to address the reoccurrence of any historical crime and disorder 
issues, 

c) changes to opening hours, where it is felt that amending them would address 
or reduce the specific concern around crime and disorder, 

d) whether the licensee should participate in any relevant council strategy that 
relates (or have aspects relating) to crime and disorder, 

e) whether training should be given to staff around crime prevention measures 

appropriate to the premises, 
f) where premises are subject to age restrictions, whether additional procedures 

or measures could be put in place to conduct age verification checks, better 
supervision of entrances/age restricted machines, or to ensure there is better 

segregation between age restricted areas of the premises,  
g) whether the premises has door supervisors or security, 
h) if the licence or variation is granted, the likelihood that the grant will result in 

violence, public disorder or problems in respect of policing. 
 

This list is not exhaustive and simply indicates the types of measures that operators 
should consider in relation to crime and disorder.  

 
Objective 2: Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

 
8.10 This licensing authority has noted that ensuring that gambling is conducted in a 

fair and open way is a matter for the Gambling Commission, as the way gambling 

products are provided are subject to the conditions of the operator licence or 
personal licences.  This will not be the case if the licensing authority becomes 

P
age 70



19 
 

involved in licensing betting track operators, or if we suspect that gambling is not 

being conducted in a fair and open way.  In both cases we will bring this to the 
attention of the Gambling Commission. 

 

Objective 3: Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling 

 
8.11 In consultation with Public Health within this Council gambling related harms could 

be defined as “the adverse impacts from gambling on the health and wellbeing of 

individuals, families, communities and societies”, as suggested by the 
Responsible Strategy Gambling Board. These harms affect resources, 

relationships and health.  The impact from them may be short-lived but can be 
durable, having enduring consequences and exacerbating existing inequalities. 
 

8.12 This Licensing Authority is will always take the location of the premises into 
account with regard to the children and vulnerable persons licensing objective 

when considering applications.  We will have particular regard to premises 
situated in areas of Tower Hamlets that represent a higher risk of potential 

vulnerability to gambling‐related harm where this is indicated in our local area 
profile.  

 
In order to explain this licensing objective clearly, we have separated it into 
Children and vulnerable people. 

 
Children  
 
8.13 Protecting children from being harmed or exploited by gambling means:  

a) preventing children from taking part in gambling and, 
b) restricting activities such as advertising, so that gambling products are not 

P
age 71



20 
 

aimed at or appear attractive to children. 
 
8.14 To ensure the above we will pay particular attention to licence applications for 

premises situated near schools or areas where there may be a high concentration 
of children or families.  We will expect applicants to have carefully considered their 
operation and any potential for exposing children and young people to gambling.  
Where the Gambling Premises requires a restriction to not admit persons under 
18 to the gambling premises or area operators should demonstrate policies and 

procedures that will prevent children and young people from entering such 
premises/area or partaking in gambling activities. 

 
8.15 When considering the operators risk assessment, we will assess the measures 

the operator has in place to mitigate the risks to this licensing objective. Following 
which we will decide whether further specific measures are required at particular 

premises such as  
a) supervision of entrances to the premises  
b) supervision of gaming machines and  
c) the separation of certain areas within the premises  

 
8.16 Where category C, B or A machines are on offer in premises to which children are 

admitted we will ensure:  
 

a) all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is 
separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is 
effective in preventing access other than through a designated entrance, 

b) the premises has appropriate signage indicating that access to that area 
where such machines are located is restricted to persons under the age of 
18  

c) only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located  

P
age 72



21 
 

d) access to the area where the machines are located is supervised  
e) the area where the machines are located is arranged so that the staff or the 

licence holder can observe it.  
 

Separate requirements apply to alcohol-licensed premises that hold a gaming 
machine permit.  These are detailed later on in this Policy. 

 
Safeguarding against Child Sexual exploitation (CSE) 
 

8.17 The Council acknowledges that CSE awareness does not just apply to children on 

licensed premises, particularly as children are not permitted to access most 
gambling premises. However applicants should be equally aware of children in the 

proximity of the premises that may be waiting for, or seeking, older persons. 
 

8.18 Applicants are encouraged to ensure that suitable management controls are in 
place to safeguard children against the risk of CSE as part of promoting this 
objective (Objective 3) but also Objective 1 above.  . Measures may include, but 
are not limited to: 

 awareness training for staff; 

 regular patrols of the premises, including external areas and the immediate 
proximity, to identify any vulnerable children; 

 close monitoring of patrons as they leave the premises; 

 recording and reporting concerns to the police. 
 

8.19 The Council expects applicants to be aware of ‘risk indicators’ of CSE which 
include, but are not limited to: 

 developing relationships between a child and an older person; 

 children in the company of a group of older persons; 

 children regularly attending premises and meeting with a number of different older 

P
age 73



22 
 

persons, particularly where older persons may be facilitating gambling for children; 

 children outside of licensed premises developing relationships with an older 
person, particularly an older person facilitating gambling for children; 

 children leaving the locality of the premises with older persons, particularly with a 
group of older persons; 

 children looking uncomfortable in the company of, or leaving with, older persons, 
particularly groups of older persons. 
 

8.20 Whilst the Council does not wish to create the impression that all contact between 

children and older persons is inappropriate, it believes that licence holders should 
be aware of the risks of CSE and should proactively manage their premises to 
minimise the risks. 

 
 
Vulnerable People  
 
8.21 This Licensing Authority does not seek to stop particular groups of adults from 

gambling or gaming in the same way that we seek to stop children. However, we 

are concerned about the potential for vulnerable people to be harmed or exploited 
by gambling.  

 
8.22 The Gambling Commission Guidance does not seek to define ‘vulnerable 

persons’ however, for regulatory purposes, it does assume that vulnerable 

persons includes the following: 
 

a) people who gamble more than they want to,  

b) people who gamble beyond their means, 
c) people who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about 

gambling due to, for example, mental health, a learning disability or substance 

P
age 74



23 
 

misuse relating to alcohol or drugs. 
 
8.23 This Licensing Authority recognises that there are many serious issues that can 

be a consequence of problem gambling, and therefore presents a greater risk of 
harm to vulnerable persons. These can include but are not limited to: 

 
a) job loss and absenteeism, 

b) poor work/study performance,  

c) stress depression and anxiety,  

d) suicide, 

e) poor health, 

f) financial hardship, debts and bankruptcy, 

g) resorting to crime/theft and imprisonment, 

h) neglect of family, 

i) impacts on others, 

j) relationship breakdown, 

k) domestic violence. 
 
8.24 Problem gambling, particularly with the young, can sometimes be an indication of 

other issues, such as anti-social behaviour problems. When we become aware of 

issues associated with problem gambling and vulnerable people, we will seek to 
work closely with the gambling premises operator, the Gambling Commission and 
other relevant services within the Council.  

 
8.25 This Licensing Authority will have regard to our local area profile and pay 

particular attention to applications for premises near venues where, for example, 
Gamblers Anonymous groups (or similar) meet, residential homes hospitals or 

other premises where vulnerable as per paragraph 15.22 above reside or visit, 
,when dealing with gambling premises applications.     In considering the above, 

P
age 75



24 
 

we will base our decision on whether the proximity of the premises to the 
vulnerable group is likely to present a risk to this licensing objective. Where we 
have relevant evidence, we may consider the likelihood of vulnerable people 
using the premises, whether they have other reason to be in the proximity or not. 
This could be, as an example, through complaints made to us or through 
representations made about an application.  

 
8.26 When determining an application and this issue is raised, we will also take into 

account the operator’s risk assessment and assess the controls that are in place 
(or will be in place) to protect vulnerable people and promote the licensing 
objectives at the premises. Depending on the circumstances, we may have 
particular regard to:  

 
a) the size of the premises, 

b) staffing levels at the premises, 

c) procedures in place to identify a vulnerable person and to stop a vulnerable 
person from gambling, 

d) the location and type of gaming machines on the premises, 

e) arrangements in place to supervise the gaming machines. 
 

8.27 This Licensing Authority encourages operators to consider participation in 
voluntary best practice or certification schemes, such as GamCare’s Safer 
Gambling Standard to assist in their promotion of the objective of Protecting 
children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling. 
 

 

Page 11 (19 
of reviewed 

Para 1.1 Add  para below: 

“ 

Improve flow and 
improve content 

P
age 76



25 
 

policy) 1 Duplication with other regulatory regimes and licensing objectives 
 

1.1 This licensing authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory / 

regulatory systems where possible, including planning. We will not consider 
whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning or building consent, 
in its consideration of it.  The 2005 Act makes it clear that a licensing authority 

must not have regard to whether or not a proposal by the applicant is likely to be 
permitted in accordance with planning or building law when considering 

applications.  However we will l i s t e n  to, and consider carefully, any concerns 
about conditions which are not able to be met by licensees due to planning 
restrictions, should such a situation arise.” 

 

Amend paras following this insertion accordingly 

  

Page 11 (19 
of reviewed) 

Para 2.1 (now para 3.1) after the words “defined in the” Add “2005”. Changed to fit new 
policy definitions. 

Page 11 
(page 20 
onwards of 
reviewed 
policy) 

 
Delete paras 2.3 through to 5.6. 
 
Then after this para on page 15 of old policy add the following paras. 
 
4 Adult Gaming Centres (AGC) 
 
4,1 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant 
to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year 
olds do not have access to the premises. 
 
Appropriate licence conditions may cover issues such as: 

These have been 
reworded and 
moved elsewhere in 
the policy to 
improve flow and 
format. 
 
 
Improve flow and 
amended to take 
account of guidance 
changes.  This also 
makes it clearer to 

P
age 77



26 
 

 
• Proof of age schemes 
• CCTV 
• Door supervisors 
• Supervision of entrances / machine areas 
• Physical separation of areas 
• Location of entry 
• Notices / signage 
• Specific opening hours 
• Self-barring schemes 
• Provision of information leaflets/ helpful numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare 
 
4.2 This list is neither mandatory nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative. 
 
4.3 An AGC premises is entitled to the following allocation of gaming machines:  
 
If the licence was granted on or after 13 July 2011:  
a) a maximum of 20% of the total number of gaming machines which are available for 
use on the premises may be category B3 or B4 (but not B3A) machines  
b) any number of Category C or D machines  
 
If the licence was granted before 13 July 2011:  
a) four category B3 or B4 (but not B3A) machines, or 20% of the total number of 
gaming machines which are available for use on the premises, whichever is the greater  
b) any number of Category C or D machines  
 
5 Licensed Family Entertainment Centres FEC 
 
5.1 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children 

applicants etc. using 
the policy and sets 
out our policy in a 
clearer way. 

P
age 78



27 
 

and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 
18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machine areas. Appropriate 
licence conditions may cover issues such as: 
• Proof of age schemes 
• CCTV 
• Door supervisors 
• Supervision of entrances / machine areas 
• Physical separation of areas 
• Location of entry 
• Notices / signage 
• Specific opening hours 
• Self-barring schemes 
• Provision of information leaflets/ helpful numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare 
• Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school children on 
the premises 
 
This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, is it merely indicative. 
 
5.2 An FEC are allowed any number of Category C or D gaming machines.  However 
where children and young persons are permitted to enter an FEC and may use category D 
machines. Persons under the age of 18 years are not permitted to use category C 
machines and it is a requirement that there must be clear segregation between the two 
types of machine, so that under-18s do not have access to them. 
 
5.3 This licensing authority will, in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s 
guidance, refer to the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to operator 
licences covering the way in which the area containing the category C. Category C 
machines give a higher payout than children are permitted to use should be delineated. 

P
age 79



28 
 

This licensing authority will also make itself aware of any mandatory or default conditions 
on these premises licences, when they have been published. 
 
 
6 Casinos 
 
6.1 Section 166 of the 2005 Act, allows licensing authorities to resolve not to issue 
casino premises licences. This licensing authority has consulted with residents and 
businesses to seek their views before deciding whether to make such a resolution. As a 
result of the consultation the council has resolved not to issue casino premises licences. 
This was decided by Full Council on 18th September 2013. 
 
7 Bingo premises 
 
7.1 Gambling Commission Guidance identifies Bingo as “equal chance gaming”, and 
has published its view on what Bingo is and how it differs from other forms of gambling.  
To aid applicants we have attached this advice note to this policy, see Annex 4.  However 
it must be stressed that this advice note from the Gambling Commission does not alter the 
meaning of Bingo as described in the 2005 Act.  It merely seeks to offers the advice to 
help bingo operators avoid creating and offering products that the Gambling Commission 
considers to be casino games, lotteries or fixed odds betting. 
 
7.2 A bingo premises licence allows the primary activity of bingo and the following 
allocation of gaming machines 
 
If the licence was granted on or after 13 July 2011: 
a) a maximum of 20% of the total number of gaming machines which are available for 
use on the premises may be category B3 or B4 (but not B3A) machines 
b) any number of Category C or D machines 
 

P
age 80



29 
 

If the licence was granted before 13 July 2011: 
a) eight category B3 or B4 (but not B3A) machines, or 20% of the total number of 
gaming machines which are available for use on the premises, whichever is the greater 
b) any number of Category C or D machines  
 
7.3 Bingo premises and children/young persons (persons under 18 years).  Children 
and Young persons are allowed into Bingo Premises.  However where a premises allows 
children/young persons into the premises they are not permitted to participate in Bingo.  
Moreover where the premises has Category B or C gaming machines available for use 
these must be separated from where children/young persons are permitted. 
 
7.4 As per Gambling Permission Guidance this licensing authority will follow the Social 
Responsibility Code, which states that all licensees must ensure that they their policies 
and procedures take account of the structure and layout of their premises in order to 
prevent underage gambling.  This may include effective measure to ensure: 
 
• all category B or C gaming machines are located in an area of the premises 
separate from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to 
prevent access other than through a designated entrance; 
• only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located; 
• access to the area where these machines are located are supervised; 
• the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed 
by staff of the operator or the licence holder; and 
• at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed notices 
indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18."; 
• Effective monitoring procedures to ensure that children do not participate in bingo. 
 
7.5 This licensing authority is aware that the Gambling Commission is going to issue 
further guidance about the particular issues that licensing authorities should take into 
account in relation to the suitability and layout of bingo premises. This guidance will be 

P
age 81



30 
 

considered by this licensing authority once it is made available. 
 
 
 
8 Betting Premises 
 
8.1 Betting Machines - This licensing authority will have regard to the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, the number of counter 
positions available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the 
use of the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 
years to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances 
of betting machines an operator wants to offer. 
 
8.2 We expect such premises to have clear policies and procedures in place to ensure 
that staff have clear line of sight to ensure staff can monitor the use of Betting Machines to 
ensure that vulnerable such as problem gamblers can be identified and dealt with as per 
operators Social Responsibilities Policies and Procedures.  This will mean that staff within 
such premises should be appropriately trained to identifies such persons and know their 
employers policies and procedures to enable them to correctly assist vulnerable persons to 
reduce the risk of gambling related harm. 
 
8.3 A betting premises licence allows the primary activity of betting and the following 
allocation of gaming machines  
a) Maximum of four gaming machines of categories B2, B3, B4, C or D (excluding 
category B3A).  
 
8.4 Holders of a Betting Premises licence are permitted (at our discretion) to have 
betting machines, known as Self-service Betting Terminals (SSBTs). A SSBTs is different 
from a gaming machine as it is designed or adapted to allow betting on “real events”. For 
example, some premises may have betting machines that accept bets on live events, such 

P
age 82



31 
 

as horse racing as a substitute for placing a bet in person over the counter.  
 
8.5 Licensing Authorities have powers to restrict the number of SSBTs in certain 
premises Betting Premises and Casinos). This restriction is done via adding conditions to 
the premises licence. When considering whether to impose a condition to restrict the 
number of SSBTs in particular premises, this licensing authority, amongst other things, will 
take into account the ability of employees to monitor the use of the machines by children 
and young persons or by vulnerable people.  We will also consider the nature of SSBT and 
the circumstances by which they are made available. This may include: 
a) the size of the premises 
b) the number of counter positions available for transactions; and/or 
c) the number of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young 
persons or vulnerable people. 
d) whether the machines have been, or are likely to be used in breach of the licensing 
objectives. 
 
9 Tracks – (This section refers to where racing takes place, such as horse or 
greyhound racing) and other matters 
 
9.1 This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than one 
premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track. In 
accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, this licensing authority will 
especially consider the impact upon the third licensing objective (i.e. the protection of 
children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling) and the 
need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children are 
excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter. 
 
9.2 This licensing authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicant to 
demonstrate suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult only 
gaming facilities. It is noted that children and young persons will be permitted to enter track 

P
age 83



32 
 

areas where facilities for betting are provided on days when dog racing and/or horse racing 
takes place, but that they are still prevented from entering areas where gaming machines 
(other than category D machines) are provided 
 
9.3 This licensing authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to meet 
the licensing objectives however appropriate measures / licence conditions may cover 
issues such as: 
 
• Proof of age schemes 
• CCTV 
• Supervision of entrances / machine areas 
• Physical separation of areas 
• Location of entry 
• Notices / signage 
• Specific opening hours 
• Self-baring schemes 
• Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare 
 
9.4 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures. 
 
9.5 Track Premises are permitted to have the following gaming machines in the 
following circumstances: 
 
a) Where the owners hold both a Track Premises Licence and a Pool Betting 
Operating Licence (issued by the Gambling Commission) they may site up to four category 
B2 to D machines on the track; 
b) Tracks that that hold an alcohol licence are automatically entitled under s.282 of the 
2005 Act to have two gaming machines of category C or D (please note to activate this 

P
age 84



33 
 

entitlement the premises must notify the licensing authority, see Part C below for more 
information); 
 
 
c) Track premises that fall into both a and b above, i.e. have an alcohol licence and 
hold both a Track Premises and Pool Betting Operating Licences are may have six gaming 
machines (two via the alcohol licence and four via the premises/operating licences). 
 
9.6 Track Premises that hold a Pool Betting Licence will have conditions that the 
operator must have and put into effect policies and procedures designed to prevent 
underage gambling, and monitor the effectiveness of these.  As a result this licensing 
authority will take into account the size of the premises and the ability of staff to monitor 
the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 
18s to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering the number /nature / circumstances 
of betting machines an operator wants to offer. It will also take note of the Gambling 
Commission’s suggestion that licensing authorities will want to consider restricting the 
number and location of such machines in respect of applications for track betting premises 
licences. 
 
9.7 Condition on rules being displayed - The Gambling Commission has advised in its 
Guidance for local authorities that “licensing authorities should attach a condition to track 
premises licences requiring the track operator to ensure that the rules are prominently 
displayed in or near the betting areas, or that other measures are taken to ensure that they 
are made available to the public. For example, the rules could be printed in the race-card 
or made available in leaflet form from the track office.” 
 
9.8 Applications and plans - This licensing authority awaits regulations setting- out any 
specific requirements for applications for premises licences but is in accordance with the 
Gambling Commission’s suggestion “To ensure  that licensing authorities gain a proper 
understanding of what they are being asked to license they should, in their licensing 

P
age 85



34 
 

policies, set out the information that they will require, which should include detailed plans 
for the racetrack itself and the area that will be used for temporary “on- course” betting 
facilities (often known as the “betting ring”) and in the case of dog tracks and horse 
racecourses fixed and mobile pool betting  facilities operated by the Tote or track operator, 
as well as any other proposed gambling facilities.” And that “Plans should make clear what 
is being sought for authorisation under the track betting premises licence  and what, if any, 
other areas are to be subject to a separate application for a different type of premises 
licence.” 
 
9.9 This licensing authority also notes that in the Gambling Commission’s view that it 
would be preferable for all self-contained premises operated by off-course betting 
operators on track to be the subject of separate premises licences, to ensure that there is 
clarity between the respective responsibilities of the track operator and the off-course 
betting operator running a self-contained unit on the premises. 
  
10 Travelling Fairs 
 
10.1 It will fall to this licensing authority to decide whether, and where category D 
machines and / or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made available for 
use at travelling fairs.  This will be decided on the condition that the statutory requirement 
that the facilities for gambling must be ancillary amusement at the fair and not its main 
purpose. 
 
10.2 The licensing authority will expect applicants to show how they will meet the 
licensing objectives, in particular in relation to children and young persons. 
 
10.3 The licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the 
statutory definition of a travelling fair in that it must not be on a site that has been used for 
fairs on more than 27 days per calendar year. 
 

P
age 86



35 
 

10.4 The 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair is per calendar 
year, and that it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs are held.  This is regardless 
of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs occupying the land. This licensing 
authority will work with its neighbouring authorities to ensure that land which crosses our 
boundaries is monitored so that the statutory limits are not exceeded. 
 
11 Provisional Statements 
 
11.1 Developers may wish to apply for a provisional statement before entering into a 
contract to buy or lease property or land. This may allow the developer to judge whether a 
development is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a premises Licence. 
There is no need for the applicant to hold an operating licence in order to apply for a 
provisional statement.  
 
11.2 A person can to make an application for a provisional statement in respect of 
premises that they:  
a) expect to construct, 
b) expect to alter or, 
c) expect to acquire a right to occupy.  
 
11.3 Whilst applicants for premises licences must hold or have applied for an operating 
licence from the Commission (except in the case of a track), and they must have the right 
to occupy the premises in respect of which their premises licence application is made, 
these restrictions do not apply in relation to an application for a provisional statement. 
 
11.4 In circumstances where an applicant has also applied to the Gambling Commission 
for an operating licence, the Gambling Commission has stated that licensing authorities 
should not speculate on or otherwise take into account the likelihood of an operating 
licence being granted in its consideration of the application for a provisional statement. 
 

P
age 87



36 
 

11.5 The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the same 
as that for a premises licence application and thus must be accompanied by plans and the 
prescribed fee. The applicant is obliged to give notice of the application in the same way 
as applying for a premises licence. Responsible authorities and interested parties may 
make representations and there are rights of appeal.  
 
11.6 Following the construction, alteration or acquirement of the premises for which the 
provisional statement relates to, the licence holder may subsequently apply for a premises 
licence. The Licensing Authority will be constrained in the matters we can consider when 
determining the premises licence application, and in terms of representations about 
premises licence applications that follow the grant of a provisional statement, no further 
representations from relevant authorities or interested parties can be taken into account 
unless:  
 
a) they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional 
statement stage, or  
b) they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.  
 
11.7 In addition, the Licensing Authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on 
terms different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to matters:  
a) which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional statement 
application stage;  
b) which in our opinion reflect a change in the operator’s circumstances; or  
where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan submitted with 
the application. This must be a substantial change to the plan. We can discuss any 
concerns we may have with the applicant before making a decision. 
 
12 Location and Local Risk Assessments 

 

P
age 88



37 
 

12.1 This licensing authority is aware that demand issues (for example whether or not 

there is sufficient customer demand to make a site commercially viable) cannot be 
considered with regard to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of 
the licensing objectives can. In line with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for 

local authorities, this authority will pay particular attention to the protection of children 
and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as 

issues of crime and disorder. 

 
12.2 It is the licensing authority's view that premises close to schools, playgrounds, or 

other educational establishments such as museums should not normally be licensed 
which are close to schools, playgrounds, or other educational establishments such as 

museums. However any such policy does not preclude any application being made 
and each application will be decided on its merits, with the onus upon the applicant 
showing how the concerns can be overcome. 

 
12.3 The licensing authority will need to be satisfied that there is sufficient evidence that 

the particular location of the premises would not be harmful to the licensing 
objectives. 

 
12.4 From 6 April 2016, the Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of 

Practice (LCCP) made it a requirement under the Social Responsibility (SR) code, for 
licensees to assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the provision 
of gambling facilities at their premises and have policies, procedures and control 

measures to mitigate those risks. In making local risk assessments, licensees must 
take into account relevant matters identified in this policy and local area profile. 

 
12.5 The LCCP states that licensees must undertake a local risk assessment when 

applying for a new premises licence and this must be reviewed and update as 
necessary: 

P
age 89



38 
 

 

a) to take account of significant changes in local circumstance, including those 
identified in this policy; 

b) when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect 

their mitigation of local risks; 
c) when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and; 
d) in any case, undertake alocal assessment when applying for a new premises 

licence. 
 
12.6 Licence holders are also required to provide this licensing authority with a copy of 

their local risk assessment when applying for a premises licence or applying for a 
variation to an existing premises licence. We can also request a copy of the local risk 

assessment at any other time, for example, when we are inspecting premises.  
 
12.7 Where concerns exist or new risks emerge we may ask a licence holder to provide 

a copy of their local risk assessment, setting out the measures they have in place to 
address specific concerns. Licence holders may wish to consider the benefit of making 
their local risk assessment available to responsible authorities and interested parties.  

 
12.8  The licensing authority expects the local risk assessment to consider as a 

minimum issues presented by the local landscape, such as; 

 

 Exposure to vulnerable groups; 

 Identification of local specific risks; 

 Type of footfall – children, visitors, families, residents; 

 Educational facilities; 

 Community Centers; 

 Homelessness /rough sleeper hostels, provision of support services. 

 

P
age 90



39 
 

12.9 In any case the local risk assessment should show how vulnerable people, 

including people with gambling dependencies, are protected. 

 
12.10 Other matters that the assessment may include: 

 

 The training of staff in brief intervention when customers show signs of 
excessive gambling, the ability of staff to offer brief intervention and how the 
manning of premises affects this. 

 Details as to the location and coverage of working CCTV cameras, and how 
the system will be monitored. 

 The layout of the premises so that staff have an unobstructed view of persons 
using the premises; 

 The number of staff that will be available on the premises at any one time. If at 
any time that number is one, confirm the supervisory and monitoring 
arrangements when that person is absent from the licensed area or distracted 
from supervising the premises and observing those persons using the 
premises. 

 Arrangements for monitoring and dealing with under age persons and 
vulnerable persons, which may include dedicated and trained personnel, 
leaflets, posters, self-exclusion schemes, window displays and advertisements 
not to entice passers-by etc. 

 The provision of signage and documents relating to games rules, gambling 
care providers and other relevant information is provided in both English and 
the other prominent first language for that locality. 

 Where the application is for a betting premises licence, other than in respect of 

P
age 91



40 
 

a track, the location and extent of any part of the premises which will be used 
to provide facilities for gambling in reliance on the licence. 

 
 
12.11 To assist operators, Annex 6 sets out the Council’s Gambling Local Area Profiles 

criteria.  In connection with this the Council recognises the Gambling Commissions 
National Strategy to Reduce Gambling Harms, and supports the two strategy aims: 

 
 Prevention and Education – making significant progress towards a clear public 

health prevention plan which includes the right mix of interventions. 
 

 Treatment and Support – delivering truly national treatment and support 
options that meet the needs of users. 

 
The full Strategy can be viewed here: 
http://www.reducinggamblingharms.org/ 

 
Licence holders and Operators should have regard to this Strategy when 
undertaking their local risk assessment. 

 

13 The application and decision making process 
 
13.1 When this Licensing we receives an application for a premises licence, we must 

consult interested parties and responsible authorities as set out in Part A above. 
These interested persons/responsible authorities can make comments about 
applications for premises licences, which are known formally as ‘representations’.  

 
13.2 Generally, where we receive a valid representation, i.e. it relates to either the 

licensing objectives, matters in this Policy or the Gambling Commissions Codes or 

P
age 92

http://www.reducinggamblingharms.org/


41 
 

Practice or Guidance, we will normally refer the application to the Licensing 

Committee or Sub-Committee for determination at a hearing. In determining 
applications, the Committee shall aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so 
far as we consider it to be: 

 
a) in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice or guidance issued by the 

Gambling Commission, 
b) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives, 
c) in accordance with this Policy. 

 
13.3 The Committee cannot consider any of the following when determining an 

application: 
 
a) moral objections (Licensing Authorities cannot base their decision on a dislike 

of gambling, or a general notion that it is undesirable to allow gambling 
premises in within their area), 

b) planning (as detailed earlier in this policy Licensing Authorities cannot have 
regard to planning or building control permissions or any planning restrictions 
when deterring applications under the 2005 Act),  

c) demand (Licensing Authorities cannot take into account issues around the 
demand for gambling premises). 

 
14 Representations and Hearings 
 
14.1  Where this licensing authority receives a representation from an interested party 

or responsible authority, we must first confirm that it is a valid representation.  
 

14.2 For a representation to be valid it must be: 
 

P
age 93



42 
 

a) Made by an Interested Party or a Responsible Authority, 
b) Not be considered to be vexatious or frivolous, 
c) Be relevant to application, 

 
d) Detail how the application will negatively affect one or more of the licensing 

objectives. 
 

14.3 Where an interested party or responsible authority makes a valid representation as 
mentioned above section 7 above we will refer the application to the Licensing 
Committee or Sub-Committee for determination at a hearing. Those who have made a 
valid representation should attend the hearing as failure to do so could reduce the 
weight that the Committee places on representation.  Where an interested person 
makes a representation and wishes to be represented by another person or 
organisation at the hearing they must give this licensing authority a written notice 
requesting to be represented by that person or organisation.  

 
14.4 Interested parties and responsible authorities can make representations about 

licence applications, or apply for a to review an existing licence (see below).  
 

14.5 As detailed in section 5 of Part A above Trade associations, trade unions and 
residents and tenants’ associations can be interested parties, if they can demonstrate 
they are representing a member who lives sufficiently close to the premises, or is likely 
to be affected by the activities being applied for. Similarly Elected Councillors and MPs 
may also be interested parties provided they are acting on behalf of their constituents 
see Part A, Section 5 for more information. 

 
15 Licence fees  

 
15.1 This Licensing Authority will calculate and collect fees from gambling operators to 

P
age 94



43 
 

meet the costs of carrying out our licensing functions under the 2005 Act. The 
intention of the government is that fees will cover our costs for administration 
(including hearings and appeals), inspection and enforcement of the licensing regime.  
Current fees are available on our website.  

 
Amend all para numbers accordingly 

Page 15 (32 
of reviewed 
policy) 

 
After Para 6.2 (now 16.2)  
Delete Para 6.3 and replace with below paras: 
 
16.2 We will not duplicate any conditions or requirements attached to a premises 

licence by the Gambling Act, Gambling Commission Codes of Practice or Secretary of 
State (unless they are default conditions that we may substitute accordingly) or 

conditions attached to an operator’s licence or personal licence.  

 
16.3 The following are some but not all matters that operators are likely to be required to 

comply with by virtue of the 2005 Act, Regulations, mandatory conditions, default 
conditions or Codes of Practice:  

 
a) Proof of Age schemes, 
b) CCTV, 
c) supervision of entrances and machine areas, 
d) physical separation of areas, 
e) whether the premises may hold a licence to provide alcohol, 
f) location of entry to the premises, 
g) notices and signage about persons under 18 years of age not entering the 

premises, 
h) opening hours, 
i) self-barring schemes and, 

provision of information leaflets and helpline number of gambling self- help organisations 

Better flow and 
amendments due to 
Guidance changes. 

P
age 95



44 
 

 
 

Page 16 
(Page 33 of 
reviewed 
policy) 

Para 6.5 (now 16.13) Add “licensing” after the word “This”. Reflects changes to 
other parts of policy 

Page 17 (34 
of reviewed 
policy) 

Para6.8 (now 16.10) Above Para Add “Conditions we cannot attach to licences” as a 
heading. 

 
Same para change the “Bullets” to Alphabetical bullets. 
 
Now bullet point a) Add “that” after the word “conditions and change the word “relating” to 
“relate”. 

 
Now bullet c) Delete “Gambling Act” and Add “Act” after 2005. 
 

Improve clarity 

Page 17 
(page 35 of 
reviewed 
policy) 

Para 7.1 (now 17.1) Add new para below: 
 

The Private Security Industry Act 2001 regulates the private security industry in 

England, Wales and Scotland, and is responsible for licensing individuals working 
within the various industry sectors. The majority of persons employed to work as 
door supervisors at premises licensed for gambling, and carrying out the functions 
listed under Schedule 2 Part 1 of the above act, will need to be licensed by the SIA. 

 

Improves details on 
SIA and the 
legislation that 
governs them. 

Page 17 (35 
of reviewed 
policy) 

Para 7.2 (now 17.3) Delete “The Private Security Industry Act 2001” and Add “The above 
requirement however is relaxed when applied to” then Delete “exempts”. 
 
After this sentence ending with “halls” Add “Where contract staff are employed as door 
supervisors at casinos or bingo halls, such staff will need to be licensed by the SIA. 

Update from 
guidance. 

P
age 96



45 
 

However, in-house employees working as door supervisors these premises are exempt 
from these requirements.”  Then Delete “from requiring Door Supervisors Licence”. 
 
Then change the word “the” to “this” and Add “provision” then after “this” Add “licensing” 
 

Page 17 to 23 
(35 reviewed 
policy) 

Delete Paras 8 through to 15.3. These have been 
amended and move 
to earlier in the 
policy see above. 

Page 23 (35  
to 37on 
reviewed 
policy) 

Add new para under the Heading “16  Reviews” 
 

This Licensing Authority may review a premises licence; or an interested party or 

responsible authority may apply to review a premises licence.  When determining 
whether to initiate a review, we shall have regard to our This Policy, Gambling 

Commission Guidance and the Council’s Enforcement Policy. 
Amend below para number accordingly 
 
Para 16.1 (now 16.2) Delete first sentence up to and including “however, it is for” then 
change “the” to “This” then Delete “to” after the words “licensing authority” and Add “will”. 
 
Then Delete the remaining words in the last sentence starting with the words “as well” and 
finishing with the word “review”. 
 
Then Add the following paras: 

We will also consider whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, will ‘certainly not’ 
cause this licensing authority to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or whether it is 

substantially the same as previous representations or requests for review (i.e. it is 
repetitive). 

 

Improves clarity I 
terms of what we 
can do and makes 
the process clearer 
for both residents 
and 
applicants/licence 
holders 

P
age 97



46 
 

The licensing authority may initiate a review of a particular premises licence, or 

particular class of premises licence where it is appropriate, for instants if: 
 

a) it has reason to suspect that premises licence conditions are not being observed, 
b) the premises is operating outside of the principles set out in the licensing 

authority’s statement of policy, 
c) there is evidence to suggest that compliance with the licensing objectives is at risk, 
d) for any other reason which gives them cause to believe that a review may be 

appropriate, such as a complaint from a third party. 
 

Applications for a review of a premises licence must be submitted to the Licensing 
Authority on a prescribed form.  The application must also state the reasons what 

the review is being requested, together with any supporting information and 
documents.  The applicant must also, within 7 days of making their application. 

 
Once this licensing authority receives a valid application for a review, responsible 
authorities and interested parties can make representations during a 28-day 
period. This period begins seven days after we receive the application. We will 

publish notice of the application within seven days of receipt, in line with the 
Gambling Act 2005 (Premises Licences)(Review) Regulations 2007.  Within this 

seven day period the applicant must provide a written notice of their application to 
the licence holder and all responsible authorities.  Failure to do this will halt the 

application process until this notice is received by these parties. 
 

We will carry out the review as soon as possible after the 28-day period for making 
representations has passed.  The review will be to determine whether we should 

take any action in relation to the licence. If action is justified, the options open to us 
are:  

 
a) add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by us  

P
age 98



47 
 

b) exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State or remove or amend 
such an exclusion  

c) suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months and  
d) revoke the premises licence.  

 

In determining what action, if any, we should take following a review, we will have 

regard to any relevant representations and the principles set out in paragraph 2.2 
of the policy statement above.  

 
This licensing authority may also initiate a review of a premises licence because a 

premises licence holder has not provided facilities for gambling at the premises. 
This is to prevent people from applying for licences in a speculative manner without 
intending to use them.  

 
 

Once we have completed the review will notify the following as soon as possible:  
a) the licence holder, 
b) the applicant for review (if any), 
c) the Gambling Commission, 
d) any person who made representations, 
e) the chief officer of police, and  
f) Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs. 

 
 
 

Page 23 
(page 38 of 
reviewed 
policy) 

After the Heading “Part C - Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice” Add the 
following new Paras 
 

Permits and Notices 
 

Provides 
introduction to 
Permits and Notices 
and makes the 
section clearer 

P
age 99



48 
 

A permit or notice is required when premises provide a gambling facility, but either 

the stakes and prizes are very low, or gambling is not the main function of the 
premises. 
 

This licensing authority is responsible for issuing and receiving the following types 
of permits and notices:  
a) gaming machine permit  
b) prize gaming permit  
c) club gaming and club machine permit  
d) unlicensed family entertainment centre permit  
e) travelling fairs  
f) temporary use notice  
g) occasional use notice  

 

We have chosen not included specific details of the stakes and prizes for the 

various permits and have only provided minimal information regarding the numbers 
of permitted machines, because the government may change this information 
during the life of this Policy. We advise readers to refer our website or the 

Gambling Commission’s website for up to date information. 
 

Permits and Notices often related to the Gaming Machines available for use in 

unlicensed premises under the 2005 act.  These Gaming Machines are commonly 
referred to as ‘fruit machines’ or ‘one arm bandits’ and fall into categories 

depending on the stake required to play them and the value of the maximum prize 
available. Generally,  

a) Category A machines have no limits on prizes or stakes, but would only be 
permitted at a regional casino.  

b) Category B machines can be provided in casinos, betting premises, bingo 
premises, adult gaming centres and private members clubs. These machines 
can give a much higher prize and there is a restriction on the number of 

P
age 100



49 
 

machines allowed in those premises.  

c) Category C machines are the type most commonly found in pubs and have a 
maximum prize value that is significantly lower than category B.  

d) Category D machines are the type commonly found in amusement arcades and 
have lower value prizes and stakes.  These may also include “Crane Grab” 
machines.  Some of these are incorrectly labelled as “Skill Machine”.  Machines 
fitted with a compensator, which allows it to be converted from a skill machine 
to a gaming machine, are classified as a gaming machine and need to be 
clearly marked as such. 

 

Further more detailed guidance on Permits and Notices is available on The 

Gambling Commissions website www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk.  
 

It should be noted that a licensing authority can only grant or refuse a permit. It 
cannot attach conditions to permits. 

 

 
Page 23 (39 
on reviewed 
policy) 

 
Para 1.1 (now 2.1) Delete “Where” and Add “These are”, then after the word “premises” 
Add “,which”.  The Delete the comma after “machines and Add a Full Stop. Then add “”To 
provide gaming machines”.  Then Delete the word “may” and Add “must”. 
 
The after the sentence ending with the word “permit” Add a new sentence “A UFEC is 
likely to cater to families, including unaccompanied children and young persons and are 
likely to be arcade style premises.” The Delete “it should be noted that” and Add start the 
sentence with “The applicant” 
 
Add the following to the end of Para1.2 (now para 2.2): 
 
“In connection with this where premises are likely to appeal to children and young persons, 
this Licensing Authority in considering matters relating to protection of children from being 

Improve Flow and 
clarity 
 
Additional 
highlighted parts 
added after 
consultation with 
Gambling 
Commission for 
UFECs to mirror 
Prize Gaming in 
regards to Children. 

P
age 101

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/


50 
 

harmed or exploited by gambling will where necessary consult Local Safeguarding Children 

Board.” 
 
 
Delete para 1.2 
 
Delete Para 1.4  (now 2.3)  and Add: 
The licensing authority can only grant an application for a permit if the licensing authority 
is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed Family Entertainment Centers 
(UFEC), and if the chief officer of police has been consulted on the application 
 
 
 

Page 24 (39 
to 40 on 
reviewed 
policy) 

Delete Para 1.5 
 
Para 1.6 (now 2.4) Add “As per this Policy” and Delete “Statement of Principals” and 

Capitalise the word “this”  Then Add the following after the Word “Premises” but before the 
word “should” in the last sentence close to schools, playgrounds, or other educational 

establishments such as museums and places of worship 
 

Delete Para 1.7 
 
Add new para 
 

In line with Gambling Commission Guidance this licensing authority will take 
location into account when considering and application for a permit for a UFEC 
premises, and when determining such an application will have regard to our 

local area profile and consider whether:  
 

Improve Flow and 
clarity. 
 
Highlighted parts 
added as per above 
re consultation with 
Gambling 
Commission 

P
age 102



51 
 

a) the applicant clearly understands the the maximum stakes and prizes of the 
gambling that is permissible in unlicensed Family Entertainment Centers; 

b) the premises where gaming is proposed to be offered is not situated in the 
vicinity of areas that may overly attract young people, such as schools, after 
school care, parks or playgrounds, 

c) the applicant has any relevant convictions, 

d) that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and 
prizes. 

e) the offering of gaming is in accordance with the licensing objectives. This may 
include whether offering gaming on the premises is likely to attract or perpetuate 
issues around crime and disorder in the area or issues around children and young 
people or the vulnerable, 

f) the police have raised any objections relevant to the licensing objectives.  

 
The above list is not exhaustive, but an indication of the types of issues that we may 

consider when we receive an application these permits.  

 
This Licensing Authority, as encouraged by the Gambling Commissions Guidance, 
requires that a plan for the unlicensed Family Entertainment Centers (UFEC) be submitted 

with the application for a permit. 
 

Page 24 
(40/41 on 
reviewed 
policy) 

Delete “Permits” from the Heading of para 2 (now 3) 
 
Under this Add “Notifications” 
 
Delete Para 2.1 and 2.2 and add the below 

Notifications 
 

There is provision in the 2005 Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for 

Provides 
introduction to what 
permits and 
Notifications are. 

P
age 103



52 
 

consumption on the premises under the Licensing Act 2003, to automatically 

entitlement to have 2 gaming machines of categories C or D. Full definitions of the 
Gaming Machine Categories can be found on the Gambling Commission’s website.
  

 
Premises wishing to take advantage of this automatic entitlement need to give 

written notice to the licensing authority of their intention to make gaming machines 
available for use, and must pay the prescribed fee.  This notice must be from the 

person/organisation who holds the premises licence, and if the person/organisation 
ceases to be the holder of the relevant alcohol licence for the premises, the 
automatic entitlement to the two gaming machines also ceases. Restaurants or 

similar premises are excluded from having gaming machines where they have 
a condition requiring alcohol to be sold as ancillary to food. 

 
The licensing authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any 
particular premises if: 

 

g) provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 
licensing objectives; 

h) gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section 
282 of the 2005 Act (e.g. for example the gaming machines have been made 
available in a way that does not comply with requirements on the location and 
operation of gaming machinesi; 

i) the premises are mainly used for gaming; or 
j) an offence under the 2005 Act has been committed on the premises. 

 

In this situation, we will give the licence holder at least 21 days notice of our 
intention to make remove this entitlement and consider any representations they 

may wish to make.  Where requested by the licence holder we will hold a hearing 

P
age 104



53 
 

before we make a final determination.  

 

Permits 

 

If a premises wishes to exceed the automatic entitlement of two machines, they 

must apply to us for a permit for more than two machines.  This permit replaces the 
automatic entitlement to two machines and is not an addition to it.  
 
This licensing authority will consider such applications based upon the licensing 
objectives, the Gambling Commissions Guidance, and any other matters that we 

think relevant. 
 
We will decide each application on its own merits but generally: 
a) We may consider the size of premises and whether the numbers of machines 

applied for is appropriate in light of the licensing objectives and whether the 
premises is being “mainly used” for gambling. 

b) We shall have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from 
being harmed or exploited by gambling. We will expect the applicant to provide 
sufficient measures to ensure that persons under 18 years of age do not have 
access to adult only gaming machines and that the permit holder can comply the 
Gambling Commission’s Codes of Practice. 

c) Whether there are any issues in the premises history relating to the gambling 
licensing objectives that the Licensing Authority should properly consider when 
deciding whether to grant a permit. 

  
 

Page 25 (41 
on reviewed 
policy) 

Para 2.3 (now 3.6) in the first sentence Delete “regards to” and Add “emphasis”.  Then 
in the same sentence delete everything from and including “and will expect...” and Add 
“as detailed in paragraph 1.3 (b) above. 
 

Improves clarity of 
the policy 

P
age 105



54 
 

Then in the next sentence after “authority” Add “in respect of this are”.  Then Add “and” 
between “18s” and “and”.  Then after the word “machines Add “to ensure they”. 
 
Para 2.6 (now 3.9) After the first sentence Add “However we cannot attach any other”.  
Then Delete “(other than these) cannot be attached”. 
 
Heading 3 now becomes heading 4 (Prize Gaming Permits) 
 
Add new para (4.1) as follows: 
 
“Prize gaming takes place when the number of people playing does not determine the 
nature and size of the prize, or the amount paid for or raised by the gaming. The operator 
determines the prize before play commences.” 
 

Page 26 (42 
on Reviewed 
Policy) 

Delete Para 3.2 No longer needed. 

Page 26 (42-
45 on 
reviewed 
policy)  

After Para 3.3 (now 4.4) Add new paras to become 4.5 to 4.7 (reviewed policy) as 
below: 
 
4.4 In line with Gambling Commission Guidance this licensing authority will take 

location into account when considering and application for a permit for Prize 
Gaming, and when determining such an application will have regard to our local 
area profile and consider whether:  

 

a) the applicant clearly understands the limits to stakes and prizes that they 
propose to offer and the gaming is within the law, 

b) the premises where gaming is proposed to be offered is not situated in the 
vicinity of areas that may overly attract young people, such as schools, after 

Improves clarity, 
particularly on prize 
gaming. 
 
Consultation with 
Gambling 
Commission. 

P
age 106



55 
 

school care, parks or playgrounds, 
c) the applicant has any relevant convictions, 

d) that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and 
prizes. 

e) the offering of gaming is in accordance with the licensing objectives. This may 
include whether offering gaming on the premises is likely to attract or perpetuate 
issues around crime and disorder in the area or issues around children and young 
people or the vulnerable, 

f) the police have raised any objections relevant to the licensing objectives.  

 
The above list is not exhaustive, but an indication of the types of issues that we may 
consider when we receive an application for a prize gaming permit.  

 
4.5 This Licensing Authority, as encouraged by the Gambling Commissions Guidance, 

require that a plan for the unlicensed Family Entertainment Centers (UFEC) be 
submitted with the amplification for a permit. 

 

4.6 Where premises are likely to appeal to children and young persons, this Licensing 
Authority in considering matters relating to protection of children from being 

harmed or exploited by gambling will where necessary consult Local Safeguarding 
Children Board. 

 
Delete below para following consultation  with Gambling Commission: 
 
“When determining a prize gaming permit application, this licensing authority will have 
regard to our local area profile and consider whether:  

 
a) the applicant clearly understands the limits to stakes and prizes that they propose to offer 

and the gaming is within the law, 

b) the premises where gaming is proposed to be offered is not situated in the vicinity of areas 

P
age 107



56 
 

that may overly attract young people, such as schools, after school care, parks or 
playgrounds, 

c) the applicant has any relevant convictions, 

d) the offering of prize gaming is in accordance with the licensing objectives. This may include 
whether offering prize gaming on the premises is likely to attract or perpetuate issues 
around crime and disorder in the area or issues around children and young people or the 
vulnerable, 

e) the police have raised any objections relevant to the licensing objectives.  
 
The above list is not exhaustive, but an indication of the types of issues that we may consider 
when we receive an application for a prize gaming permit.” 

 
Para 3.4 (now 4.6) after the word “that” Add “although the licensing authority cannot 
attach conditions,”  Then  Delete “Gambling” and “by” and move “2005” to before the 
Deleted word “Gambling”.  Then Delete everything from the word “comply,” until the end 
of the sentence.  Then Delete “in the Act” after the word “conditions”. 

Page 26 (43-
45 on 
reviewed 
policy) 

Change Heading  number “Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits”  from 4 to 5. 
 
Then Add the following Paras: 
 
“As per the Gambling Commission Guidance, a Licensing Authority may grant or refuse 

the permit, but it cannot attach conditions to them.  Licensing Authorities must also 
inform the applicant, the Gambling Commission and the police of the outcome of the 
application for a permit and any objections made. 

 
Licensing Authorities may only refuse an application for a permit on the following grounds: 
 

i. the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial 
club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the 
type of permit for which it has applied; 

Provides 
introduction on what 
Club Gaming and 
Club Gaming 
Machine Permits 
are. 

P
age 108



57 
 

ii. the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young 

persons; 
iii. an offence under the 2005 Act or a breach of a permit has been committed 

by the applicant while providing gaming facilities; 

iv. a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; 
or 

v. an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police. 
 

There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the 2005 Act for premises which hold 

a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 (Schedule 12 paragraph 10). As 
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for licensing authorities states: “Under the fast-track 

procedure there is no opportunity for objections to be made by the Gambling Commission 
or the police, and the ground upon which an authority can refuse a permit are reduced.” 

And “The grounds on which an application under the process may be refused are: 
 

i. that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming 

prescribed by regulations under section 266 of the 2005 Act; 
 

ii. in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for 

other gaming; or 
 

iii. a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the 

last ten years has been cancelled.” 
 

There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a category B or C 
machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant provision of a 

code of practice about the location and operation of gaming machines.” 
 
After the above add the below para to assist in getting the most up to date information as 

P
age 109



58 
 

this can change within the lifetime of the policy: 
 
For the most up to date information in regards to Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits 
please see the Gambling Commissions Website. 

 
Then Add Heading “Club Gaming Permits” 

 
Para 4.1 (now 5.5) after Permit Delete everything  from “or a Clubs Gaming machines 
permit” forward. 
 
Then after this para Add the following paras: 
 

“Miners’ welfare clubs are associations established for recreational or social 

purposes. They are managed by representatives of miners or use premises 
regulated by a charitable trust, which has received fund from one or a number of 

mining organisations.  
 

A members clubs must:  
a) have at least 25 members, 

b) be established for, and conducted wholly or mainly for, purposes other than gaming 
(unless gaming is permitted by separate regulations), 

c) be permanent in nature, 

d) not established to make a profit; and  

e) controlled by its members equally.  

 
Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of Royal British Legion and clubs 
with political affiliations.” 

 
The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide a total maximum of 

P
age 110



59 
 

three (3) gaming machines.  These may be from categories B3A, B4, C or D but 

only one B3A machine can be sited as part of this entitlement.  The permit also 
allows equal chance gaming and games of chance, such as Pontoon. For detailed 
and up-to-date list of permissions, stakes and prizes please see the Gambling 

Commission’s website. 
 

A club gaming permit lasts for ten years unless it ceases to have effect because it 
is surrendered, cancelled or forfeited.” 

 
 

Page 26/27 
(45 of 
reviewed 
policy) 

Delete Paras 4.2 to 4.6 
 
The Add the following paras: 
 
“Club Machine Permit 
 

Members clubs and miners’ welfare institutes may choose to apply for the club 
machine permit if they do not want to have the full gaming provided by a club 

gaming permit. In addition, commercial clubs may also apply for a club machine 
permit.  

 

Commercial clubs are members clubs established for profit, such as snooker clubs. 
 
 

A club machine permit allows a total maximum number of three (3) gaming 
machines.  These may be from categories B3A, B4, C or D but only one B3A 
machine can be sited as part of this entitlement.   

 
Before granting the permit the licensing authority will need to satisfy itself that the 

Provides better 
clarity on Club 
Machine Permits 

P
age 111



60 
 

premises meet the requirements of a members’ club and may grant the permit if 

the majority of members are over 18 years of age 
 

A club machine permit lasts for ten years unless it ceases to have effect because it 

is surrendered, cancelled or forfeited.” 
 

Page 27/28 
(45-47 of 
reviewed 
policy) 

Change the numbering of the Heading “Temporary Use Notice” from 5 to 6 and Add 
“(TUN)” to the heading. 
 
Then Delete para 5.1, 5.2 and 5.3 and replace with following paras: 
“Temporary Use Notices (TUNs) allow the use of premises to be use for gambling where 
there is no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the premises 
temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might be suitable for a TUN 
could include hotels, conference centres and sporting venues. Licensing Authorities can 
only grant a TUN to a person or company holding a relevant operating licence issued by 
the Gambling Commission.  

 
There are certain restrictions to the type of Gambling that a TUN can cover, these 
restrictions are: 

 
 it can only be used to offer gambling of a form authorised by the operator’s operating 

licence, this licensing authority will therefore give consideration as to whether the form of 
gambling being offered on the premises will be remote, non-remote, or both, and whether 
this is in compliance with the operating licence, 

 gambling under a TUN may only be made available on a maximum of 21 days in any 12 
month period for any or all of a named set of premises, 

 it can only be used to permit the provision of facilities for equal chance gaming, and where 
the gaming in each tournament is intended to produce a single overall winner, 

 gaming machines may not be made available under a TUN. 
 

Provides better 
clarity on 
Temporary Use and 
Occasional Use 
Notices. P

age 112



61 
 

In considering whether a place falls within the definition of "a set of premises", we will have 
regard to the Guidance and consider the individual facts on their merits but, amongst other 
things, we will have particular regard to the ownership, occupation and control of the 
premises.” 

 

Then change number of Heading “Occasional Use Notices” from 6 to “7”. 

 

Then Delete para 6.1 and below para: 
 
“An Occasional Use Notice permits betting on a sporting event or race at a track on eight 
days or fewer in a calendar year without the need for a full premises licence. It therefore 
allows temporary and infrequent events such as point-to-point racing to take place and for 
bets to be taken on the outcome.” 
 

Then the following to the end of Para 6.2 (now 7.2): 
“i.e. whether applicant is licensed as a betting operator and has appropriate permission 

form the Gambling Commission to use tracks for conducting betting.” 
 

Then Add the following para: 
“We will the also decide what constitutes a track, sporting event or race on a case-by-case 
basis. In doing so we will follow the Gambling Commission’s guidance in relation to tracks.” 

 

 
 

 
 

Annex 6 Delete Link to Local Area Profiles and replace with correct link Old link. 

 

P
age 113



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Three 
 

Responses to the Gambling Policy Consultation 2019 
 
Body or 
Organisation 

Summary of issues Response (where relevant) 

Gambling 
Commission 

 Advice to ensure that measure 
relating Protecting children from 
being harmed or exploited by 
gambling detailed in Unlicensed 
Family Entertainment Centre 
(UFEC) Gaming Machine Permits 
and Prize Gaming Permits mirror 
each other. 

 

The Policy was updated following the 
Consultation to take account of these 
comments. 

Met Police  Having liaised without licensing 
unit and based on the previous 
consultation there are no issues 
that are of concern from MPS on 
Central East BCU. 

No response required 

London Fire 
Brigade (LFB) 

 Asked to amend their name from 
London Fire and Emergency 
Planning Authority (LFEPA) to 
London Fire Brigade (LFB) in the 
Policy and the list of Responsible 
Authorities. 

Policy or associated documents 
updated as per this information 
where needed. 

HMRC  Asked to update their contact 
information in the Police and List 
of Responsible Authorities to: 
 
Postal Address: 
HM Revenue and Customs 
Excise Processing Teams 
BX9 1GL 
United Kingdom 
 
Contact telephone number is now 
0300 322 7072 Option 7. 
 
Email address remain the same, 
NRUBetting&Gaming@hmrc.gsi.g
ov.uk 

Policy or associated documents 
updated as per this information 
where needed. 

Public Health Public Health support for the draft 
policy 
 
Public health is fully supportive of the 
draft policy for the following reasons:  

 This policy addresses an issue of 
local public health importance and 
inequalities in Tower Hamlets.  

 

 This policy is in line with the 
strategic priorities for us as a 

In response to recommendation 1) 
the following has been added to 
Location and Local Risk 
Assessments Part B, section 12 of 
the policy as para 12.11 
 
“To assist operators, Annex 6 sets 
out the Council’s Gambling Local 
Area Profiles criteria.  In connection 
with this the Council recognises the 
Gambling Commissions National 
Strategy to Reduce Gambling 

Page 115

mailto:NRUBetting&Gaming@hmrc.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:NRUBetting&Gaming@hmrc.gsi.gov.uk


council (Tower Hamlets 
Community Plan), our partners 
(Tower Hamlets Together - Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy) and 
based on evidence of poor health 
and social outcomes within our 
Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment.  

 This policy draws on national and 
international evidence and best 
practice.  

 Public health supports outlining 
the considerations the Authority 
will go through in determining 
gambling premises licenses and 
Annex 4 including the promotion of 
industry good practice when 
supporting vulnerable persons. 

 Public health supports section 16 
in which the council will request 
that operators / premises share 
information about numbers of self-
excluded gamblers to help it 
develop its understanding about 
the risk of problem gambling in its 
area.  

 Public health supports the 
inclusion of staff training around 
brief interventions for identifying 
vulnerable persons and problem 
gamblers operators risk 
assessments. As well as section 
provision of signage and 
documents games rules, gambling 
care providers and other relevant 
information in both English and the 
other prominent first language for 
that locality.  

 
Public Health recommendations  
 
Further to the provisions in this policy 
it is suggested that LBTH works with 
local operators to follow best practice. 
Examples would include:  
 
 

1) Adoption of the definition of 
gambling related harms as 
suggested by the Responsible 
Strategy Gambling Board: “The 
adverse impacts from gambling on 

Harms, and supports the two 
strategy aims: 
 
• Prevention and Education – 
making significant progress towards 
a clear public health prevention plan 
which includes the right mix of 
interventions. 
 
• Treatment and Support – 
delivering truly national treatment 
and support options that meet the 
needs of users. 
 
The full Strategy can be viewed here: 
http://www.reducinggamblingharms.o
rg/ 
 
Licence holders and Operators 
should have regard to this Strategy 
when undertaking their local risk 
assessment.” 
 
Recommendation 2) is a statutory 
requirement under the Health and 
Safety at Work Etc. Act 1974 and 
Regulations made under it namely 
the Management of Health and 
Safety at Work Regulations 1999.  
 
Recommendation 3): 
These are already contained in 
various sections of the Policy and/or 
the Gambling Best Practice 
Guidance attached to the Policy. 
 

Recommendation 4): 
These are contained in various areas 
within the Policy and the Best 
Practice Guide attached to the policy.  
Though these all these items can 
and often have an impact on or 
exacerbate gambling related harm, it 
would be difficult to justify adding 
conditions or requirements in the 
policy to require leaflets that are 
directly linked Gambling.  As such we 
cannot add requirements for 
premises to provide healthy lifestyle 
information other than Gambling 
Support Leaflets. 
 
Recommendation 5): 
The Gambling Commission’s 
National Strategy to Reduce 

Page 116

http://www.reducinggamblingharms.org/
http://www.reducinggamblingharms.org/


the health and wellbeing of 
individuals, families, communities 
and societies”. These harms affect 
resources, relationships and 
health. The impact from them may 
be short-lived but can be durable, 
having enduring consequences 
and exacerbating existing 
inequalities. 

2) Protection of staff and lone 
working are addressed within the 
operators risk assessment. 

3) All operators are encouraged and 
supported with materials where 
applicable such as:  
o Leaflets aimed at giving 

assistance to problem 
gamblers clearly displayed in 
prominent areas and also more 
discreet areas such as toilets  

o Self-exclusion forms available  
o The odds clearly displayed on 

all fixed odds machines  
o All ATM or other cash 

terminals to be separate from 
gaming machines, so that 
clients have to leave the 
machines for more funds as 
required. They should also 
display stickers with GamCare 
(or replacement organisation)  

o Helpline information 
prominently displayed 

o There must be clear visible 
signs of any age restrictions in 
any gaming or betting 
establishments. Entrances to 
gambling and betting areas 
must be well supervised and 
age verification vetting 
operated  

o Posters with details of 
GamCare’s (or replacement 
organisation) telephone 
number and website 

 
 
 

4) Operators should provide healthy 
lifestyle information in their 
premises e.g. leaflets regarding 
alcohol consumption and local 
smoking cessation services and 
local support for mental health 

Gambling Harms looks into this and 
we have said that Operators should 
consider this when completing their 
Local Risk Assessments.  To 
creation of a Vulnerability Local 
Index is not within the scope of this 
Policy and would be something that 
Public Health may want to look into 
as additional guidance that could 
compliment this policy but not be part 
of it. 
 
Recommendation 6): 
Advertisements are required to be 
restricted in regards to children and 
we will follow the Gambling 
Commissions guidance on adverts 
within premises. 
 
Recommendation 7): 
This would be difficult to do as the 
Operators have their own self 
exclusion policy that crosses 
borough boundaries etc. and 
therefore would be more effective 
than a borough as these, though you 
have to opt in to each Operators are 
national.  It would be better for PHE 
to speak to the Gambling 
Commission about Operators sharing 
their policies or in them creating a 
national one as this would be more 
effective. 
 
Recommendation 8): 
This is not within the scope of this 
policy and should be a conversation 
between Asset Management and 
Public has as they have indicated. 
 
Recommendation 9): 
We actively encourage this and have 
liaised with Public Health in 
connection with this and previous 
policies. 

Page 117



problems and debt advice.  

5) Development of Gambling Related 
Harm: Vulnerable Locality Index. 

6) Operators should reduce 
advertising at least in line with the 
Senet Group's set of 
Commitments  

7) A Borough wide self-exclusion 
policy across all premises licensed 
for gambling. 

8) Public Health are seeking 
clarification that gambling is not 
promoted on LBTH owned assets 
and estates. 

9) Finally, since gambling is 
increasingly recognised as 
involving public health concerns, 
the Authority should continue to 
work with Public Health to foster 
close working relationships over 
the life course of this policy to 
ensure that the health of Tower 
Hamlets residents is promoted 
within the context of licensed 
gambling establishments. 

 

GamCare GamCare explained that they are not 
able to review all Policy Reviews sent 
to them by Local Authorities but gave 
a generic response that they send to 
all Local Authorities when consulted 
on revisions to Statements of 
Gambling Policies. 
 
Response Below:  
 

 A helpful first step is to develop a 
risk map of your local area so that 
you are aware of both potential 
and actual risks around gambling 
venues. A useful explanation of 
area-based risk-mapping has been 
developed with Westminster and 
Manchester City Councils, which 
gives some guidance on those 
who may be most vulnerable or at-
risk of gambling-related harm. For 
more information please see 
www.geofutures.com/research-
2/gambling-related-harm-how-
local-space-shapes-our-
understanding-of-risk/ 

In reviewing the policy post 
consultation all of these items have 
been covered and there were no 
need for a further revisions save for 
the addition of the following 
paragraph at the end of the section 
on Vulnerable People, section 15 
Part A: 
“This Licensing Authority encourages 
operators to consider participation in 
voluntary best practice or certification 
schemes, such as GamCare’s Safer 
Gambling Standard to assist in their 
promotion of the objective of 
Protecting children and other 
vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling.” 

Page 118

http://www.geofutures.com/research-2/gambling-related-harm-how-local-space-shapes-our-understanding-of-risk/
http://www.geofutures.com/research-2/gambling-related-harm-how-local-space-shapes-our-understanding-of-risk/
http://www.geofutures.com/research-2/gambling-related-harm-how-local-space-shapes-our-understanding-of-risk/
http://www.geofutures.com/research-2/gambling-related-harm-how-local-space-shapes-our-understanding-of-risk/


  

 Consider that proposals for new 
gambling premises which are near 
hostels or other accommodation or 
centres catering for vulnerable 
people, including those with 
learning difficulties, and those with 
gambling / alcohol / drug abuse 
problems, as likely to adversely 
affect the licensing objectives set 
out by the Gambling Commission. 
This is also relevant regarding the 
proximity to schools, colleges and 
universities. 

 

 A detailed local risk assessment at 
each gambling venue – pertinent 
to the environment immediately 
surrounding the premises as well 
as the wider local area – is a good 
way to gauge whether the operator 
and staff teams are fully aware of 
the challenges present in the local 
area and can help reassure the 
Local Licensing Authority that 
appropriate mitigations are in 
place. 

 

 Does the operator have a specific 
training programme for staff to 
ensure that they are able to 
identify children and other 
vulnerable people, and take 
appropriate action to ensure they 
are not able to access the 
premises or are supported 
appropriately? 

  

 Does the operator ensure that 
there is an adequate number of 
staff and managers are on the 
premises at key points throughout 
the day? This may be particularly 
relevant for premises situated 
nearby schools / colleges / 
universities, and/or pubs, bars and 
clubs. 

 

 Consider whether the layout, 
lighting and fitting out of the 
premises have been designed so 
as not to attract children and other 
vulnerable persons who might be 
harmed or exploited by gambling.  

Page 119



 

 Consider whether any promotional 
material associated with the 
premises could encourage the use 
of the premises by children or 
young people if they are not legally 
allowed to do so. 

 
They also suggested that the Local 
Licensing Authority primarily consider 
applications from GamCare Certified 
operators. GamCare Certification 
(now being replaced by our Safer 
Gambling Standard) is a voluntary 
process comprising an independent 
audit assessment of an operator’s 
player protection measures and social 
responsibility standards, policy and 
practice. Standards are measured in 
accordance with the GamCare Player 
Protection Code of Practice. 
 

William Hill Two responses first updating their 
contact details and the second was a 
comment on the policy, as below. 
 
They commented on the below 
paragraph being too onerous for them 
to comply with and would create an 
unacceptable amount of work.  
Furthermore as Operators provide 
information on the areas detailed in 
the paragraph on a regular basis to 
the Gambling Commission, which is 
the agreed process for sharing this 
information they suggested that if the 
Gambling Commission have any 
concerns when assessing the data 
provided, they would discuss this with 
the Operator to seek improvement.  
Hence individual contact with each 
Authority is therefore unnecessary.  
 
“To assist the targeting of the 
Council’s enforcement activity the 
Council will request that operators / 
premises share:- 

 Test purchasing results (subject to 
the terms of primary authority 
agreements); 

 incidents in premises, which 
managers are likely to be required 
to report to head office; 

 information about numbers of self-

This paragraph was amended to the 
below, and William will responded 
that they were satisfied with this 
change. 
 
“During visits/inspections the Council 
may request that operators / 
premises share:- 
 

 Local area risk assessments 
 

This information will help the Council 
to get a clearer picture of which 
premises may be experiencing 
issues, meaning that the inspection 
and enforcement activity is 
appropriately structured, and 
targeted.  In some circumstances and 
where proportionate to do so the 
Council may also request premises 
share: 

 test purchasing results (subject to 
the terms of primary authority 
agreements) ; 

 incidents in premises, which 
managers are likely to be 
required to report to head office; 

 information about numbers of 
self-excluded gamblers to help it 
develop its understanding about 
the risk of problem gambling in its 

Page 120



excluded gamblers to help it 
develop its understanding about 
the risk of problem gambling in its 
area. 

 
This information will help the Council 
to get a clearer picture of which 
premises may be experiencing issues, 
meaning that the inspection and 
enforcement activity is appropriately 
structured, and targeted.” 
 
They requested that this section be 
amended to remove this requirement, 
in line with the approach all other 
Local Authorities take, and sighted 
would avoid a situation which would 
be over-burdensome and against 
better regulation principles that we 
make mention of in the policy. 
 
They commented that if we were to 
have any particular concerns about 
individual premises, they would not 
have any issues with receiving 
requests for information on an 
individual shop basis, as required.  
 

area. 

 

Such request to share such data will 
be in consultation with the Operators, 
and the Gambling Commission.”  
 

Paddy Power 
(Represented 
by Poppleston 
Allen 
Solicitors) 

They had similar concerns to William 
Hill as per the above. 
 
In essence they said that a statement 
of Gambling Policy cannot place an 
obligation upon a licence 
holder.  Such an obligation can only 
be enforced by way of a premises 
licence condition, which must be a 
reasonable and proportionate 
response to evidence based concerns 
that are not addressed by a licensee’s 
operation and existing policies and 
procedures.  
  
They were concerned that they would 
be a potential for disparity between 
those operators who do not report the 
listed information and those that do 
and that any inconsistency in the data 
received would provide for an 
incorrect assessment of the industry’s 
age verification procedures and any 
potential local risks or concerns 
identified within the Authority’s 
jurisdiction. 
  

This paragraph was amended to the 
below, and Paddy Power via 
Poppleston Allen was advised of the 
amendment. 
 
“During visits/inspections the Council 
may request that operators / 
premises share:- 
 

 Local area risk assessments 
 

This information will help the Council 
to get a clearer picture of which 
premises may be experiencing 
issues, meaning that the inspection 
and enforcement activity is 
appropriately structured, and 
targeted.  In some circumstances and 
where proportionate to do so the 
Council may also request premises 
share: 

 test purchasing results (subject to 
the terms of primary authority 
agreements) ; 

 incidents in premises, which 
managers are likely to be 

Page 121



They also sighted the Licence 
Conditions and Codes of Practice 
(LCCP) and the mandatory obligations 
upon licence holders in respect of the 
implementation of test purchasing 
practices and associated reporting 
requirements. 
  
They advised that the Regulators’ 
Code provides that when the law 
allows, regulators should agree 
secure mechanisms to share 
information with each other about 
bodies they regulate to minimise 
duplication.  Further that Operators 
are obliged to share information with 
the Gambling Commission through the 
submission of Regulatory Returns and 
that information is disseminated 
through its own annual reports. 
  
In short they suggest that the below 
paragraph be amended to reflect the 
legal requirements and obligations 
provided by the Gambling Act 2005 
and subordinate legislation.  
 
“To assist the targeting of the 
Council’s enforcement activity the 
Council will request that operators / 
premises share:- 

 Test purchasing results (subject to 
the terms of primary authority 
agreements); 

 incidents in premises, which 
managers are likely to be required 
to report to head office; 

 information about numbers of self-
excluded gamblers to help it 
develop its understanding about 
the risk of problem gambling in its 
area. 

 
This information will help the Council 
to get a clearer picture of which 
premises may be experiencing issues, 
meaning that the inspection and 
enforcement activity is appropriately 
structured, and targeted.” 
 

required to report to head office; 

 information about numbers of 
self-excluded gamblers to help it 
develop its understanding about 
the risk of problem gambling in its 
area. 

 

Such request to share such data will 
be in consultation with the Operators, 
and the Gambling Commission.”  
 

Canal and 
River Trust 

Response to update their contact 
email address to the below: 
 

No response required 

Page 122



enquiries.londonsoutheast@canalriver
trust.org.uk 
 

St Johns 
Community 
Association 
Social Club, 
37-43 Glengall 
Grove 
London 

E14 3NE 

They advised they no longer have 
Fruit Machine (Gaming Machines), 
and haven’t had them for 15 year as 
they have lots of children who use the 
Club. 

No response required 

Resident 
(online 
Response) 

Comment: 
 
Not to have too many gambling shops 
especially when high percentage of 
residents are on low income, those 
who are on long income often rely on 
betting shop to invest/generate more 
money and often end up losing all 
money and then fall into a cycle of 
crimes. 
 
Please work on closing some of them 
and stop illegal gambling totally. 
 
This resident also stated that they do 
think there is a problem with illegal 
gambling in the borough and that they 
also had concerns about illegal. 

We will work within the confines of 
the Gambling Act 2005, Gambling 
Commission Guidance and this 
Policy in regards to reducing 
Gambling Related harms.  
Furthermore this revision of this 
policy defines children and 
vulnerable persons, and contains 
more in relation to guidance and our 
approach to tackle Gambling Related 
Harms in line with National Guidance 
and the 2005 Act. 
 
The 2005 Act grants the power to 
Review Premises Licence or object 
to new Licences where there is 
evidence that Gambling Premises 
Licences are in breach of the 2005 
Act, their Licence or are or likely to 
undermining one or more of the 
Gambling Objectives.  Where this 
Licensing has such evidence we will 
take appropriate and proportionate 
action in response that may involve 
reviewing/objecting to Premises 
Licences issued by us. 
 
With regards to illegal Gambling we 
investigate all complaint/reports of 
illegal gambling and currently have a 
case with our Legal Department for 
consideration for prosecution in 
relation to illegal gambling. 
 

Resident 
(online 
Response) 

Comment: 
 
“I think there are too many licenses 
issued to high street gambling shops 
in tower hamlets. We should have a 
restriction to the number of betting 
shops in the high street.” 
 
This resident did not know if there is a 

The Gambling Act 2005 does not 
give the legal power to restrict 
Gambling Premises in a Licensing 
Authorities Area.   
 
This Licensing Authority will however 
ensure that premises that undermine 
the Gambling Objectives investigated 
and where appropriate their licences 

Page 123

mailto:enquiries.londonsoutheast@canalrivertrust.org.uk
mailto:enquiries.londonsoutheast@canalrivertrust.org.uk


problem with illegal gambling in the 
borough and did not have concerns 
about illegal. 

refused/revoked.  It is our opinion 
that this policy takes a better more 
proactive stance towards tackling 
Gambling Related and Protection of 
Children and Vulnerable from being 
harmed by Gambling 

 

Page 124



 

Appendix Four 
 

 

 

 

Gambling Act 2005 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
Gambling Policy 2019- 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Effective December 2019 

Page 125



Contents 
Item Page 

Summary of Local Authority Gambling Policy 3 

 
Part A – Introduction, Statements and Licensing Objectives 

1. Introduction and Geographical Area 4/5 

2. Policy Statement 5/6 

3. Licensing authority functions and Tower Hamlets Plan 6/7 

4. Competent Body for Protection of Children from Harm 7/8 

5. Interested parties 8/9 

6. Exchange of information 9/10 

7. Inspection, Compliance and Enforcement 10/12 

8. Licensing Objectives 13-18 

Part B - Premises licences and Other issues 

1. General Principles 19 

2. Duplication with other regulatory regimes and licensing objectives 19 

3. Premises 19/20 

4. Adult Gaming Centres (AGC) 20/21 

5. Licensed Family Entertainment Centres (FEC) 21/22 

6. Casinos 22 

7. Bingo 22/23 

8. Betting Premises 23/24 

9. Tracks 24-26 

10. Travelling Fairs 26/27 

11. Provisional Statements 27/28 

12. Location and Local Area Risk Assessments 28-30 

13. The Application and Decision Making Process 31 

14. Representations and Hearings 31/32 

15. Licence Fees 32 

16. Conditions 32-34 

17. Door Supervisors 35 

18. Reviews           35-37 

Part C – Permits / Temporary and Occasional Use Notices 

1. Permits and Notices 38/39 

2. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machines 39/40 

3. Alcohol Licensed Premises Gaming Machine (Notifications and Permits) 40-42 

4. Prize Gaming Permits 42/43 

5. Club Gaming and Club Gaming Machine Permits 43-45 

6. Temporary Use Notices 46 

7. Occasional Use Notices 47 

Part D – Scheme of Delegation 

1. Administration and Exercise 48 

2. Delegation of Functions (Table of Delegations of Licensing Functions) 49 

Annexes 

Annex 1 - Map of the Borough: Licensed Gambling Premises 50 
Annex 2 - A list of consultees 51/52 

Annex 3 –Consultation responses       53-61 

Annex 4 –Gambling Best Practice Guide           62 

Annex 5 Sample conditions        6 3 - 6 5  

Annex 6 Local Area Profiles           66

Page 126



3  

Summary of Local Authority Gambling Policy 
 
1. Licensing local authorities in England and Wales have all been required by 

the Gambling Act 2005 to adopt a gambling policy following consultation. 

 
2. The following policy was adopted after consultation, including but not confined 

to the consultation required by the legislation. 

 
3. The policy has to be reviewed every three years and consequently it is now 

being sent out for a new round of consultation. Again the consultation will 
include but not be confined to the statutory consultation. 

 
4. The policy sets out in detail how the licensing authority will discharge its 

licensing functions under the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
5. There are three licensing objectives set out in the Act, as follows: 

• Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

• Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
• Protecting children and other vulnerable people from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling 

 
6. The main area of involvement for the licensing authority is protecting the 

vulnerable, and the licensing policy is largely devoted to seeking to achieve 
this, across the range of premises licences and permits which the authority 
will administer. 

 
7. The licensing authority approach to enforcement is defined. 

 
8. The scheme of delegation that defines the responsibility for decision making, 

administration and enforcement is also included. 
 

  

Page 127



4  

PART A – Introduction, Statements, and Licensing Objectives 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This Policy sets out the principles the London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

(Licensing Authority) will apply in exercising our function under the Gambling 
Act 2005 (the 2005 Act). 

 
1.2 The term ‘Licensing Authority’ will be used in all future references to ‘the 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets’ in this Policy. 
 
1.1 This Policy replaces the previous one published on 5

th
 December 2016 and 

covers the period from 5
th
 December 2019 to 4

th
 December 2022. 

 
1.2 The Licensing Authority will formally review this Policy every three years, as 

required by the 2005 Act.  However during this period we will keep it under 
review which will allow us to make any revisions we consider appropriate. 

 
1.3 This Policy is written with the view to promoting the three licensing objectives 

of the 2005 Act: 
 

i. Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 

ii. Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and 
iii. Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling. 
 
1.4 As part of this licensing authority’s approach to reduce gambling-related harm 

we support the Government proposals to reduce the maximum stakes for 
Fixed Odds Betting Terminals (FOBTs) to £2 and other measures regarding 
allocations of gaming machines and social responsibility measures to 
minimise the risk of gambling-related harm. 

 
Tower Hamlets Geographical Area 
 
1.5 This Policy applies to the whole of the London Borough of Tower Hamlets.  

The borough is a single tier authority on the East side of inner London 
covering an area of approximately 19 kilometers squared.  It extends from 
Victoria park in the north down to the Isle of Dogs in the South, and extends 
from the A12 in the east to Brick Lane and the Tower of London in the west.  A 
map of the geographical area of the borough can be found in Annex 1 and 
this shows where Gambling premises licences have been issued within the 
borough. 

 
1.6 The Licensing Authority has consulted widely upon its policy statement before 

finalising and publishing it.  A list of the persons and organisations consulted 
is provided in Annex 2 of the Policy adopted by the Licensing Authority. We 

have consulted businesses, elected representatives, community and third 
sector organisations and responsible authorities. 

Page 128



5  

 
1.7 The 2005 Act requires that the following parties are consulted by Licensing 

Authorities: 
 

 The Chief Officer of Police 

 One or more persons who appear to the authority represent the interests of 
persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area 

 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 
persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s 
functions under the Gambling Act 2005. 

 

1.8 The consultation took place between 4
th
 April 2019 and 27

th
 June 2019. The 

results of the consultation are summarised in Annex  3 

 
1.9 The policy has to be approved at a meeting of the Full Council published via 

our website as well as being available in the Town Hall and Idea Stores. 

 
1.10 It should be noted that this policy statement will not override the right of any 

person to make an application, make representations about an application, or 
apply for a review of a licence. Each will be considered on its own merits and 
according to the statutory requirements of the 2005 Act. 

 
1.11 We would like to encourage the highest standards within premises that hold a 

licence under the 2005 Act. To assist with this we have produced a ‘Gambling 
Best Practice Guide’ to assist both new applicants and existing operators. 

 

1.12 The list of recommended measures listed in Annex 4 is not exhaustive but 
gives an indication of some of the suitable measures and procedures that are 
expected in well managed premises. 

 

2. Policy Statement 

2.1 In producing this licensing policy the Licensing Authority has had regard to the 
2005 Act and the guidance and codes of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission and responses to the consultation on this policy. 

 
2.2 In accordance with our legal duty under the 2005 Act when exercising our 

licensing functions we shall aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in 
so far as we consider it to be: 

 
a) in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission, 

b) in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission, 

c) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives 

d) in accordance with this Policy and with reference to our Local Area Profile. 

 
 
2.3 This means that where possible we will aim to moderate the impact of 

Page 129



6  

gambling on the Borough for example by attaching conditions to licences, 
rather than aiming to prevent it all together. Nonetheless, we retain the 
discretion not to grant a premises licence where we consider that the 
application does is not in keeping with the matters listed in paragraph 2.2 
above. 

 
3 Licensing Authority Functions 

 
3.1 This Licensing Authority functions under the 2005 Act is limited to the following: 

 
a) Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to 

take place by issuing Premises Licences; 

b) Issue Provisional Statements ("in principle" licences where premises are not 
yet developed); 

c) Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to 
undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or 
Club Machine Permits; 

d) Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs (Commercial Clubs are 
member clubs that operate on a “for profit” basis); 

e) Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at 
unlicensed Family Entertainment Centers (Premises where low level 
gambling is permitted for children); 

f) Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 
2003) for the use of two or fewer gaming machines; 

g) Grant Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to 
sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the 
Licensing Act 2003, where more than two machines are required; 

h) Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds; 

i) Issue Prize Gaming Permits; 

j) Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices; 

k) Receive Occasional Use Notices; 

l) Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences 
issued (see section above on ‘information exchange); 

m) Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these 
functions; 

 
This list may be added to on the advice of the Gambling Commission. 

  

Page 130



7  

 
3.2 This licensing authority does not have powers to deal with any of the following 

as these fall within the remit of the Gambling Commission: 
 

a) remote gambling (Remote gambling is via the internet or interactive television), 

b) the National Lottery, 

c) operating licences, 

d) personal functional licences , 

e) personal management licences, 

f) gambling software, 

g) football pools, 

h) gaming machine manufacturers, 

i) gaming machine suppliers, 

j) gambling advertisements on television or other media, 

k) the number of gaming machines that can be used on premises, 

l) the value of the stakes or prizes allowed on gaming machines. 
 

Tower Hamlets Plan 
 
3.3 This policy has also takes into consideration the Tower Hamlets Plan 2018 -

23, which sets out the Tower Hamlets Partnership’s five year vision for the 
borough, articulating local aspirations, needs and priorities. It informs all other 
strategies and delivery plans of the partnership, including the council’s 
Strategic Plan. 

 
3.4 The key objective for Tower Hamlets Plan are:  

 tackling inequality by building a strong,  

 inclusive and fair borough. 
 

3.5 From this it has created four themes that it will focus on: 

 a better deal for children and young people: aspiration, education and skills 

 good jobs and employment 

 strong, resilient and safe communities 

 better health and wellbeing. 
 

To view the Tower Hamlets Plan please see the link below: 
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/community_and_living/community_plan/t
ower_hamlets_plan.aspx 

 
4 Competent body for the protection of children from harm 

 
4.1 The Licensing Authority is required to designate, in writing, a body which is 

competent to advise the Licensing Authority about the protection of children 
from harm.  When making this decision we have also had regard to Part 6 
of the Gambling Commission Guidance issued under section 25 of the 
2005 Act. 

 
4.2 In making our decision we have decided the body must be: 

 

Page 131

https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/community_and_living/community_plan/tower_hamlets_plan.aspx
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/community_and_living/community_plan/tower_hamlets_plan.aspx


8  

 responsible for child protection matters for an area covering the whole of 
the licensing authority’s area (the whole of the Tower Hamlets); 

 

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, 
rather than any particular vested interest group. 

 
4.3 The Licensing Authority is satisfied that the Local Safeguarding Children 

Board fulfils these requirements and have therefore designated Board as the 
competent body to advise on matters concerning the protection of children from 
harm or exploitation. 

 
4.4 The contact details of all the responsible authorities are found on the Council's 

website at www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/licensing. 
 

5 Interested parties 

 
5.1 This essential means those parties who can make representations relating to 

licence applications, or apply for a review of an existing licence. 
 
5.2 The 2005 Act defines Interested Parties as persons who, in the opinion of the 

licensing authority: 

 
a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 

authorised activities, 

b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, 

c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b) 

 
5.3 Licensing authorities are required to state in their policies the principles to 

be applied to determine whether a person is an interested party in relation to 
5.1 above. 

 

5.4 This Licensing Authority when determining whether a person is an interested 
party will consider each case upon its merits.  In doing so we may consider 
taking relevant factors into account such as: 

 
a) the size of the premises, and nature of the activities taking place (as a larger 

premises may be considered to affect people over a broader geographical 
area compared with smaller premises offering similar facilities). 

b) the distance of the premises from the usual residence or workplace of the 
person making the representation.  

c) the potential impact of the premises (numbers of customers, routes likely to 
taken by those visiting the premises).  

d) the circumstances of the person and nature of their interests, which may be 
relevant to the distance from the premises.  

 
 
 

Page 132

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/licensing


9  

 
 

5.5 The Licensing Authority will not apply a rigid rule to its decision making in 
regards to determining what constitutes an interested party, and will consider 
the examples of considerations provided in the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to local authorities.  For instance when deciding whether a person or 
organisation "has business interests" we will adopt a broad interpretation to 
include for example partnerships, charities, faith groups, and medical practices. 

 
5.6 We will follow the Gambling Commission’s Guidance and regard such bodies 

as trade associations and trade unions, and residents’ and tenants’ 
associations as interested parties.  However these bodies must be able 
demonstrate that they have a member who can be classed as an 
interested party under the 2005 Act i.e. paragraph 5.2 (a) above. 

 
5.7 We will consider democratically elected persons such as Councillors and MP’s 

as Interested parties on the condition that they provide written evidence that 
such elected persons ‘represents’ someone who falls under the description 
in paragraph 5.2 above.  A letter from one of these persons, requesting the 
representation will be sufficient. 

 

5.8 Individuals may wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their 
views. If Councillors take on a representative role they will not be able to be 
part of the decision making process. If they are a member of the Committee 
they must withdraw from any hearing relating to the application. 

 

6 Exchange of Information 
 

6.1 Licensing Authorities are required to set out their approach to the exchange of 
information with the Gambling Commission and other persons.  As such this 
section details how this Licensing Authority’s will exchange information that has 
been collected in carrying out its duties and responsibilities under the 2005 
Act.  

 
6.2 The Gambling Commission can require licensing authorities to provide specific 

information where it forms part of a register maintained under the 2005 Act, or 
is in the possession of the Licensing Authority in connection with the provision 
of the 2005 Act.  As part of this exchange of information this licensing 
authority like all others are required to submit a return to the Gambling 
Commission at the end of each financial year.  The information we submit as 
part of this return is as follows: 

 

 permits issued, 

 temporary use notices issued, 

 occasional use notices issued, 

 premises inspections conducted, 

 reasons for and outcomes of reviews. 
 

Page 133



10  

This data is is subsequently included in the Department for Communities and Local 
Government Single Data List. 

 
6.3 This policy covers the years 2019 to 2022, and we appreciate that the 

Gambling Commission within this period could change its requirements.  
Therefore this licensing authority will provide any other information requested to 
the Gambling Commission, provided it falls within the parameters detailed in 
paragraph 6.1 above. 

 
6.4 The principle that this licensing authority applies when exchanging information 

with the Gambling Commission or other persons in respect of our functions 
under the 2005 Act is that we will act in accordance with the provisions under 
this legislation and the provisions of the Data Protection Act1998 and any 
other associated legislation. 

 
6.5 The licensing authority will have regard to any guidance issued by the 

Gambling Commission and the Information Commissioner to Local Authorities 
on this matter, as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of 
State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
6.6 The Licensing Authority may exchange information with other persons listed 

below for the use of exercising our functions under the 2005 Act: 
 
a) constable or police force 
b) an enforcement officer 
c) a licensing authority 
d) HMRC 
e) the First Tier Tribunal 
f) the Secretary of State 
 
We do not currently have any protocols with these persons however if we do adopted 

an information exchange protocol with any persons it will be made available 
if requested. 

 
7 Inspection, compliance and enforcement 

 
7.1 The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority will be to 

ensure compliance with the Premises Licences and other permissions which we 
authorise, e.g. Granting Gaming Machine Permits in alcohol Licensed Premises.  
The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for the Operator and 
Personal Licences.  Concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming 
machines will not be dealt with by this licensing authority but will be notified to 
the Gambling Commission. 

 
7.2 As per the 2005 Act and Gambling Commission Guidance this section details 

this licensing authority’s principles that will apply in exercising our functions 
concerning inspection, compliance and enforcement functions, and instigating 
criminal proceedings. 

 

 

Page 134



11  

 

 

 
7.3 This Licensing Authority’s general principles of enforcement are set out in our 

Enforcement Policy, which follows the principals of the Enforcement Concordat.  
In addition we will be guided by the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for 
local authorities and will have regard for the Regulators Code.  Therefore 
we will endeavour to be: 

 

 Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary: 

Remedies should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified  
and minimised; 

 

 Accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be 

subject to public scrutiny; 

 Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and implemented 
fairly; 

 Transparent: regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple 

and user friendly; and 
 

 Targeted: regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise 

side effects 

 Avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as possible. 

 
7.4 The licensing authority expects premises licence holders to be fully aware of, 

and keep to, the terms of their licence.  Where Licence holders fail to adhere to 
the terms of their licence we will take appropriate enforcement action to 
ensure compliance.  We will pay particular attention in this respect where 
there are concerned that the licensing objective relating to children is not 
being met in full. 

 

7.5 This licensing authority also intends to monitor non-licensed gambling, a n d  
is especially concerned to stop non-destination gambling by children and 
young adults.  Non destination gambling is where the destination is not 
primarily a gambling premises and is mainly visited for a different purpose. 
This typically (but not exclusively) involves gaming machines in premisesopen 
to the public such as public houses 

 
7.6 This Licensing Authority will continue to keep informed of developments with 

the work from Central Government and sister organisations on the principles 
of Better Regulation Executive in its consideration of the regulatory functions.  
Bearing in mind the principle of transparency, this licensing authority’s 
enforcement/compliance protocols/written agreements will be available upon 
request to the licensing service and on the Council’s web site. Our risk 
methodology will also be available upon request. (A charge may be made for 
hard copies). 

 

 

 

Page 135



12  

 

 

 
7.7 We recognise that bookmakers and other operators may have a number of 

premises within Tower Hamlets. In order to ensure that compliance issues are 
recognised and dealt with at the earliest possible stage, operators are 
requested to give This licensing authority a single named contact., who should 
be a senior individual, and whom we will contact first should any compliance 
queries or issues arise.  We will however, reserves the right to institute 
proceedings, or take other action as necessary and consistent with our 
general policies. 

 
7.8 We will base our inspections and enforcement activity on the principles of risk 

assessment, a graduated response and the targeting of problem premises. 
We will not routinely carry out full premises inspections and the frequency of 
inspections will be determined on risk-based criteria with high- risk operations 
receiving more attention than premises deemed to be of low risks.  

 
7.9 We use the templates inspection forms produced by the Leicester, Rutland 

and Leicestershire Licensing Forum and Leicestershire Local Economic 
Partnership. 

 
7.10 During visits/inspections the Council may request that operators / premises 

share:- 
 

 Local area risk assessments 
 
This information will help the Council to get a clearer picture of which premises may 

be experiencing issues, meaning that the inspection and enforcement activity 
is appropriately structured, and targeted.  In some circumstances and where 
proportionate to do so the Council may also request premises share: 

 test purchasing results (subject to the terms of primary authority agreements) 
; 

 incidents in premises, which managers are likely to be required to report to 
head office; 

 information about numbers of self-excluded gamblers to help it develop its 
understanding about the risk of problem gambling in its area. 

 
Such request to share such data will be in consultation with the Operators, and the 

Gambling Commission.  
 
7.11 As per Gambling Commission Guidance and Codes of Practice, Operators are 

required to share their risk assessments with licensing authority when they 
are applying for a new premises licence or applying to vary an existing 
premises licence, and at the request of this licensing authority, such as when 
we are inspecting a premises. 
 

 

Page 136



13  

7.12 Additionally, responsible authorities and interested parties under the 2005 Act 
may seek a review of a premises licence if they feel the premises are not 
properly upholding the licensing objectives.  

 

8 The Licensing Objectives 

 
8.1 The 2005 Act sets out three licensing objectives, and in exercising its functions 

under the 2005 Act this licensing authority must have regard to these licensing 
objectives, which are: 

 
1) Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 

associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 
2) Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; 
3) Protecting children and other vulnerable people from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling. 
 
8.2 This licensing authority expects operators to implement measures to mitigate 

risks to the licensing objectives and to consider and address measures 
contained in this section when preparing their risk assessments.  Operators 
should also have regard to our local area profile, which will identify possible 
existing or emerging risks within Tower Hamlets. 

 
8.3 The Gambling Commission’s guidance emphasises that moral objections to 

gambling, or a view that it is generally undesirable are not licensing objectives 
and cannot inform any decisions by the licensing authority.  Moreover neither 
public safety nor public nuisance are licensing objectives and so cannot be 
considered when determining applications.  These issues will largely be dealt 
with by the Council’s Environmental Health Service via other primary 
legislation. 

 
8.4 This licensing authority recognises that in making decisions about premises 

licences and temporary use notices it should aim to permit the use of 
premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it is:- 

 

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission, 

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission, 

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives in accordance with the 
authorities statement of licensing policy. 

 
8.5 We will not consider whether the applicant is suitable to apply for a premises 

licence because the Gambling Commission would have already addressed 
this issue when granting the operator’s licence. However, if any issues arise 
during the application process or after we have granted a licence that causes 
us to question the suitability of the applicant or licence holder, we will bring 
this to the attention of the Commission.  

 
 
 

Page 137



14  

8.6 The Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice 
(LCCP) (Social Responsibility Code) require gambling premises to undertake 
a local risk assessment taking into consideration their local information. 
Specific information about localities is provided in this policy at Annex 6. 

 
 

8.7 The risk assessment is required to be shared with the Council where there is 
a new application and or a variation to an existing premises licence. 

 
Objective 1:  Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or 

disorder, being associated with crime or disorder or being used to 
support crime 

 
8.8 When considering applications we will always take the location of the 

premises into account with regard to the crime and disorder objective.  We will 
have particular regard to premises situated in areas of Tower Hamlets that 

represent a higher risk of potential vulnerability to gambling‐related harm as 
where indicated in our local area profile.  

8.9 When preparing their risk assessments we expect applicants to consider the 
following measures:  

 
a) measures or actions to address crime and disorder issues around the design, 

layout or the look and feel of the premises. This may include steps to ‘design 
out crime’ such as changing layout, positioning of registers, CCTV, lighting 
and so on, 

b) measures to address the reoccurrence of any historical crime and disorder 
issues, 

c) changes to opening hours, where it is felt that amending them would address 
or reduce the specific concern around crime and disorder, 

d) whether the licensee should participate in any relevant council strategy that 
relates (or have aspects relating) to crime and disorder, 

e) whether training should be given to staff around crime prevention measures 
appropriate to the premises, 

f) where premises are subject to age restrictions, whether additional procedures 
or measures could be put in place to conduct age verification checks, better 
supervision of entrances/age restricted machines, or to ensure there is better 
segregation between age restricted areas of the premises,  

g) whether the premises has door supervisors or security, 
h) if the licence or variation is granted, the likelihood that the grant will result in 

violence, public disorder or problems in respect of policing. 
 
This list is not exhaustive and simply indicates the types of measures that operators 
should consider in relation to crime and disorder.  

  

Page 138



15  

 
Objective 2: Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

 
8.10 This licensing authority has noted that ensuring that gambling is conducted in 

a fair and open way is a matter for the Gambling Commission, as the way 
gambling products are provided are subject to the conditions of the operator 
licence or personal licences.  This will not be the case if the licensing authority 
becomes involved in licensing betting track operators, or if we suspect that 
gambling is not being conducted in a fair and open way.  In both cases we will 
bring this to the attention of the Gambling Commission. 
 

 

Objective 3: Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being    
harmed or exploited by gambling 

 
8.11 In consultation with Public Health within this Council gambling related harms 

could be defined as “the adverse impacts from gambling on the health and 
wellbeing of individuals, families, communities and societies”, as suggested by 
the Responsible Strategy Gambling Board. These harms affect resources, 
relationships and health.  The impact from them may be short-lived but can be 
durable, having enduring consequences and exacerbating existing 
inequalities. 

 
8.12 This Licensing Authority is will always take the location of the premises into 

account with regard to the children and vulnerable persons licensing objective 
when considering applications.  We will have particular regard to premises 
situated in areas of Tower Hamlets that represent a higher risk of potential 

vulnerability to gambling‐related harm where this is indicated in our local area 
profile.  

 
In order to explain this licensing objective clearly, we have separated it into Children 

and vulnerable people. 
 
Children  
 
8.13 Protecting children from being harmed or exploited by gambling means:  

 
a) preventing children from taking part in gambling and, 
b) restricting activities such as advertising, so that gambling products are not 

aimed at or appear attractive to children. 
 
8.14 To ensure the above we will pay particular attention to licence applications for 

premises situated near schools or areas where there may be a high 
concentration of children or families.  We will expect applicants to have 
carefully considered their operation and any potential for exposing children 
and young people to gambling.  Where the Gambling Premises requires a 
restriction to not admit persons under 18 to the gambling premises or area 
operators should demonstrate policies and procedures that will prevent 
children and young people from entering such premises/area or partaking in 
gambling activities. 

Page 139



16  

 
8.15 When considering the operators risk assessment, we will assess the 

measures the operator has in place to mitigate the risks to this licensing 
objective. Following which we will decide whether further specific measures 
are required at particular premises such as  

 
a) supervision of entrances to the premises  
b) supervision of gaming machines and  
c) the separation of certain areas within the premises  

 
8.16 Where category C, B or A machines are on offer in premises to which children 

are admitted we will ensure:  
 

a) all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated 
from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective in 
preventing access other than through a designated entrance, 

b) the premises has appropriate signage indicating that access to that area 
where such machines are located is restricted to persons under the age of 18  

c) only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located  
d) access to the area where the machines are located is supervised  
e) the area where the machines are located is arranged so that the staff or the 

licence holder can observe it.  
 

Separate requirements apply to alcohol-licensed premises that hold a gaming 
machine permit.  These are detailed later on in this Policy. 

 
Safeguarding against Child Sexual exploitation (CSE) 

 
8.17 The Council acknowledges that CSE awareness does not just apply to 

children on licensed premises, particularly as children are not permitted to 
access most gambling premises. However applicants should be equally aware 
of children in the proximity of the premises that may be waiting for, older 
persons. 

 
8.18 Applicants are encouraged to ensure that suitable management controls are in 

place to safeguard children against the risk of CSE as part of promoting this 
objective (Objective 3) but also Objective 1 above.  . Measures may include, 
but are not limited to: 

 

 awareness training for staff; 

 regular patrols of the premises, including external areas and the immediate 
proximity, to identify any vulnerable children; 

 close monitoring of patrons as they leave the premises; 

 recording and reporting concerns to the police. 
 
8.19 The Council expects applicants to be aware of ‘risk indicators’ of CSE which 

include, but are not limited to: 

 developing relationships between a child and an older person; 

 children in the company of a group of older persons; 

Page 140



17  

 children regularly attending premises and meeting with a number of 
different older persons, particularly where older persons may be facilitating 
gambling for children; 

 children outside of licensed premises developing relationships with an older 
person, particularly an older person facilitating gambling for children; 

 children leaving the locality of the premises with older persons, particularly 
with a group of older persons; 

 children looking uncomfortable in the company of, or leaving with, older 
persons, particularly groups of older persons. 

 
8.20 Whilst the Council does not wish to create the impression that all contact 

between children and older persons is inappropriate, it believes that licence 
holders should be aware of the risks of CSE and should proactively manage 
their premises to minimise the risks. 

 
Vulnerable People  
 
8.21 This Licensing Authority does not seek to stop particular groups of adults from 

gambling or gaming in the same way that we seek to stop children. However, 
we are concerned about the potential for vulnerable people to be harmed or 
exploited by gambling.  
 

8.22 The Gambling Commission Guidance does not seek to define ‘vulnerable 
persons’ however, for regulatory purposes, it does assume that vulnerable 
persons includes the following: 

 

a) people who gamble more than they want to,  
b) people who gamble beyond their means, 
c) people who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions 

about gambling due to, for example, mental health, a learning disability or 
substance misuse relating to alcohol or drugs. 

 
8.23 This Licensing Authority recognises that there are many serious issues that 

can be a consequence of problem gambling, and therefore presents a greater 
risk of harm to vulnerable persons. These can include but are not limited to: 

 
a) job loss and absenteeism, 

b) poor work/study performance,  

c) stress depression and anxiety,  

d) suicide, 

e) poor health, 

f) financial hardship, debts and bankruptcy, 

g) resorting to crime/theft and imprisonment, 

h) neglect of family, 

i) impacts on others, 

j) relationship breakdown, 

k) domestic violence. 
 
 

Page 141



18  

8.24 Problem gambling, particularly with the young, can sometimes be an 
indication of other issues, such as anti-social behaviour problems. When we 
become aware of issues associated with problem gambling and vulnerable 
people, we will seek to work closely with the gambling premises operator, the 
Gambling Commission and other relevant services within the Council.  
 

8.25 This Licensing Authority will have regard to our local area profile and pay 
particular attention to applications for premises near venues where, for 
example, Gamblers Anonymous groups (or similar) meet, residential homes, 
hospitals or other premises where vulnerable as per paragraph 8.22 above 
reside or visit, when dealing with gambling premises applications.  In 
considering the above, we will base our decision on whether the proximity of 
the premises to the vulnerable group is likely to present a risk to this licensing 
objective.  Where we have relevant evidence, we may consider the likelihood 
of vulnerable people using the premises, whether they have other reason to 
be in the proximity or not. This could be, as an example, through complaints 
made to us or through representations made about an application.  

 
8.26 When determining an application and this issue is raised, we will also take 

into account the operator’s risk assessment and assess the controls that are 
in place (or will be in place) to protect vulnerable people and promote the 
licensing objectives at the premises. Depending on the circumstances, we 
may have particular regard to:  

 
a) the size of the premises, 

b) staffing levels at the premises, 

c) procedures in place to identify a vulnerable person and to stop a 
vulnerable person from gambling, 

d) the location and type of gaming machines on the premises, 

e) arrangements in place to supervise the gaming machines. 
 

8.27 This Licensing Authority encourages operators to consider participation in 
voluntary best practice or certification schemes, such as GamCare’s Safer 
Gambling Standard to assist in their promotion of the objective of Protecting 
children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling. 

  

Page 142



19  

PART B - Premises Licences and other matters 
 
1 General Principles 

 
1.1 Premises licences will be subject to the requirements set out in the Gambling 

Act 2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions 
which will be detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State. 
Licensing authorities are able to exclude default conditions and also attach 
others, where it is believed to be appropriate. 

 
2 Duplication with other regulatory regimes and licensing objectives 

 

2.1 This licensing authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory / 
regulatory systems where possible, including planning. We will not consider 
whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning or building 
consent, in its consideration of it.  The 2005 Act makes it clear that a licensing 
authority must not have regard to whether or not a proposal by the applicant is 
likely to be permitted in accordance with planning or building law when 
considering applications.  However we will listen to, and consider carefully, any 
concerns about conditions which are not able to be met by licensees due to 
planning restrictions, should such a situation arise. 

 
3 Premises 

 
3.1 Premises are defined in the 2005 Act as “any place”.  Different premises 

licences cannot apply in respect of a single premises at different times. 
However it is possible for a single building to be subject to more than one 
premises licence provided they are for different parts of the building. Different 
parts of the building can reasonably regarded as being separate premises will 
always be a question of fact in the circumstances. However areas of a building 
that is artificially or temporarily separate can be properly regarded as different 
premises. 

 
3.2 A premises licences can authorise the provision of facilities for the following 

types of premises :  
a) casino  

b) bingo  

c) betting, including tracks and premises used by betting intermediaries  

d) adult gaming centre (AGC)  

e) licensed family entertainment centre (FEC) 
 
3.3 The processing of applications for premises licences is our main function in 

terms of local gambling regulation and a key means by which we can ensure 
that risks to the licensing objectives are mitigated effectively.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 143



20  

3.4 This licensing authority will take particular note of the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to local authorities that: - 

 

 "Licensing authorities should take particular care in considering 
applications for multiple licences for a building and those relating to a 
discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes. In 
particular they should be aware that entrances and exits from parts of a 
building covered by one or more licences should be separate and 
identifiable so that the separation of different premises is not 
compromised and that people do not “drift” into a gambling area" 

 

 "Licensing authorities should pay particular attention to applications 
where access to the licensed premises is through other premises (which 
themselves may be licensed or unlicensed), especially if this raises 
issues in relation to children. There will be specific issues that authorities 
should consider where children can gain access; compatibility of the two 
establishments; and ability to comply with the requirements of the Act. 
But, in addition an overriding consideration should be whether, taken as 
a whole, the co-location of the licensed premises with other facilities has 
the effect of creating an arrangement that otherwise would, or should, be 
prohibited under the Act." 

 
4 Adult Gaming Centers (AGC) 

 
4.1 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 

children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and 
will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the 
premises. 

 
Appropriate licence conditions may cover issues such as: 

 

 Proof of age schemes 

 CCTV 

 Door supervisors 

 Supervision of entrances / machine areas 

 Physical separation of areas 

 Location of entry 

 Notices / signage 

 Specific opening hours 

 Self-barring schemes 

 Provision of information leaflets/ helpful numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare 

 
4.2 This list is neither mandatory nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative. 

 
 
 
 

Page 144



21  

 
 
4.3 An AGC premises is entitled to the following allocation of gaming machines:  
 

If the licence was granted on or after 13 July 2011:  
a) a maximum of 20% of the total number of gaming machines which are 

available for use on the premises may be category B3 or B4 (but not B3A) 
machines  

b) any number of Category C or D machines  
 

If the licence was granted before 13 July 2011:  
a) four category B3 or B4 (but not B3A) machines, or 20% of the total number 

of gaming machines which are available for use on the premises, 
whichever is the greater  

b) any number of Category C or D machines  

 
5 Licensed Family Entertainment Centers FEC 
 
5.1 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 

children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and 
will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult 
only gaming machine areas. Appropriate licence conditions may cover issues 
such as: 

 Proof of age schemes 

 CCTV 

 Door supervisors 

 Supervision of entrances / machine areas 

 Physical separation of areas 

 Location of entry 

 Notices / signage 

 Specific opening hours 

 Self-barring schemes 

 Provision of information leaflets/ helpful numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare 

 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school 
children on the premises 

 
This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, is it merely indicative. 

 

5.2 An FEC are allowed any number of Category C or D gaming machines.  
However where children and young persons are permitted to enter an FEC 
and may use category D machines. Persons under the age of 18 years are 
not permitted to use category C machines and it is a requirement that there 
must be clear segregation between the two types of machine, so that under-
18s do not have access to them. 

 

 

 

Page 145



22  

 

 
5.3 This licensing authority will, in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s 

guidance, refer to the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply 
to operator licences covering the way in which the area containing the category 
C. Category C machines give a higher payout than children are permitted to 
use should be delineated. This licensing authority will also make itself aware of 
any mandatory or default conditions on these premises licences, when they 
have been published. 

 
6 Casinos 

 
6.1 Section 166 of the 2005 Act, allows licensing authorities to resolve not to issue 

casino premises licences. This licensing authority has consulted with residents 
and businesses to seek their views before deciding whether to make such a 
resolution. As a result of the consultation the council has resolved not to issue 
casino premises licences. This was decided by Full Council on 18

th
 

September 2013. 

 
7 Bingo premises 

 
7.1 Gambling Commission Guidance identifies Bingo as “equal chance gaming”, 

and has published its view on what Bingo is and how it differs from other forms 
of gambling.  To aid applicants we have attached this advice note to this policy, 
see Annex 4.  However it must be stressed that this advice note from the 
Gambling Commission does not alter the meaning of Bingo as described in the 
2005 Act.  It merely seeks to offers the advice to help bingo operators avoid 
creating and offering products that the Gambling Commission considers to be 
casino games, lotteries or fixed odds betting. 
 

7.2 A bingo premises licence allows the primary activity of bingo and the following 
allocation of gaming machines 

 
If the licence was granted on or after 13 July 2011: 

a) a maximum of 20% of the total number of gaming machines which are 
available for use on the premises may be category B3 or B4 (but not B3A) 
machines 

b) any number of Category C or D machines 
 
If the licence was granted before 13 July 2011: 

a) eight category B3 or B4 (but not B3A) machines, or 20% of the total number 
of gaming machines which are available for use on the premises, whichever 
is the greater 

b) any number of Category C or D machines  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 146



23  

7.3 Bingo premises and children/young persons (persons under 18 years).  
Children and Young persons are allowed into Bingo Premises.  However where 
a premises allows children/young persons into the premises they are not 
permitted to participate in Bingo.  Moreover where the premises has Category 
B or C gaming machines available for use these must be separated from where 
children/young persons are permitted. 

 
7.4 As per Gambling Permission Guidance this licensing authority will follow the 

Social Responsibility Code, which states that all licensees must ensure that 
they their policies and procedures take account of the structure and layout of 
their premises in order to prevent underage gambling.  This may include 
effective measure to ensure: 

 

 all category B or C gaming machines are located in an area of the 
premises separate from the remainder of the premises by a physical 
barrier which is effective to prevent access other than through a 
designated entrance; 

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located; 

 access to the area where these machines are located are supervised; 

 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be 
observed by staff of the operator or the licence holder; and 

 at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently 
displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18."; 

 Effective monitoring procedures to ensure that children do not participate 
in bingo. 

 
7.5 This licensing authority is aware that the Gambling Commission is going to 

issue further guidance about the particular issues that licensing authorities 
should take into account in relation to the suitability and layout of bingo 
premises. This guidance will be considered by this licensing authority once it is 
made available. 

 
8 Betting Premises 

 
8.1 Betting Machines - This licensing authority will have regard to the Gambling 

Commission’s Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, the 
number of counter positions available for person-to-person transactions, and 
the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young 
persons (it is an offence for those under 18 years to bet) or by vulnerable 
people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting 
machines an operator wants to offer. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 147



24  

8.2 We expect such premises to have clear policies and procedures in place to 
ensure that staff have clear line of sight to ensure staff can monitor the use of 
Betting Machines to ensure that vulnerable such as problem gamblers can be 
identified and dealt with as per operators Social Responsibilities Policies and 
Procedures.  This will mean that staff within such premises should be 
appropriately trained to identifies such persons and know their employers 
policies and procedures to enable them to correctly assist vulnerable persons 
to reduce the risk of gambling related harm. 

 
8.3 A betting premises licence allows the primary activity of betting and the 

following allocation of gaming machines  
a) Maximum of four gaming machines of categories B2, B3, B4, C or D 

(excluding category B3A).  
 

8.4 Holders of a Betting Premises licence are permitted (at our discretion) to have 
betting machines, known as Self-service Betting Terminals (SSBTs). A SSBTs 
is different from a gaming machine as it is designed or adapted to allow betting 
on “real events”. For example, some premises may have betting machines that 
accept bets on live events, such as horse racing as a substitute for placing a 
bet in person over the counter.  
 

8.5 Licensing Authorities have powers to restrict the number of SSBTs in certain 
premises Betting Premises and Casinos). This restriction is done via adding 
conditions to the premises licence. When considering whether to impose a 
condition to restrict the number of SSBTs in particular premises, this licensing 
authority, amongst other things, will take into account the ability of employees 
to monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons or by 
vulnerable people.  We will also consider the nature of SSBT and the 
circumstances by which they are made available. This may include: 

 
 

a) the size of the premises 
b) the number of counter positions available for transactions; and/or 
c) the number of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and 

young persons or vulnerable people. 
d) whether the machines have been, or are likely to be used in breach of 

the licensing objectives. 
 
9 Tracks – (This section refers to where racing takes place, such as horse 

or greyhound racing) and other matters 

 
9.1 This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more 

than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of 
the track. In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, this 
licensing authority will especially consider the impact upon the third licensing 
objective (i.e. the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling) and the need to ensure that entrances to 
each type of premises are distinct and that children are excluded from 
gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter. 

 

Page 148



25  

 

 

 

9.2 This licensing authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicant to 
demonstrate suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to 
adult only gaming facilities. It is noted that children and young persons will be 
permitted to enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days 
when dog racing and/or horse racing takes place, but that they are still 
prevented from entering areas where gaming machines (other than category D 
machines) are provided 

 
9.3 This licensing authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to 

meet the licensing objectives however appropriate measures / licence 
conditions may cover issues such as: 

 

 Proof of age schemes 

 CCTV 

 Supervision of entrances / machine areas 

 Physical separation of areas 

 Location of entry 

 Notices / signage 

 Specific opening hours 

 Self-baring schemes 

 Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such 
as GamCare 

 
9.4 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 

measures. 
 

9.5 Track Premises are permitted to have the following gaming machines in the 
following circumstances: 

 

a) Where the owners hold both a Track Premises Licence and a Pool Betting 
Operating Licence (issued by the Gambling Commission) they may site up 
to four category B2 to D machines on the track; 

b) Tracks that that hold an alcohol licence are automatically entitled under 
s.282 of the 2005 Act to have two gaming machines of category C or D 
(please note to activate this entitlement the premises must notify the 
licensing authority, see Part C below for more information); 
 

c) Track premises that fall into both a and b above, i.e. have an alcohol licence 
and hold both a Track Premises and Pool Betting Operating Licences are 
may have six gaming machines (two via the alcohol licence and four via the 
premises/operating licences). 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 149



26  

 
 

9.6 Track Premises that hold a Pool Betting Licence will have conditions that the 
operator must have and put into effect policies and procedures designed to 
prevent underage gambling, and monitor the effectiveness of these.  As a result 
this licensing authority will take into account the size of the premises and the 
ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young 
persons (it is an offence for those under 18s to bet) or by vulnerable people, 
when considering the number /nature / circumstances of betting machines an 
operator wants to offer. It will also take note of the Gambling Commission’s 
suggestion that licensing authorities will want to consider restricting the 
number and location of such machines in respect of applications for track 
betting premises licences. 

 
9.7 Condition on rules being displayed - The Gambling Commission has advised 

in its Guidance for local authorities that “licensing authorities should attach a 
condition to track premises licences requiring the track operator to ensure that 
the rules are prominently displayed in or near the betting areas, or that other 
measures are taken to ensure that they are made available to the public. For 
example, the rules could be printed in the race-card or made available in 
leaflet form from the track office.” 

 
9.8 Applications and plans - This licensing authority awaits regulations setting- out 

any specific requirements for applications for premises licences but is in 
accordance with the Gambling Commission’s suggestion “To ensure  that 
licensing authorities gain a proper understanding of what they are being asked 
to license they should, in their licensing policies, set out the information that 
they will require, which should include detailed plans for the racetrack itself 
and the area that will be used for temporary “on- course” betting facilities 
(often known as the “betting ring”) and in the case of dog tracks and horse 
racecourses fixed and mobile pool betting  facilities operated by the Tote or 
track operator, as well as any other proposed gambling facilities.” And that 
“Plans should make clear what is being sought for authorisation under the 
track betting premises licence  and what, if any, other areas are to be subject 
to a separate application for a different type of premises licence.” 

 
9.9 This licensing authority also notes that in the Gambling Commission’s view that 

it would be preferable for all self-contained premises operated by off-course 
betting operators on track to be the subject of separate premises licences, to 
ensure that there is clarity between the respective responsibilities of the track 
operator and the off-course betting operator running a self-contained unit on 
the premises. 

 
10 Travelling Fairs 

 
10.1 It will fall to this licensing authority to decide whether, and where category D 

machines and / or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made 
available for use at travelling fairs.  This will be decided on the condition that 
the statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling must be ancillary 
amusement at the fair and not its main purpose. 

Page 150



27  

 
 
10.2 The licensing authority will expect applicants to show how they will meet the 

licensing objectives, in particular in relation to children and young persons. 
 
10.3 The licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the 

statutory definition of a travelling fair in that it must not be on a site that has 
been used for fairs on more than 27 days per calendar year. 

 
10.4 The 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair is per 

calendar year, and that it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs are 
held.  This is regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs 
occupying the land. This licensing authority will work with its neighbouring 
authorities to ensure that land which crosses our boundaries is monitored so 
that the statutory limits are not exceeded. 

 
11 Provisional StatementsDevelopers may wish to apply for a provisional 

statement before entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land. This 
may allow the developer to judge whether a development is worth taking 
forward in light of the need to obtain a premises Licence. There is no need for 
the applicant to hold an operating licence in order to apply for a provisional 
statement.  

 
11.2 A person can to make an application for a provisional statement in respect of 

premises that they:  
a) expect to construct, 
b) expect to alter or, 
c) expect to acquire a right to occupy.  

 
11.3 Whilst applicants for premises licences must hold or have applied for an 

operating licence from the Commission (except in the case of a track), and 
they must have the right to occupy the premises in respect of which their 
premises licence application is made, these restrictions do not apply in relation 
to an application for a provisional statement. 

 
11.4 In circumstances where an applicant has also applied to the Gambling 

Commission for an operating licence, the Gambling Commission has stated 
that licensing authorities should not speculate on or otherwise take into 
account the likelihood of an operating licence being granted in its 
consideration of the application for a provisional statement. 

 
11.5 The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the 

same as that for a premises licence application and thus must be 
accompanied by plans and the prescribed fee. The applicant is obliged to give 
notice of the application in the same way as applying for a premises licence. 
Responsible authorities and interested parties may make representations and 
there are rights of appeal.  

 
 
 

Page 151



28  

 
11.6 Following the construction, alteration or acquirement of the premises for which 

the provisional statement relates to, the licence holder may subsequently 
apply for a premises licence. The Licensing Authority will be constrained in the 
matters we can consider when determining the premises licence application, 
and in terms of representations about premises licence applications that follow 
the grant of a provisional statement, no further representations from relevant 
authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless:  

 
a) they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the 

provisional statement stage, or  
b) they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.  

 
11.7 In addition, the Licensing Authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it 

on terms different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by 
reference to matters:  
a) which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional statement 

application stage;  
b) which in our opinion reflect a change in the operator’s circumstances; or  
c) where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan 

submitted with the application. This must be a substantial change to the 
plan. We can discuss any concerns we may have with the applicant before 
making a decision.  

 

12 Location and Local Risk AssessmentsThis licensing authority is aware that 
demand issues (for example whether or not there is sufficient customer 
demand to make a site commercially viable) cannot be considered with regard 
to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the licensing 
objectives can. In line with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local 
authorities, this authority will pay particular attention to the protection of 
children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, 
as well as issues of crime and disorder. 

 
12.2 It is the licensing authority's view that premises close to schools, playgrounds, 

or other educational establishments such as museums should not normally be 
licensed.  However any such policy does not preclude any application being 
made and each application will be decided on its merits, with the onus upon 
the applicant showing how the concerns can be overcome. 

 

12.3 The licensing authority will need to be satisfied that there is sufficient evidence 
that the particular location of the premises would not be harmful to the 
licensing objectives. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
12.4 From 6

th
 April 2016, the Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and 

Page 152



29  

Codes of Practice (LCCP) made it a requirement under the Social 
Responsibility (SR) code, for licensees to assess the local risks to the 
licensing objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at their 
premises, and have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate 
those risks. In making local risk assessments, licensees must take into 
account relevant matters identified in this policy and local area profile. 

 
12.5 The LCCP states that licensees must undertake a local risk assessment 

when applying for a new premises licence and this must be reviewed and 
update as necessary: 
 
a) to take account of significant changes in local circumstance, including 

those identified in this policy; 

b) when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may 
affect their mitigation of local risks; 

c) when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and; 

d) in any case, undertake alocal assessment when applying for a new 
premises licence. 

 

12.6 Licence holders are also required to provide this licensing authority with a copy 
of their local risk assessment when applying for a premises licence or applying 
for a variation to an existing premises licence. We can also request a copy of 
the local risk assessment at any other time, for example, when we are 
inspecting premises.  

 
12.7 Where concerns exist or new risks emerge we may ask a licence holder to 

provide a copy of their local risk assessment, setting out the measures they 
have in place to address specific concerns. Licence holders may wish to 
consider the benefit of making their local risk assessment available to 
responsible authorities and interested parties.  

 

12.8 The licensing authority expects the local risk assessment to consider as a 
minimum issues presented by the local landscape, such as; 

 

 Exposure to vulnerable groups; 

 Identification of local specific risks; 

 Type of footfall – children, visitors, families, residents; 

 Educational facilities; 

 Community Centers; 

 Homelessness /rough sleeper hostels, provision of support services. 

 
12.9 In any case the local risk assessment should show how vulnerable people, 

including people with gambling dependencies, are protected. 

 
 
 

 
12.10 Other matters that the assessment may include: 

Page 153



30  

 The training of staff in brief intervention when customers show signs of 
excessive gambling, the ability of staff to offer brief intervention and how 
the manning of premises affects this. 

 Details as to the location and coverage of working CCTV cameras, and 
how the system will be monitored. 

 The layout of the premises so that staff have an unobstructed view of 
persons using the premises; 

 The number of staff that will be available on the premises at any one time. 
If at any time that number is one, confirm the supervisory and monitoring 
arrangements when that person is absent from the licensed area or 
distracted from supervising the premises and observing those persons 
using the premises. 

 Arrangements for monitoring and dealing with under age persons and 
vulnerable persons, which may include dedicated and trained personnel, 
leaflets, posters, self-exclusion schemes, window displays and 
advertisements not to entice passers-by etc.   

 The provision of signage and documents relating to games rules, gambling 
care providers and other relevant information is provided in both English 
and the other prominent first language for that locality. 

 Where the application is for a betting premises licence, other than in 
respect of a track, the location and extent of any part of the premises which 
will be used to provide facilities for gambling in reliance on the licence. 

 
12.11 To assist operators, Annex 6 sets out the Council’s Gambling Local Area 

Profiles criteria.  In connection with this the Council recognises the Gambling 
Commissions National Strategy to Reduce Gambling Harms, and supports the 
two strategy aims: 
 

 Prevention and Education – making significant progress towards a clear 
public health prevention plan which includes the right mix of interventions. 
 

 Treatment and Support – delivering truly national treatment and support 
options that meet the needs of users. 

 

The full Strategy can be viewed here: 
http://www.reducinggamblingharms.org/ 

 
Licence holders and Operators should have regard to this Strategy when 
undertaking their local risk assessment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
13 The application and decision making processWhen this Licensing we 

receives an application for a premises licence, we must consult interested 

Page 154

http://www.reducinggamblingharms.org/


31  

parties and responsible authorities as set out in Part A above. These 
interested persons/responsible authorities can make comments about 
applications for premises licences, which are known formally as 
‘representations’.  
 

13.2 Generally, where we receive a valid representation, i.e. it relates to either the 
licensing objectives, matters in this Policy or the Gambling Commissions 
Codes or Practice or Guidance, we will normally refer the application to the 
Licensing Committee or Sub-Committee for determination at a hearing. In 
determining applications, the Committee shall aim to permit the use of 
premises for gambling in so far as we consider it to be: 
 
a) in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice or guidance issued by 

the Gambling Commission, 
b) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives, 
c) in accordance with this Policy. 

 
13.3 The Committee cannot consider any of the following when determining an 

application: 
 
a) moral objections (Licensing Authorities cannot base their decision on a 

dislike of gambling, or a general notion that it is undesirable to allow 
gambling premises in within their area), 

b) planning (as detailed earlier in this policy Licensing Authorities cannot have 
regard to planning or building control permissions or any planning 
restrictions when deterring applications under the 2005 Act),  

c) demand (Licensing Authorities cannot take into account issues around the 
demand for gambling premises). 

 
14 Representations and Hearings Where this licensing authority receives a 

representation from an interested party or responsible authority, we must first 
confirm that it is a valid representation.  
 

14.2 For a representation to be valid it must be: 
 

a) Made by an Interested Party or a Responsible Authority, 
b) Not be considered to be vexatious or frivolous, 
c) Be relevant to application, 
d) Detail how the application will negatively affect one or more of the licensing 

objectives. 
 
 
 
 
 

14.3 Where an interested party or responsible authority makes a valid 
representation as mentioned above section 7 above we will refer the 
application to the Licensing Committee or Sub-Committee for determination at 
a hearing. Those who have made a valid representation should attend the 
hearing as failure to do so could reduce the weight that the Committee places 

Page 155



32  

on representation.  Where an interested person makes a representation and 
wishes to be represented by another person or organisation at the hearing 
they must give this licensing authority a written notice requesting to be 
represented by that person or organisation.  
 

14.4 Interested parties and responsible authorities can make representations about 
licence applications, or apply for a to review an existing licence (see below).  

 
14.5 As detailed in Section 5 of Part A above Trade associations, trade unions and 

residents and tenants’ associations can be interested parties, if they can 
demonstrate they are representing a member who lives sufficiently close to the 
premises, or is likely to be affected by the activities being applied for. Similarly 
Elected Councillors and MPs may also be interested parties provided they are 
acting on behalf of their constituents see Section 5 of Part A above for more 
information. 

 
15 Licence fees This Licensing Authority will calculate and collect fees from 

gambling operators to meet the costs of carrying out our licensing functions 
under the 2005 Act. The intention of the government is that fees will cover our 
costs for administration (including hearings and appeals), inspection and 
enforcement of the licensing regime.  Current fees are available on our 
website.  

 

16 ConditionsAny conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will 
be: 

 relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling 

facility 

 directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for; 

 fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises: and 

 reasonable in all other respects. 

 
16.2 Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, 

although there will be a number of control measures, this licensing authority 
will consider utilising should there be a perceived need, such as the use of 
door supervisors, supervision of adult gaming machines, appropriate signage 
for adult only areas. 

 
16.3 We will not duplicate any conditions or requirements attached to a premises 

licence by the Gambling Act, Gambling Commission Codes of Practice or 
Secretary of State (unless they are default conditions that we may substitute 
accordingly) or conditions attached to an operator’s licence or personal 
licence.  

 
16.4 The following are some but not all matters that operators are likely to be 

required to comply with by virtue of the 2005 Act, Regulations, mandatory 
conditions, default conditions or Codes of Practice:  

 
a) Proof of Age schemes, 
b) CCTV, 
c) supervision of entrances and machine areas, 

Page 156



33  

d) physical separation of areas, 
e) whether the premises may hold a licence to provide alcohol, 
f) location of entry to the premises, 
g) notices and signage about persons under 18 years of age not entering the 

premises, 
h) opening hours, 
i) self-barring schemes and, 
j) provision of information leaflets and helpline number of gambling self- help 

organisations.  
 

16.5 There are specific comments made in this regard under each of the licence 
types below. This licensing authority will also expect the licence applicant to 
offer his/her own suggestions as to way in which the licensing objectives can 
be met effectively. The licensing authority will consider the following specific 
measures in relation to all licensed premises, to the extent that they are 
relevant to a specific application: 

 

 Leaflets aimed at giving assistance to problem gamblers clearly displayed 
in prominent areas and also more discreet areas such as toilets; 

 Self-exclusion forms available; 

 The odds clearly displayed on all fixed odds machines; 

 All ATM or other cash terminals to be separate from gaming machines, so 
that clients have to leave the machines for more funds as required. They 
should also display stickers with GamCare (or replacement organisation) 
Helpline information prominently displayed; 

 There must be clear visible signs of any age restrictions in any gaming or 
betting establishments. Entrances to gambling and betting areas must be 
well supervised and age verification vetting operated; 

 Posters with details of GamCare’s (or replacement organisation) telephone 
number and website. 

The above list is not exhaustive. 
 

16.6 This licensing authority will also consider specific measures which may be 
required for buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences.  Such 
measures may include the supervision of entrances; segregation of 
Gambling from non-gambling areas frequented by children; and the 
supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific premises in 
order to pursue the licensing objectives. These matters are in accordance with 
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance. 

 
16.7 This licensing authority will also ensure that where category C or above 

machines are on offer in premises to which children are admitted: 

 

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is 
separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which 
is effective to prevent access other than through a designated entrance; 

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located; 

Page 157



34  

 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised the area 
where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed 
by the staff or the licence holder; and 

 at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently 
displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18. 

 

16.8 These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple 
premises licences are applicable. 

 

16.9 This licensing authority is aware that betting tracks may be subject to one or 
more than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified 
area of the track. As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, this licensing 
authority will consider the impact upon the third licensing objective and the 
need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that 
children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to 
enter. 

 

Conditions we cannot attach to licences 
 

16.10 It is recognised that there are conditions which the licensing authority cannot 
attach to premises licences which are: 

 
a) any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply 

with an operating licence condition, 
b) conditions that relate to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method 

of operation; 
c) conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required 

(the 2005 Act) specifically removes the membership requirement for casino 
and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated) and 

d) conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes 
 

Applicants will however need to demonstrate social responsibility and adhere 

to best practice in the protection of the vulnerable. 

 
 
 
 
 
17 Door Supervisors 

 
17.1 The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance for local authorities that 

licensing authorities may consider whether there is a need for door supervisors 
in terms of the licensing objectives of protection of children and vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, and also in terms of 
preventing premises becoming a source of crime. 

 

Page 158



35  

17.2 The Private Security Industry Act 2001 regulates the private security industry in 
England, Wales and Scotland, and is responsible for licensing individuals 
working within the various industry sectors. The majority of persons employed 
to work as door supervisors at premises licensed for gambling, and carrying out 
the functions listed under Schedule 2 Part 1 of the above act, will need to be 
licensed by the SIA. 

 
17.3 The above requirement however is relaxed when applied to door supervisors 

for casinos and bingo halls.  Where contracted staff are employed as door 
supervisors at casinos or bingo halls, such staff will need to be licensed by the 
SIA. However, in-house employees working as door supervisors these 
premises are exempt from these requirements.  Irrespective of this provision 
this licensing authority will require door supervisors used at these premises to 
be licensed. 

 
17.4 For other premises, where supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate 

any requirements for door supervisors or others will be on a case by case 
basis. In general betting offices will not require door supervisors for the 
protection of the public. A door supervisor will only be required if there is clear 
evidence that the premises cannot be adequately supervised from the counter 
and that door supervision is both necessary and proportionate. 

 

18 Reviews: 

 
18.1 This Licensing Authority may review a premises licence; or an interested party 

or responsible authority may apply to review a premises licence.  When 
determining whether to initiate a review, we shall have regard to our This 
Policy, Gambling Commission Guidance and the Council’s Enforcement 
Policy. 

 
18.2 This licensing authority will decide whether the review is to be carried-out. 

This will be on the basis of whether the request for the review is relevant to the 
matters listed below: 

 

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 

 in accordance with this policy. 

 the licensing authority can also initiate a review of a licence on the basis of 
any reason which it thinks is appropriate. 

 
18.3 We will also consider whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, will ‘certainly 

not’ cause this licensing authority to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or 
whether it is substantially the same as previous representations or requests 
for review (i.e. it is repetitive). 

18.4 The licensing authority may initiate a review of a particular premises licence, or 
particular class of premises licence where it is appropriate, for instants if: 
 

Page 159



36  

a) it has reason to suspect that premises licence conditions are not being 
observed, 

b) the premises is operating outside of the principles set out in the licensing 
authority’s statement of policy, 

c) there is evidence to suggest that compliance with the licensing objectives 
is at risk, 

d) for any other reason which gives them cause to believe that a review may 
be appropriate, such as a complaint from a third party. 

 
18.5 Applications for a review of a premises licence must be submitted to the 

Licensing Authority on a prescribed form.  The application must also state the 
reasons what the review is being requested, together with any supporting 
information and documents.  The applicant must also, within 7 days of making 
their application. 

 
18.6 Once this licensing authority receives a valid application for a review, 

responsible authorities and interested parties can make representations during 
a 28-day period. This period begins seven days after we receive the 
application. We will publish notice of the application within seven days of 
receipt, in line with the Gambling Act 2005 (Premises Licences)(Review) 
Regulations 2007.  Within this seven day period the applicant must provide a 
written notice of their application to the licence holder and all responsible 
authorities.  Failure to do this will halt the application process until this notice is 
received by these parties. 

 

18.7 We will carry out the review as soon as possible after the 28-day period for 
making representations has passed.  The review will be to determine whether 
we should take any action in relation to the licence. If action is justified, the 
options open to us are:  

 

a) add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by us  
b) exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State or remove or 

amend such an exclusion  
c) suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months and  
d) revoke the premises licence.  

 
18.8 In determining what action, if any, we should take following a review, we will 

have regard to any relevant representations and the principles set out in 
paragraph 2.2 of the Part A, policy statement above.  

 
 
 
18.9 This licensing authority may also initiate a review of a premises licence 

because a premises licence holder has not provided facilities for gambling at 
the premises. This is to prevent people from applying for licences in a 
speculative manner without intending to use them.  

 
18.10 Once we have completed the review will notify the following as soon as 

possible:  
a) the licence holder, 

Page 160



37  

b) the applicant for review (if any), 
c) the Gambling Commission, 
d) any person who made representations, 
e) the chief officer of police, and  
f) Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs. 

  

Page 161



38  

PART C - Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice 
 

1 Permits and Notices 
 
1.1 A permit or notice is required when premises provide a gambling facility, but 

either the stakes and prizes are very low, or gambling is not the main function 
of the premises. 

 
1.2 This licensing authority is responsible for issuing and receiving the following 

types of permits and notices:  
a) gaming machine permit  
b) prize gaming permit  
c) club gaming and club machine permit  
d) unlicensed family entertainment centre permit  
e) travelling fairs  
f) temporary use notice  
g) occasional use notice  

 
1.3 We have chosen not included specific details of the stakes and prizes for the 

various permits and have only provided minimal information regarding the 
numbers of permitted machines, because the government may change this 
information during the life of this Policy.  We advise readers to refer our 
website or the Gambling Commission’s website for up to date information. 

 
1.4 Permits and Notices often related to the Gaming Machines available for use in 

unlicensed premises under the 2005 act.  These Gaming Machines are 
commonly referred to as ‘fruit machines’ or ‘one arm bandits’ and fall into 
categories depending on the stake required to play them and the value of the 
maximum prize available. Generally,  

 

a) Category A machines have no limits on prizes or stakes, but would only be 
permitted at a regional casino.  

b) Category B machines can be provided in casinos, betting premises, bingo 
premises, adult gaming centres and private members clubs. These 
machines can give a much higher prize and there is a restriction on the 
number of machines allowed in those premises.  

c) Category C machines are the type most commonly found in pubs and have 
a maximum prize value that is significantly lower than category B.  

d) Category D machines are the type commonly found in amusement arcades 
and have lower value prizes and stakes.  These may also include “Crane 
Grab” machines.  Some of these are incorrectly labelled as “Skill Machine”.  
Machines fitted with a compensator, which allows it to be converted from a 
skill machine to a gaming machine, are classified as a gaming machine 
and need to be clearly marked as such. 

 
1.5 Further more detailed guidance on Permits and Notices is available on The 

Gambling Commissions website www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk.  
 

Page 162

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/


39  

1.6 It should be noted that a licensing authority can only grant or refuse a permit. It 
cannot attach conditions to permits. 

 

2. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Center (UFEC) Gaming Machine 
PermitsThese are premises, which do not hold a premises licence but wishes 

to provide gaming machines.   To provide gaming machines it must apply to 
this licensing authority for this permit.  A UFEC is likely to cater to families, 
including unaccompanied children and young persons and are likely to be 
arcade style premises.  The applicant must show that the premises will be 
wholly or mainly used for making gaming machines available for use. 

 
2.2 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities also states: “In 

their three year licensing policy statement, licensing authorities may include a 
statement of principles that they propose to apply when exercising their 
functions in considering applications for permit. Licensing authorities will want 
to give weight to child protection issues.”  In connection with this where 
premises are likely to appeal to children and young persons, this Licensing 
Authority in considering matters relating to protection of children from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling will where necessary consult Local 
Safeguarding Children Board. 

 
2.3 The licensing authority can only grant an application for a permit if the 

licensing authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed 
Family Entertainment Centers (UFEC), and if the chief officer of police has 
been consulted on the application.  

 
2.4 As per this Policy this licensing authority will expect the applicant to show that 

there are policies and procedures in place to protect children from harm. Harm 
in this context is not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child 
protection considerations. The efficiency of such policies and procedures will 
each be considered on their merits, however, they may include appropriate 
measures / training for staff as regards suspected truant school children on the 
premises, measures / training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised 
very young children being on the premises, or children causing perceived 
problems on / around the premises. Location will also be expected to be dealt 
with, and it is this licensing authority’s view that premises close to schools, 
playgrounds, or other educational establishments such as museums and 
places of worship should not normally be licensed.  As a result we will take 
location into account when considering and application for a permit for a UFEC 
premises. 
 

2.5 In line with Gambling Commission Guidance this licensing authority will 
take location into account when considering and application for a permit for 
a UFEC premises, and when determining such an application will have 
regard to our local area profile and consider whether:  

 
 

 
a) the applicant clearly understands the maximum stakes and prizes of the 

gambling that is permissible in unlicensed Family Entertainment Centers; 

Page 163



40  

b) the premises where gaming is proposed to be offered is not situated in the 
vicinity of areas that may overly attract young people, such as schools, 
after school care, parks or playgrounds, 

c) the applicant has any relevant convictions, 

d) that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes. 

e) the offering of gaming is in accordance with the licensing objectives. This 
may include whether offering gaming on the premises is likely to attract or 
perpetuate issues around crime and disorder in the area or issues around 
children and young people or the vulnerable, 

f) the police have raised any objections relevant to the licensing objectives.  

 
The above list is not exhaustive, but an indication of the types of issues that we 

may consider when we receive an application these permits.  
 

2.6 This Licensing Authority, as encouraged by the Gambling Commissions 
Guidance, requires that a plan for the unlicensed Family Entertainment Centers 
(UFEC) be submitted with the application for a permit. 

 
2 (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine  

 
Notifications 
 
3.1 There is provision in the 2005 Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for 

consumption on the premises under the Licensing Act 2003, to automatically 
entitlement to have 2 gaming machines of categories C or D. Full definitions of 
the Gaming Machine Categories can be found on the Gambling Commission’s 
website.  
 
Premises wishing to take advantage of this automatic entitlement need to give 
written notice to the licensing authority of their intention to make gaming 
machines available for use, and must pay the prescribed fee.  This notice must 
be from the person/organisation that holds the premises licence, and if the 
person/organisation ceases to be the holder of the relevant alcohol licence for 
the premises, the automatic entitlement to the two gaming machines also 
ceases. Restaurants or similar premises are excluded from having gaming 
machines where they have a condition requiring alcohol to be sold as 
ancillary to food. 

 
3.2 The licensing authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of 

any particular premises if: 

 
a) provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of 

the licensing objectives; 

b) gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of 
section 282 of the 2005 Act (e.g. for example the gaming machines have 
been made available in a way that does not comply with requirements on the 

Page 164



41  

location and operation of gaming; 

c) the premises are mainly used for gaming; or 

d) an offence under the 2005 Act has been committed on the premises. 

 

In this situation, we will give the licence holder at least 21 days’ notice of our 
intention to make remove this entitlement and consider any representations 
they may wish to make.  Where requested by the licence holder we will hold a 
hearing before we make a final determination.  

 

Permits 

 
3.3 If a premises wishes to exceed the automatic entitlement of two machines, 

they must apply to us for a permit for more than two machines.  This permit 
replaces the automatic entitlement to two machines and is not an addition to it. 
 

3.4 This licensing authority will consider such applications based upon the 
licensing objectives, the Gambling Commissions Guidance, and any other 
matters that we think relevant. 

 
3.5 We will decide each application on its own merits but generally: 

 

a) We may consider the size of premises and whether the numbers of 
machines applied for is appropriate in light of the licensing objectives and 
whether the premises is being “mainly used” for gambling. 

b) We shall have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling. We will expect the 
applicant to provide sufficient measures to ensure that persons under 18 
years of age do not have access to adult only gaming machines and that 
the permit holder can comply the Gambling Commission’s Codes of 
Practice. 

c) Whether there are any issues in the premises history relating to the 
gambling licensing objectives that the Licensing Authority should properly 
consider when deciding whether to grant a permit. 

 
3.6 This licensing authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a 

case by case basis but generally there will be an emphasis on the need to 
protect children and vulnerable persons from harmed or being exploited by 
gambling as detailed in paragraph 3.5 (b) above. Measures which will satisfy 
the authority in respect of this are that there will be no access to under 18s and 
may include the adult machines being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff 
that will monitor that the machines to ensure they are not being used by those 
under 18. Notices and signage may also be help. 

 
 

 
3.7 As regards the protection of vulnerable persons applicants may wish to 

consider the provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for 

Page 165



42  

organisations such as GamCare. 

 
3.8 It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises 

licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas. Any such application would most 
likely need to be applied for, and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre 
premises licence. 

 
3.9 The licensing authority can decide to grant the application with a smaller 

number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that applied 
for.   However we cannot attach any other conditions. 

 
3.10 The holder of a permit must comply with any Code of Practice issued by the 

Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the machine. 

 
4 Prize Gaming Permits 

 
4.1 Prize gaming takes place when the number of people playing does not 

determine the nature and size of the prize, or the amount paid for or raised by 
the gaming. The operator determines the prize before play commences. 

 
4.2 The licensing authority may “prepare a statement of principles that they 

propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Schedule” which “may, 
in particular, specify matters that the licensing authority proposes to consider 
in determining the suitability of the applicant for a permit”. 

 

4.3 In making its decision on an application for this permit the licensing authority 
does not need to have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard 
to any Gambling Commission Guidance. 

 
4.4 In line with Gambling Commission Guidance this licensing authority will 

take location into account when considering and application for a permit for 
Prize Gaming, and when determining such an application will have regard 
to our local area profile and consider whether:  

 

 the applicant clearly understands the limits to stakes and prizes that they 
propose to offer and the gaming is within the law, 

 the premises where gaming is proposed to be offered is not situated in the 
vicinity of areas that may overly attract young people, such as schools, 
after school care, parks or playgrounds, 

 the applicant has any relevant convictions, 

 that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes. 

  

Page 166



43  

 

 the offering of gaming is in accordance with the licensing objectives. This 
may include whether offering gaming on the premises is likely to attract or 
perpetuate issues around crime and disorder in the area or issues around 
children and young people or the vulnerable, 

 and if the chief officer of police has been consulted on the application.  

The above list is not exhaustive, but an indication of the types of issues that we 
may consider when we receive an application for a prize gaming permit.  

 
4.5 This Licensing Authority, as encouraged by the Gambling Commissions 

Guidance, require that a plan for the unlicensed Family Entertainment Centers 
(UFEC) be submitted with the amplification for a permit. 

 
4.6 Where premises are likely to appeal to children and young persons, this 

Licensing Authority in considering matters relating to protection of children 
from being harmed or exploited by gambling will where necessary consult 
Local Safeguarding Children Board. 

 
4.7 It should be noted that although the licensing authority cannot attach 

conditions, there are conditions in the 2005 which the permit holder must 
comply. These conditions are: 

 

 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied 
with; 

 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises 
on which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be 
played and completed on the day the chances are allocated; and the  result 
of the game must be made public in the premises on the day that it is 
played; 

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out 
in regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary 
prize); and 

 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any 
other gambling. 

 
5 Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 

 
5.1 As per the Gambling Commission Guidance, a Licensing Authority may grant 

or refuse the permit, but it cannot attach conditions to them.  Licensing 
Authorities must also inform the applicant, the Gambling Commission and the 
police of the outcome of the application for a permit and any objections 
made. 

 
5.2 Licensing Authorities may only refuse an application for a permit on the 

following grounds: 

 
i. the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or 

commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled 

Page 167



44  

to receive the type of permit for which it has applied; 

ii. the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or 
young persons; 

 

iii. an offence under the 2005 Act or a breach of a permit has been 
committed by the applicant while providing gaming facilities; 

iv. a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten 
years; or 

v. an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police. 

 
5.3 There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the 2005 Act for premises 

which hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 
(Schedule 12 paragraph 10). As the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for 
licensing authorities states: “Under the fast-track procedure there is no 
opportunity for objections to be made by the Gambling Commission or the 
police, and the ground upon which an authority can refuse a permit are 
reduced.” And “The grounds on which an application under the process may 
be refused are: 

 
i. that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming 

prescribed by regulations under section 266 of the 2005 Act; 

ii. in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for 
other gaming; 

iii. a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in 
the last ten years has been cancelled.” 

 
5.4 There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a 

category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with 
any relevant provision of a code of practice about the location and operation of 
gaming machines. 

 
5.5 For the most up to date information in regards to Club Gaming and Club 

Machine Permits please see the Gambling Commissions Website: 
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/home.aspx 

 

Club Gaming Permits 

 
5.6 Members Clubs and Miners’ welfare institutes (but not Commercial Clubs) 

may apply for a Club Gaming Permit  
 

5.7 Miners’ welfare clubs are associations established for recreational or social 
purposes. They are managed by representatives of miners or use premises 
regulated by a charitable trust, which has received fund from one or a number 
of mining organisations.  

  

Page 168

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/home.aspx


45  

 
5.8 A members clubs must:  

a) have at least 25 members, 

b) be established for, and conducted wholly or mainly for, purposes other than 
gaming (unless gaming is permitted by separate regulations), 

c) be permanent in nature, 

d) not established to make a profit; and  

e) controlled by its members equally.  
 

5.9 Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of Royal British Legion and 
clubs with political affiliations.” 
 

5.10 The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide a total maximum 
of three (3) gaming machines.  These may be from categories B3A, B4, C or 
D but only one B3A machine can be sited as part of this entitlement of The 
permit also allows equal chance gaming and games of chance, such as 
Pontoon. For detailed and up-to-date list of permissions, stakes and prizes 
please see the Gambling Commission’s website. 

 
5.11 A club gaming permit lasts for ten years unless it ceases to have effect 

because it is surrendered, cancelled or forfeited. 

 
Club Machine Permit 
 
5.12 Members clubs and miners’ welfare institutes may choose to apply for the club 

machine permit if they do not want to have the full gaming provided by a club 
gaming permit. In addition, commercial clubs may also apply for a club 
machine permit.  

 
5.13 Commercial clubs are members clubs established for profit, such as snooker 

clubs. 
 
5.14 A club machine permit allows a total maximum number of three (3) gaming 

machines.  These may be from categories B3A, B4, C or D but only one B3A 
machine can be sited as part of this entitlement.   

 

5.15 Before granting the permit the licensing authority will need to satisfy itself that 
the premises meet the requirements of a members’ club and may grant the 
permit if the majority of members are over 18 years of age 

 
5.16 A club machine permit lasts for ten years unless it ceases to have effect 

because it is surrendered, cancelled or forfeited.  
  

Page 169



46  

 
6 Temporary Use Notices (TUN) 

 
6.1 Temporary Use Notices (TUNs) allow the use of premises to be use for 

gambling where there is no premises licence but where a gambling operator 
wishes to use the premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. 
Premises that might be suitable for a TUN could include hotels, conference 
centres and sporting venues. Licensing Authorities can only grant a TUN to a 
person or company holding a relevant operating licence issued by the 
Gambling Commission.  

 
6.2 There are certain restrictions to the type of Gambling that a TUN can cover, 

these restrictions are: 

 
 it can only be used to offer gambling of a form authorised by the operator’s 

operating licence, this licensing authority will therefore give consideration 
as to whether the form of gambling being offered on the premises will be 
remote, non-remote, or both, and whether this is in compliance with the 
operating licence, 

 gambling under a TUN may only be made available on a maximum of 21 
days in any 12 month period for any or all of a named set of premises, 

 it can only be used to permit the provision of facilities for equal chance 
gaming, and where the gaming in each tournament is intended to produce 
a single overall winner, 

 gaming machines may not be made available under a TUN. 

 
6.3 In considering whether a place falls within the definition of "a set of premises", 

we will have regard to the Guidance and consider the individual facts on their 
merits but, amongst other things, we will have particular regard to the 
ownership, occupation and control of the premises.   

 
6.4 This licensing authority will object to a Temporary Use Notice (TUN) 

application if it appears that regular gambling is taking place in locations the 
could be described as one set of premises, as recommended by the Gambling 
Commission Guidance. 

 

6.5 Please note that cash games, which are games where each hand provides a 
winner, are not permitted under a TUN.  Furthermore a TUN cannot be 
granted for 21 days in respect of each of its exhibition halls. 
 

6.6 In respect of a vessel, TUN’s may be granted for a vessel but only if it is a 
passenger vessel or one that is situated in a fixed place.  The latter would 
include would include a structure on water that is not intended to be able to 
move (such as an oil rig, or an artificially constructed island in the middle of a 
lake. 

  

Page 170



47  

 
7 Occasional Use Notices 

 
7.1 An Occasional Use Notice permits betting on a sporting event or race at a 

track on eight days or fewer in a calendar year without the need for a full 
premises licence. It therefore allows temporary and infrequent events such as 
point-to-point racing to take place and for bets to be taken on the outcome.  

 
7.2 The licensing authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside 

from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not 
exceeded. This licensing authority will though consider the definition of a 
‘track’ and whether the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice, 
i.e. whether applicant is licensed as a betting operator and has appropriate 
permission form the Gambling Commission to use tracks for conducting 
betting.  

 
7.3 We will the also decide what constitutes a track, sporting event or race on a 

case-by-case basis. In doing so we will follow the Gambling Commission’s 
guidance in relation to tracks.  

  

Page 171



48  

PART D - Administration, Exercise and Delegation of 
Functions 

 
1 Administration and Exercise 

 
1.1 The Council will be involved in a wide range of licensing decisions and 

functions and has established a Licensing Committee to administer them. 

 
1.2 Appreciating the need to provide a speedy, efficient and cost-effective service 

to all parties involved in the licensing process, the Committee has delegated 
certain decisions and functions and has established a number of Sub-
Committees to deal with them. 

 
1.3 Further, with many of the decisions and functions being purely administrative 

in nature, the grant of non-contentious applications where no representations 
have been made has been delegated to Council Officers. All such matters 
dealt with by Officers will be reported for information and comment only to the 
next Committee meeting. The decisions cannot be reversed. 

 
1.4 The following Table sets out the agreed delegation of decisions and functions 

to Licensing Committee, Sub-Committees and Officers. 
 

1.5 This form of delegations is without prejudice to Officers referring an application 
to a Sub-Committee, or a Sub-Committee to Full Committee, if considered 
appropriate in the circumstances of any particular case. 

  

Page 172



49  

2 TABLE OF DELEGATIONS OF LICENSING FUNCTIONS 

 
MATTER TO BE DEALT WITH BY WHOM 

Three year licensing policy (responsibility shared with Cabinet) 

 
Policy to permit or not to permit casinos 

THE FULL 
COUNCIL 

Fee Setting-  (but when appropriate Corporate Director) 
Application - for a premises licence, variation of a premises 
licence, transfer of a premises licence, application for a provisional 
statement in connection with a premises, in all cases where 
representations have been received and not withdrawn. Review- of 
a premises licence. 

 
Application for, or cancellation of club gaming /club machine 
permits where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn 
Decision to give a counter notice to a temporary use notice 

CORPORATE 
DIRECTOR 
PLACE  
LICENSING 
COMMITTEE/ 
SUB- 
COMMITTEE 

For a premises licence, variation of a premises licence, transfer of 
a premises, application for a provisional statement in connection 
with a premises, in all cases where no representations have been 
received/ or representations have been withdrawn. 

 
Application for a club gaming machine/ club machine permit where 
no representations received/ representations have been 
withdrawn. 
Applications for other permits 

 
Cancellation of licensed premises gaming machine permits 
Consideration of temporary use notice 

OFFICERS 

 

  

Page 173



50  

Annexes 
 

Annex 1 Map of London Borough of Tower Hamlets showing where Gambling 

Premises Licences have been issued 
Annex 2 List of consultees.  
Annex 3 Results of Consultation (Including Responses where needed) 
Annex 4  Gambling Best Practice Guide  
Annex 5  Sample conditions 
Annex 6  Local area profiles 

Page 174



50  

Annex 1 

 

Page 175



51  

Annex 2 
 

List of consultees:  

Authorities/Bodies 

  The Gambling Commission  

 Metropolitan Police Service 

 HMRC 

 The London Fire Brigade 

 Mayor’s office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) 

 The Institute of Licensing (IoL) 

 Adult Care Service, London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

 Council of Mosques 

 NSPCC 

 Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group (THCCG), NHS 

 The Young Mayor, London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

 Planning and Building Control Service, London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

 Maritime and Coastguard Agency (MCGA) 

 The Environment Agency 

 The Canal and River Trust 

 Health and Safety, Environmental Health and Trading Standards Service 

 Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Trading Standards Service 

 Public Health Service, London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

 Child Protection, London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

 Environmental Health, Environmental Health and Trading Standards Service 

 Community Safety, London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

 

Gambling Operators/Businesses: 

 Carousel Amusements 

 Merkur Cashino 

 Gala Coral Group 

 Joe Jennings 

 William Hill 

 Paddy Power 

 Roar Betting 

 Tote Betting 

 Two Way Media 

Page 176



52  

 
Gambling Support Services 

 

 GamCare 

 Responsible Gambling Trust 

 
Businesses 

 

 All Gambling Premises Licence Holders (Gambling Act 2005) in the Borough 

 All Premises Licence Holders (Licensing Act 2005) that are permitted to sell/supply 
alcohol for consumption on the premises. 

 Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL) 

 
Licensing Committee Members 
 

 Councillor Zenith Rahman 

 Councillor Dan Tomlinson 

 Councillor Ehtasham Haque 

 Councillor Eve McQuillan 

 Councillor Faroque Mahfuz Ahmed 

 Councillor Leema Omar Qureshi 

 Councillor Puru Miah 

 Councillor Sabina Akhtar 

 Councillor Shad Uddin Chowdhury 

 Councillor Shah Suhel Ameen 

 Councillor Tarik Ahmed Khan 

 Councillor Victoria Ngozi Obaze 

 Councillor Mohammed Ahbab Hossain 

 Councillor Rajib Ahmed 

 Councillor Peter Golds 

 
Councillors 
 

 Members Bulletin 

  

Page 177



53  

Annex 3 
 

Responses to the Gambling Policy Consultation 2019 
 
Body or 
Organisation 

Summary of issues Response (where relevant) 

Gambling 
Commission 

 Advice to ensure that measure 
relating Protecting children from 
being harmed or exploited by 
gambling detailed in Unlicensed 
Family Entertainment Centre 
(UFEC) Gaming Machine Permits 
and Prize Gaming Permits mirror 
each other. 

 

The Policy was updated following the 
Consultation to take account of these 
comments. 

Met Police  Having liaised without licensing 
unit and based on the previous 
consultation there are no issues 
that are of concern from MPS on 
Central East BCU. 

No response required 

London Fire 
Brigade (LFB) 

 Asked to amend their name from 
London Fire and Emergency 
Planning Authority (LFEPA) to 
London Fire Brigade (LFB) in the 
Policy and the list of Responsible 
Authorities. 

Policy or associated documents 
updated as per this information 
where needed. 

HMRC  Asked to update their contact 
information in the Police and List 
of Responsible Authorities to: 
 
Postal Address: 
HM Revenue and Customs 
Excise Processing Teams 
BX9 1GL 
United Kingdom 
 
Contact telephone number is now 
0300 322 7072 Option 7. 
 
Email address remain the same, 
NRUBetting&Gaming@hmrc.gsi.g
ov.uk 

Policy or associated documents 
updated as per this information 
where needed. 

Public Health Public Health support for the draft 
policy 
 
Public health is fully supportive of the 
draft policy for the following reasons:  

 This policy addresses an issue of 
local public health importance and 
inequalities in Tower Hamlets.  

 

 This policy is in line with the 
strategic priorities for us as a 
council (Tower Hamlets 
Community Plan), our partners 

In response to recommendation 1) 
the following has been added to 
Location and Local Risk 
Assessments Part B, section 12 of 
the policy as para 12.11 
 
“To assist operators, Annex 6 sets 
out the Council’s Gambling Local 
Area Profiles criteria.  In connection 
with this the Council recognises the 
Gambling Commissions National 
Strategy to Reduce Gambling 
Harms, and supports the two 
strategy aims: 

Page 178

mailto:NRUBetting&Gaming@hmrc.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:NRUBetting&Gaming@hmrc.gsi.gov.uk


54  

(Tower Hamlets Together - Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy) and 
based on evidence of poor health 
and social outcomes within our 
Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment.  

 This policy draws on national and 
international evidence and best 
practice.  

 Public health supports Section 
15.8-15.21 of this policy outlining 
the considerations the Authority 
will go through in determining 
gambling premises licenses and 
Section 15.19 including the 
promotion of industry good 
practice when supporting 
vulnerable persons. 

 Public health supports section 
14.10 in which the council will 
request that operators / premises 
share information about numbers 
of self-excluded gamblers to help it 
develop its understanding about 
the risk of problem gambling in its 
area.  

 Public health supports section 
6.16; inclusion of staff training 
around brief interventions for 
identifying vulnerable persons and 
problem gamblers operators risk 
assessments. As well as section 
provision of signage and 
documents games rules, gambling 
care providers and other relevant 
information in both English and the 
other prominent first language for 
that locality.  

 
Public Health recommendations  
 
Further to the provisions in this policy 
it is suggested that LBTH works with 
local operators to follow best practice. 
Examples would include:  
 
 

1) Adoption of the definition of 
gambling related harms as 
suggested by the Responsible 
Strategy Gambling Board: “The 
adverse impacts from gambling on 
the health and wellbeing of 
individuals, families, communities 

 
• Prevention and Education – 
making significant progress towards 
a clear public health prevention plan 
which includes the right mix of 
interventions. 
 
• Treatment and Support – 
delivering truly national treatment 
and support options that meet the 
needs of users. 
 
The full Strategy can be viewed here: 
http://www.reducinggamblingharms.o
rg/ 
 
Licence holders and Operators 
should have regard to this Strategy 
when undertaking their local risk 
assessment.” 
 
Recommendation 2) is a statutory 
requirement under the Health and 
Safety at Work Etc. Act 1974 and 
Regulations made under it namely 
the Management of Health and 
Safety at Work Regulations 1999.  
 
Recommendation 3): 
These are already contained in 
various sections of the Policy and/or 
the Gambling Best Practice 
Guidance attached to the Policy. 
 

Recommendation 4): 
These are contained in various areas 
within the Policy and the Best 
Practice Guide attached to the policy.  
Though these all these items can 
and often have an impact on or 
exacerbate gambling related harm, it 
would be difficult to justify adding 
conditions or requirements in the 
policy to require leaflets that are 
directly linked Gambling.  As such we 
cannot add requirements for 
premises to provide healthy lifestyle 
information other than Gambling 
Support Leaflets. 
 
Recommendation 5): 
The Gambling Commission’s 
National Strategy to Reduce 
Gambling Harms looks into this and 
we have said that Operators should 
consider this when completing their 
Local Risk Assessments.  To 

Page 179

http://www.reducinggamblingharms.org/
http://www.reducinggamblingharms.org/


55  

and societies”. These harms affect 
resources, relationships and 
health. The impact from them may 
be short-lived but can be durable, 
having enduring consequences 
and exacerbating existing 
inequalities. 

2) Protection of staff and lone 
working are addressed within the 
operators risk assessment. 

3) All operators are encouraged and 
supported with materials where 
applicable to provide suggestions 
outlined in section 10.1; such as:  
o Leaflets aimed at giving 

assistance to problem 
gamblers clearly displayed in 
prominent areas and also more 
discreet areas such as toilets  

o Self-exclusion forms available  
o The odds clearly displayed on 

all fixed odds machines  
o All ATM or other cash 

terminals to be separate from 
gaming machines, so that 
clients have to leave the 
machines for more funds as 
required. They should also 
display stickers with GamCare 
(or replacement organisation)  

o Helpline information 
prominently displayed 

o There must be clear visible 
signs of any age restrictions in 
any gaming or betting 
establishments. Entrances to 
gambling and betting areas 
must be well supervised and 
age verification vetting 
operated  

o Posters with details of 
GamCare’s (or replacement 
organisation) telephone 
number and website 

 
 
 

4) Operators should provide healthy 
lifestyle information in their 
premises e.g. leaflets regarding 
alcohol consumption and local 
smoking cessation services and 
local support for mental health 
problems and debt advice.  

5) Development of Gambling Related 

creation of a Vulnerability Local 
Index is not within the scope of this 
Policy and would be something that 
Public Health may want to look into 
as additional guidance that could 
compliment this policy but not be part 
of it. 
 
Recommendation 6): 
Advertisements are required to be 
restricted in regards to children and 
we will follow the Gambling 
Commissions guidance on adverts 
within premises. 
 
Recommendation 7): 
This would be difficult to do as the 
Operators have their own self 
exclusion policy that crosses 
borough boundaries etc. and 
therefore would be more effective 
than a borough as these, though you 
have to opt in to each Operators are 
national.  It would be better for PHE 
to speak to the Gambling 
Commission about Operators sharing 
their policies or in them creating a 
national one as this would be more 
effective. 
 
Recommendation 8): 
This is not within the scope of this 
policy and should be a conversation 
between Asset Management and 
Public has as they have indicated. 
 
Recommendation 9): 
We actively encourage this and have 
liaised with Public Health in 
connection with this and previous 
policies. 

Page 180



56  

Harm: Vulnerable Locality Index. 

6) Operators should reduce 
advertising at least in line with the 
Senet Group's set of 
Commitments  

7) A Borough wide self-exclusion 
policy across all premises licensed 
for gambling. 

8) Public Health are seeking 
clarification that gambling is not 
promoted on LBTH owned assets 
and estates. 

9) Finally, since gambling is 
increasingly recognised as 
involving public health concerns, 
the Authority should continue to 
work with Public Health to foster 
close working relationships over 
the life course of this policy to 
ensure that the health of Tower 
Hamlets residents is promoted 
within the context of licensed 
gambling establishments. 

 

GamCare GamCare explained that they are not 
able to review all Policy Reviews sent 
to them by Local Authorities but gave 
a generic response that they send to 
all Local Authorities when consulted 
on revisions to Statements of 
Gambling Policies. 
 
Response Below:  
 

 A helpful first step is to develop a 
risk map of your local area so that 
you are aware of both potential 
and actual risks around gambling 
venues. A useful explanation of 
area-based risk-mapping has been 
developed with Westminster and 
Manchester City Councils, which 
gives some guidance on those 
who may be most vulnerable or at-
risk of gambling-related harm. For 
more information please see 
www.geofutures.com/research-
2/gambling-related-harm-how-
local-space-shapes-our-
understanding-of-risk/ 
  

 Consider that proposals for new 
gambling premises which are near 
hostels or other accommodation or 
centres catering for vulnerable 

In reviewing the policy post 
consultation all of these items have 
been covered and there were no 
need for a further revisions save for 
the addition of the following 
paragraph at the end of the section 
on Vulnerable People, section 15 
Part A: 
“This Licensing Authority encourages 
operators to consider participation in 
voluntary best practice or certification 
schemes, such as GamCare’s Safer 
Gambling Standard to assist in their 
promotion of the objective of 
Protecting children and other 
vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling.” 

Page 181

http://www.geofutures.com/research-2/gambling-related-harm-how-local-space-shapes-our-understanding-of-risk/
http://www.geofutures.com/research-2/gambling-related-harm-how-local-space-shapes-our-understanding-of-risk/
http://www.geofutures.com/research-2/gambling-related-harm-how-local-space-shapes-our-understanding-of-risk/
http://www.geofutures.com/research-2/gambling-related-harm-how-local-space-shapes-our-understanding-of-risk/


57  

people, including those with 
learning difficulties, and those with 
gambling / alcohol / drug abuse 
problems, as likely to adversely 
affect the licensing objectives set 
out by the Gambling Commission. 
This is also relevant regarding the 
proximity to schools, colleges and 
universities. 

 

 A detailed local risk assessment at 
each gambling venue – pertinent 
to the environment immediately 
surrounding the premises as well 
as the wider local area – is a good 
way to gauge whether the operator 
and staff teams are fully aware of 
the challenges present in the local 
area and can help reassure the 
Local Licensing Authority that 
appropriate mitigations are in 
place. 

 

 Does the operator have a specific 
training programme for staff to 
ensure that they are able to 
identify children and other 
vulnerable people, and take 
appropriate action to ensure they 
are not able to access the 
premises or are supported 
appropriately? 

  

 Does the operator ensure that 
there is an adequate number of 
staff and managers are on the 
premises at key points throughout 
the day? This may be particularly 
relevant for premises situated 
nearby schools / colleges / 
universities, and/or pubs, bars and 
clubs. 

 

 Consider whether the layout, 
lighting and fitting out of the 
premises have been designed so 
as not to attract children and other 
vulnerable persons who might be 
harmed or exploited by gambling.  

 

 Consider whether any promotional 
material associated with the 
premises could encourage the use 
of the premises by children or 
young people if they are not legally 
allowed to do so. 

 

Page 182



58  

They also suggested that the Local 
Licensing Authority primarily consider 
applications from GamCare Certified 
operators. GamCare Certification 
(now being replaced by our Safer 
Gambling Standard) is a voluntary 
process comprising an independent 
audit assessment of an operator’s 
player protection measures and social 
responsibility standards, policy and 
practice. Standards are measured in 
accordance with the GamCare Player 
Protection Code of Practice. 
 

William Hill Two responses first updating their 
contact details and the second was a 
comment on the policy, as below. 
 
They commented on the below 
paragraph being too onerous for them 
to comply with and would create an 
unacceptable amount of work.  
Furthermore as Operators provide 
information on the areas detailed in 
the paragraph on a regular basis to 
the Gambling Commission, which is 
the agreed process for sharing this 
information they suggested that if the 
Gambling Commission have any 
concerns when assessing the data 
provided, they would discuss this with 
the Operator to seek improvement.  
Hence individual contact with each 
Authority is therefore unnecessary.  
 
“To assist the targeting of the 
Council’s enforcement activity the 
Council will request that operators / 
premises share:- 

 Test purchasing results (subject to 
the terms of primary authority 
agreements); 

 incidents in premises, which 
managers are likely to be required 
to report to head office; 

 information about numbers of self-
excluded gamblers to help it 
develop its understanding about 
the risk of problem gambling in its 
area. 

 
This information will help the Council 
to get a clearer picture of which 
premises may be experiencing issues, 
meaning that the inspection and 
enforcement activity is appropriately 
structured, and targeted.” 

This paragraph was amended to the 
below, and William will responded 
that they were satisfied with this 
change. 
 
“During visits/inspections the Council 
may request that operators / 
premises share:- 
 

 Local area risk assessments 
 

This information will help the Council 
to get a clearer picture of which 
premises may be experiencing 
issues, meaning that the inspection 
and enforcement activity is 
appropriately structured, and 
targeted.  In some circumstances and 
where proportionate to do so the 
Council may also request premises 
share: 

 test purchasing results (subject to 
the terms of primary authority 
agreements) ; 

 incidents in premises, which 
managers are likely to be 
required to report to head office; 

 information about numbers of 
self-excluded gamblers to help it 
develop its understanding about 
the risk of problem gambling in its 
area. 

 

Such request to share such data will 
be in consultation with the Operators, 
and the Gambling Commission.”  
 

Page 183



59  

 
They requested that this section be 
amended to remove this requirement, 
in line with the approach all other 
Local Authorities take, and sighted 
would avoid a situation which would 
be over-burdensome and against 
better regulation principles that we 
make mention of in the policy. 
 
They commented that if we were to 
have any particular concerns about 
individual premises, they would not 
have any issues with receiving 
requests for information on an 
individual shop basis, as required.  
 

Paddy Power 
(Represented 
by Poppleston 
Allen 
Solicitors) 

They had similar concerns to William 
Hill as per the above. 
 
In essence they said that a statement 
of Gambling Policy cannot place an 
obligation upon a licence 
holder.  Such an obligation can only 
be enforced by way of a premises 
licence condition, which must be a 
reasonable and proportionate 
response to evidence based concerns 
that are not addressed by a licensee’s 
operation and existing policies and 
procedures.  
  
They were concerned that they would 
be a potential for disparity between 
those operators who do not report the 
listed information and those that do 
and that any inconsistency in the data 
received would provide for an 
incorrect assessment of the industry’s 
age verification procedures and any 
potential local risks or concerns 
identified within the Authority’s 
jurisdiction. 
  
They also sighted the Licence 
Conditions and Codes of Practice 
(LCCP) and the mandatory obligations 
upon licence holders in respect of the 
implementation of test purchasing 
practices and associated reporting 
requirements. 
  
They advised that the Regulators’ 
Code provides that when the law 
allows, regulators should agree 
secure mechanisms to share 
information with each other about 

This paragraph was amended to the 
below, and Paddy Power via 
Poppleston Allen was advised of the 
amendment. 
 
“During visits/inspections the Council 
may request that operators / 
premises share:- 
 

 Local area risk assessments 
 

This information will help the Council 
to get a clearer picture of which 
premises may be experiencing 
issues, meaning that the inspection 
and enforcement activity is 
appropriately structured, and 
targeted.  In some circumstances and 
where proportionate to do so the 
Council may also request premises 
share: 

 test purchasing results (subject to 
the terms of primary authority 
agreements) ; 

 incidents in premises, which 
managers are likely to be 
required to report to head office; 

 information about numbers of 
self-excluded gamblers to help it 
develop its understanding about 
the risk of problem gambling in its 
area. 

 

Such request to share such data will 
be in consultation with the Operators, 
and the Gambling Commission.”  
 

Page 184



60  

bodies they regulate to minimise 
duplication.  Further that Operators 
are obliged to share information with 
the Gambling Commission through the 
submission of Regulatory Returns and 
that information is disseminated 
through its own annual reports. 
  
In short they suggest that the below 
paragraph be amended to reflect the 
legal requirements and obligations 
provided by the Gambling Act 2005 
and subordinate legislation.  
 
“To assist the targeting of the 
Council’s enforcement activity the 
Council will request that operators / 
premises share:- 

 Test purchasing results (subject to 
the terms of primary authority 
agreements); 

 incidents in premises, which 
managers are likely to be required 
to report to head office; 

 information about numbers of self-
excluded gamblers to help it 
develop its understanding about 
the risk of problem gambling in its 
area. 

 
This information will help the Council 
to get a clearer picture of which 
premises may be experiencing issues, 
meaning that the inspection and 
enforcement activity is appropriately 
structured, and targeted.” 
 

Canal and 
River Trust 

Response to update their contact 
email address to the below: 
 
enquiries.londonsoutheast@canalriver
trust.org.uk 
 

No response required 

St Johns 
Community 
Association 
Social Club, 
37-43 Glengall 
Grove 

London 
E14 3NE 

They advised they no longer have 
Fruit Machine (Gaming Machines), 
and haven’t had them for 15 year as 
they have lots of children who use the 
Club. 

No response required 

Resident 
(online 
Response) 

Comment: 
 
Not to have too many gambling shops 
especially when high percentage of 

We will work within the confines of 
the Gambling Act 2005, Gambling 
Commission Guidance and this 
Policy in regards to reducing 

Page 185

mailto:enquiries.londonsoutheast@canalrivertrust.org.uk
mailto:enquiries.londonsoutheast@canalrivertrust.org.uk


61  

residents are on low income, those 
who are on long income often rely on 
betting shop to invest/generate more 
money and often end up losing all 
money and then fall into a cycle of 
crimes. 
 
Please work on closing some of them 
and stop illegal gambling totally. 
 
This resident also stated that they do 
think there is a problem with illegal 
gambling in the borough and that they 
also had concerns about illegal. 

Gambling Related harms.  
Furthermore this revision of this 
policy defines children and 
vulnerable persons, and contains 
more in relation to guidance and our 
approach to tackle Gambling Related 
Harms in line with National Guidance 
and the 2005 Act. 
 
The 2005 Act grants the power to 
Review Premises Licence or object 
to new Licences where there is 
evidence that Gambling Premises 
Licences are in breach of the 2005 
Act, their Licence or are or likely to 
undermining one or more of the 
Gambling Objectives.  Where this 
Licensing has such evidence we will 
take appropriate and proportionate 
action in response that may involve 
reviewing/objecting to Premises 
Licences issued by us. 
 
With regards to illegal Gambling we 
investigate all complaint/reports of 
illegal gambling and currently have a 
case with our Legal Department for 
consideration for prosecution in 
relation to illegal gambling. 
 

Resident 
(online 
Response) 

Comment: 
 
“I think there are too many licenses 
issued to high street gambling shops 
in tower hamlets. We should have a 
restriction to the number of betting 
shops in the high street.” 
 
This resident did not know if there is a 
problem with illegal gambling in the 
borough and did not have concerns 
about illegal. 

The Gambling Act 2005 does not 
give the legal power to restrict 
Gambling Premises in a Licensing 
Authorities Area.   
 
This Licensing Authority will however 
ensure that premises that undermine 
the Gambling Objectives investigated 
and where appropriate their licences 
refused/revoked.  It is our opinion 
that this policy takes a better more 
proactive stance towards tackling 
Gambling Related and Protection of 
Children and Vulnerable from being 
harmed by Gambling 

 
 

Page 186



62  

Annex 4: Gambling Best Practice Guide 

 
We expect all Gambling premises in the Borough to carry out the measures listed 
in this Best Practice Guide along with the measures detailed in the main Policy. 
 
This guide is about businesses that promote gambling have the responsibility in 
protecting the vulnerable that may be exposed by their activities. 

 

 All premises to hold and maintain a log of incidences and the handling of 
problem gambling that occur in the premises. This information should be 
shared with Licensing Officers on request. Relevant data that should be 
held include the date and a short description of the intervention in relation 
to voluntary/mandatory exclusions and whether individuals have tried to 
gain entry, attempts of those that are underage to gain entry whether with 
an adult or not. Any incident requiring an intervention from staff 

 

 Staff should be aware on how to tackle irresponsible gambling and have 
sufficient knowledge on how to promote responsible gambling. Be able to 
signpost customers to support services with respect to problem gambling, 
financial management and debt advice. Leaflets on how to identify problem 
gambling should available for customers in the premises. 

 

 Staff should be aware of the importance of social responsibility, the causes 
and consequences of problem gambling, intervention with vulnerable 
persons, dealing with the exclusion of problem gamblers and escalating 
them for advice or treatment. 

 

 Staff should be aware of refusing customers entry due to alcohol or drugs, 
age verification processes, identifying forged ID, the importance of time and 
spend limits 

 

 Staff to be familiar with the offences under the Gambling Act, the categories 
of gaming machines, the stakes and odds associated with each machine. 

 

 Staff should also be aware of not encouraging customers to increase the 
amount or time they gamble, re-gamble winnings and chase losses. 

 
 Staff to be excluded from gambling at the premises where they are 

employed and the premises to have a ‘no tipping’ rule. 
 

 Applicants may wish to seek support with their applications from the Crime 
Reduction Officer and GamCare with a view to obtaining a certificate of 
Social Responsibility. 

 

 Where Fixed Odds Betting Terminals are installed within the premises they 
should be positioned in direct sight of a supervised counter. 

 

 

Page 187



63  

Annex 5: Sample of premises licence conditions   
 

This Annex, reproduced from the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities, provides a sample of conditions that have been attached to premises 
licences by licensing authorities, with some amended for illustrative purposes. 
These are not blanket conditions but have been imposed in a number of 
circumstances to address evidence based concerns. Part 9 of the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities provides further details on the 
principles licensing authorities should apply when exercising their discretion to 
impose premises licence conditions. 

 
The conditions listed below have been grouped under specific headings for ease of 
reference. There will inevitably be some overlap between those conditions that 
address different concerns, for example those related to security and to anti-social 
behaviour. 

 
1. Security 
 

1.1 No pre-planned single staffing after 8pm and, when this is unavoidable, for a 
Maglock to be in constant use. 

1.2 A minimum of two members of staff after 10pm. 

1.3 A minimum of two members of staff will be on duty throughout the whole 
day. 

1.4 The premises will have an intruder alarm and panic button. 

1.5 Maglock systems are employed and access is controlled. 

1.6 Requirements for full-height security screens to be installed. 

1.7 A requirement for 50% of the shop frontage to be clear of advertising so that 
staff have a clear view and can monitor the exterior of the premises. 

1.8 The premise shall maintain a ‘safe haven’ to the rear of the counter. 

1.9 The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system as 
per the minimum requirements of a Metropolitan Police Crime Prevention 
Officer. All entry and exit points will be covered enabling frontal identification 
of every person entering in any light condition. The CCTV system shall 
continually record whilst the premises is open for licensable activities and 
during all times when customers remain on the premises. All recordings 
shall be stored for a minimum period of 31 days with date and time 
stamping. Recordings shall be made available immediately upon the request 
of Police or an authorised officer throughout the preceding 31-day period. 

1.10 A member of staff from the premises who is conversant with the operation of 
the CCTV system shall be on the premises at all times when the premises 
are open to the public. This member of staff must be able  to show a member 
of the police or authorised council officer recent data or footage with the 
absolute minimum of delay when requested. 

1.11   A monitor shall be placed inside the premises above the front door showing 
CCTV images of customers entering the premises. 

Page 188



64  

 

1.12 If at any time (whether before or after the opening of the premises), the 
police or licensing authority supply to the premises names and/or 
photographs of individuals which it wishes to be banned from the premises, 
the licensee shall use all reasonable endeavours to implement the ban 
through staff training. 

 
2. Anti-social behaviour   
 

2.1 The Licensee shall develop and agree a protocol with the police as to incident 
reporting, including the type and level of incident and mode of communication, 
so as to enable the police to monitor any issues arising at or in relation to the 
premises. 

2.2 The Licensee shall take all reasonable steps to prevent street drinking of 
alcohol directly outside the premises and to ban from the premises those who 
do so. 

2.3 The Licensee shall place a notice visible from the exterior of the premises 
stating that drinking alcohol outside the premises is forbidden and that those 
who do so will be banned from the premises. 

2.4 Notices indicating that CCTV is in use at the premises shall be placed at or 
near the entrance to the premises and within the premises. 

2.5 The Licensee shall place and maintain a sign at the entrance which states 
that ‘only drinks purchased on the premises may be consumed on the 
premises’. 

2.6 The Licensee shall implement a policy of banning any customers who engage 
in crime or disorder within or outside the premises. 

2.7 The Licensee shall install and maintain an ultraviolet lighting system in the 
customer toilet. 

2.8 The Licensee shall install and maintain a magnetic door locking system for the 
customer toilet operated by staff from behind the counter. 

2.9 Prior to opening the Licensee shall meet with the Crime Prevention Officer in 
order to discuss any additional measures to reduce crime and disorder. 

 
3. Underage controls   
 

3.1 The Licensee shall maintain a bound and paginated ‘Think 21 Refusals’ 
register at the premises. The register shall be produced to the police or 
licensing authority forthwith on request. 

3.2 Customers under 21 will have to provide ID. 

3.3 The premises will operate a ‘challenge 25’ policy and prominent signage and 
notices will be displayed showing the operation of such policy 

3.4 Compulsory third party test purchasing on a twice yearly external system and 
the results to be reported to the Local Authority and police. In the  first twelve 
months (from the date of the Review) two additional internal test purchase 
operations to be carried out. 

Page 189



65  

3.5 A physical barrier (ie a supermarket metal type or similar) acceptable to the 
licensing authority, and operated in conjunction with the existing monitored 
alert system, to be put in place within 3 months from the date of the review. 

3.6 No machines in the Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre to be sited 
within one meter of the Adult Gaming Centre entrance. 

 

4. Player protection controls   
 

4.1 Prominent GamCare documentation will be displayed at the premises. 

4.2 There shall be no cash point or ATM facilities on the premises. 

4.3 The Licensee shall train staff on specific issues related to the local area and 
shall conduct periodic refresher training. Participation in the training shall be 
formally recorded and the records produced to the police or licensing 
authority upon request. 

4.4 New and seasonal staff must attend induction training. All existing staff must 
attend refresher training every six months. 

4.5 All notices regarding gambling advice or support information within the 
vicinity of XXX must be translated into both simplified and local languages. 

4.6 Infra Red Beam to be positioned across the entrance to the premises. To be 
utilised whenever: 

(a) The first member of staff is not positioned within the Cash Box or, 
(b) The second member of staff is not on patrol 

  

Page 190



66  

Annex 6 
Local Area Profiles 

 

The aim of local area profiles is to build up a picture of the locality, and in particular 
the elements of it that could be impacted by gambling premises. 

 
The Council publishes Borough and Area profiles – ward profiles on its website at 
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/community_and_living/borough_statistics/Bor
ough_profile.aspx 

 

Some publically available sources of information to assist in operators completing a 
Local Area Profile include: 

 

a) Crime Mapping websites 
b) Ward profiles 
c) Websites or publications by local responsible authorities 
d) Websites or publications by local voluntary schemes and initiatives 
e) On-line mapping tools 

 
The Council will expect applicants for grant of new or variation to existing licences 
to include full details of their risk assessment in compliance with Social 
Responsibility (SR code) 10.11 and Ordinary code provisions 10.1.2 (both effective 
from 6

th
 April 2016). 

Page 191

https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/community_and_living/borough_statistics/Borough_profile.aspx
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/community_and_living/borough_statistics/Borough_profile.aspx


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Five 
 

EQUALITY ANALYSIS QUALITY ASSURANCE CHECKLIST  
 

Name of ‘proposal’ and how has it been implemented 
(proposal can be a policy, service, function, strategy, project, 
procedure, restructure/savings proposal) 
 

Gambling Policy 2019 Review 

Directorate / Service 
 

Place/Public Realm 

Lead Officer 
 

David Tolley, Head of Environmental Health and Trading 
Standards 

Signed Off By (inc date) 
 

 

Summary – to be completed at the end of completing 
the QA (using Appendix A) 
(Please provide a summary of the findings of the Quality 
Assurance checklist. What has happened as a result of 
the QA? For example, based on the QA a Full EA will be 
undertaken or, based on the QA a Full EA will not be 
undertaken as due regard to the nine protected groups is 
embedded in the proposal and the proposal has low 
relevance to equalities) 
 

 
              Proceed with implementation 
 
 
As a result of performing the QA checklist, the policy does not 
appear to have any adverse effects on people who share 
Protected Characteristics and no further actions are 
recommended at this stage. 

 
    

 
Stage 

 

 
Checklist Area / Question 

Yes / 
No / 

Unsure 

Comment (If the answer is no/unsure, please ask 
the question to the SPP Service Manager or 
nominated equality lead to clarify)  

1 Overview of Proposal 
a Are the outcomes of the proposals clear? Yes The decision making body is recommended to: 

P
age 193



  

 Agree the proposed Gambling Policy  

 Note that the ‘no casino’ resolution remain within the 
Gambling Policy. 

 
All local authorities have to review and adopt a gambling 
policy every three years which defines how they will 
administer and exercise their responsibilities under the 
Gambling Act 2005.  
 
The Gambling Policy is prescribed by the central government 
and the Gambling Commission.  The policy is compatible with 
this advice and guidance.   
 
Some of the major issues and concerns about gambling, 
including gambling addiction, are not addressed in the policy. 
Also, noise nuisance is not a licensing objective.  Any issues 
relating to noise and nuisance will be dealt with by the 
Council’s noise team.  
 

b 

Is it clear who will be or is likely to be affected by what 
is being proposed (inc service users and staff)? Is 
there information about the equality profile of those 
affected?  

Yes The Gambling Policy states how the Licensing Authority will 
exercise its authority.  This policy covers the following: 
 

 How the Licensing Authority will use its regulatory 
powers in relation to applications and reviews of the 
activities it regulates, to the extent it is allowed by 
statute.  

 The main licensing objective for the authority is 
protecting children, preventing crime and disorder and 
ensuring gambling is fair and open. 

 The Licensing Authority approach to regulation 

 The scheme of delegation 
 
The licencing objectives remain including protecting children 
and the vulnerable, including ‘people may not be able to 

P
age 194



make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to 
a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.’ 
 
The business operators will be requested to undertake local 
risk assessments in relation to their premises.  It is expected 
that the local risk assessment will consider various issues 
including exposure to vulnerable groups, type of footfall (e.g. 
children, families), education facilities and homelessness/ 
rough sleeper hostels. The local risk assessment is also 
expected to identify how these risks will be mitigated and 
monitored. 
 

2 Monitoring / Collecting Evidence / Data and Consultation 

a 

Is there reliable qualitative and quantitative data to 
support claims made about impacts? 

Yes The Gambling Policy is prescribed by the central government 
and the Gambling Commission.  The policy is compatible with 
this advice and guidance.   
 

 

Is there sufficient evidence of local/regional/national 
research that can inform the analysis? 

Yes Gambling premises will undertake a risk assessment taking 
into consideration their local information.  
 
The gambling policy is compatible with this advice and 
guidance by the central government and the Gambling 
Commission.   

b 

Has a reasonable attempt been made to ensure 
relevant knowledge and expertise (people, teams and 
partners) have been involved in the analysis? 

Yes As above.  Also, a statutory consultation process commenced 
on 4 April 2019 and continued for three months, until 27 June 
2019. The draft policy has also been consulted by the 
Licensing Committee on 12th September 2019 and the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 23rd September 2019. 
The comments received have been analysed and 
incorporated into the policy where necessary. 

c 
Is there clear evidence of consultation with 
stakeholders and users from groups affected by the 
proposal? 

Yes A statutory consultation process commenced on 4 April 2019 
and continued for three months, until 27 June 2019. 

3 Assessing Impact and Analysis 
a Are there clear links between the sources of evidence Yes The gambling policy is compatible with this advice and 

P
age 195



(information, data etc) and the interpretation of impact 
amongst the nine protected characteristics? 

guidance by the central government and the Gambling 
Commission.   
 
The licencing objectives include protecting children and the 
vulnerable, including ‘people may not be able to make 
informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to a 
mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.’ 

b 
Is there a clear understanding of the way in which 
proposals applied in the same way can have unequal 
impact on different groups? 

N/A  

4 Mitigation and Improvement Action Plan 

a 

Is there an agreed action plan? 
 

Yes The policy will be agreed by the full Council.  
 
All local authorities have to review and adopt a gambling 
policy every three years which defines how they will 
administer and exercise their responsibilities under the 
Gambling Act 2005.  

b 
Have alternative options been explored 
 

Yes The Gambling Policy is prescribed by the central government 
and the Gambling Commission.   

5 Quality Assurance and Monitoring 

a 

Are there arrangements in place to review or audit the 
implementation of the proposal? 

Yes All local authorities have to review and adopt a gambling 
policy every three years which defines how they will 
administer and exercise their responsibilities under the 
Gambling Act 2005.  

b 

Is it clear how the progress will be monitored to track 
impact across the protected characteristics? 

Yes The policy includes a number of measures to prevent children 
from taking part in gambling and restriction of advertising so 
that gambling products are not aimed at or are attractive to 
children. 
 
The licensing authority will consider whether specific 
measures are required at particular premises, with regard to 
this licensing objective. Appropriate measures may include 
supervision of entrances/ machines, segregation of areas.  
 
The policy also states that local risk assessment may include 

P
age 196



arrangements for monitoring and dealing with under age 
persons and vulnerable persons.   

6 Reporting Outcomes and Action Plan 

a 
Does the executive summary contain sufficient 
information on the key findings arising from the 
assessment? 

Yes  

Equality Assessment Criteria  
 

Decision Action Risk 

As a result of performing the QA 
checklist, it is evident that due 
regard is not evidenced in the 
proposal and / or 
a risk of discrimination exists 
(direct, indirect, unintentional or 
otherwise) to one or more of the 
nine groups of people who share 
Protected Characteristics. It is 
recommended that the proposal 
be suspended until further work 
or analysis is performed – via a 
the Full Equality Analysis 
template 

Suspend – 
Further Work 
Required 

Red 

 

As a result of performing the QA 
checklist, the policy, project or 
function does not appear to have 
any adverse effects on people 
who share Protected 
Characteristics and no further 
actions are recommended at this 
stage.  

Proceed with 
implementation 

Green: 

P
age 197



 

P
age 198


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST
	5 FORTHCOMING DECISIONS
	6.3 Gambling policy post consultation
	Appendix 1 - List of Consultees (Gambling Policy Review 2019)
	Appendix 2 - Proposed Table of Changes to Statement of Gambling Policy.19
	Appendix 3 - Table of Consultation Responses (Gambling Policy Review 2019)
	Appendix 4 - Statement.Gambling.Policy.2019-2022formattedv1
	Appendix 5 EQIA Checklist Gambling Policy 2019


